Contents lists available at SciVerse ScienceDirect

Tectonophysics

journal homepage: www.elsevier.com/locate/tecto

Review Article

Building the Zagros collisional orogen: Timing, strain distribution and the dynamics of Arabia/Eurasia plate convergence

F. Mouthereau ^{a,b,*}, O. Lacombe ^{a,b}, J. Vergés ^c

^a UPMC Univ Paris 06, UMR 7193, Institut des Sciences de la Terre de Paris, F-75005, Paris, France

^b CNRS, UMR 7193, Institut des Sciences de la Terre de Paris, F-75005, Paris, France

^c Group of Dynamics of the Lithosphere (GDL), Institute of Earth Sciences "Jaume Almera", CSIC, Lluís Solé Sabarís s/n, 0828, Barcelona, Spain

ARTICLE INFO

Article history: Received 14 February 2011 Received in revised form 10 January 2012 Accepted 15 January 2012 Available online 24 January 2012

Keywords: Zagros Fold-thrust belt Arabia-Eurasia convergence Iranian Plateau Orogeny

ABSTRACT

The Zagros Mountains are the result of the Arabia/Eurasia collision initiated at ~35 Ma as the rifted Arabian lithosphere was underthrusted beneath the Iranian plate due to its negative buoyancy. The onset of crustal thickening started at ~25 Ma, as recorded by the hinterland exhumation and foreland clastic deposition. Deformation throughout the Arabia/Eurasia collision zone and the uplift of the Iranian plateau occurred after 15-12 Ma, as a result of shortening/thickening of the thin Iranian crust. We emphasize that only 42% of the post-35 Ma convergence is partitioned by shortening within central Iran. Tomographic constraints show ongoing slab steepening or breakoff in the NW Zagros, whereas underthrusting of the Arabian plate is observed beneath central Zagros. The current subduction dynamics can be explained by the original lateral difference in the buoyancy of the distal margin that promoted slab sinking in NW Zagros and underthrusting in central Zagros. Critical wedge approach applied to the Zagros favors the hypothesis of strong brittle crust detached above a viscous lower crust. In contrast, the weak sedimentary cover deforms by buckling of a thick multilayered cover. Thrust faulting associated with folding occurs in the competent layers and is responsible for most of the earthquakes. There is evidence that the role of the slab pull force in driving the Arabian plate motion was reduced after ~12 Ma. Large-scale mantle flow induced by mantle upwelling at the Afar plume appears to be the main driver of the Arabia plate motion. We stress that the main kinematic change in the Zagros region occurred at 15–12 Ma as the Zagros uplifted, before the Arabian slab detached. The Zagros appears key to investigate coupling between continental rheology, plate driving forces and mountain building, in which the role of rift inheritance appears to be central.

© 2012 Elsevier B.V. All rights reserved.

TECTONOPHYSICS

Contents

1.	Intro	duction	28				
2.	Geological setting						
	2.1.	Zagros Folded Belt (ZFB): structural segmentation, folding and faulting	30				
	2.2.	High Zagros and Zagros suture	33				
		2.2.1. Stratigraphic and tectonic features	33				
		2.2.2. The Zagros suture: Neyriz and Kermanshah obducted ophiolites	33				
	2.3.	The Sanandaj–Sirjan metamorphic belt or Sanandaj–Sirjan Zone (SSZ)	34				
	2.4.	The Urumieh–Dokhtar Magmatic Arc (UDMA)	34				
3.	ppraisal of the lithosphere-scale collision structure of the Zagros	34					
	3.1.	Geophysical constraints on continuous/discontinuous Arabian slab	35				
	3.2.	Zagros structure: cover folding and basement-involved shortening	35				
4.	Ceno	zoic deformation history of the Zagros collision	37				
	4.1.	Temporal constraints on the onset of Arabia–Eurasia collision	37				
	4.2.	Timing of folding: dating of growth strata in the Zagros folded belt	37				

E-mail address: frederic.mouthereau@upmc.fr (F. Mouthereau).



^{*} Corresponding author at: Institut des Sciences de la Terre de Paris, Université Pierre et Marie Curie, T. 45-46, E2, Box 129, 75252 Paris Cedex 05, France. Tel.: +33 144275256; fax: +33 144275085.

^{0040-1951/\$ –} see front matter $\textcircled{\sc 0}$ 2012 Elsevier B.V. All rights reserved. doi:10.1016/j.tecto.2012.01.022

	4.3.	Relative timing between cover and basement deformation in the ZFB	38					
4.4. Timing of folding and thrusting in the High Zagros								
5.	Cenoz	Cenozoic uplift and exhumation history of the Zagros collision						
	5.1.	.1. Syn-collisional and pre-orogenic cooling and exhumational events in the Zagros: low-temperature thermochronologic constraints						
	5.2.	Temporal constraints on uplift of the Zagros belt and some implications	40					
	5.3.	Fold development and evolution of drainage networks	40					
6.	Crust	al rheology, mechanics of folding and the building of Zagros topography	42					
	6.1.	Mechanics of Zagros folding	42					
		6.1.1. Buckling versus fault-related folding	42					
		6.1.2. Brittle deformation and Zagros folding	42					
	6.2.	Evolution of stress patterns in the Zagros	44					
	6.3.	Mechanics of the Zagros orogenic wedge	45					
7.	7. Discussion: strain distribution, tectonic model of Zagros mountain building and plate driving forces							
	7.1.	Distribution of shortening across the Zagros and accommodation of Cenozoic Arabia/Eurasia convergence	45					
		7.1.1. Present-day slip rates and finite shortening in the Zagros since 22 Ma	45					
		7.1.2. Temporal distribution of collisional shortening in Arabia/Eurasia convergence: linkage between Zagros mountain building						
		and Iranian plateau expansion	45					
		7.1.3. Partitioning of the Eurasia/Arabia convergence	47					
	7.2. Stepwise tectonic model of the Zagros collision orogeny since 55 Ma							
		7.2.1. Eocene stage (55–36 Ma): magmatic flare-up and initial Tethyan slab geometry	48					
		7.2.2. Oligocene stage (36–25 Ma): underthrusting of the Arabian margin	49					
		7.2.3. Early Miocene stage (25–15 Ma): thickening of Arabian margin and initiation of mountain building in the Zagros orogen	49					
		7.2.4. Middle-Late Miocene (15–5 Ma): uplift of the Zagros folding and broadening of the Zagros orogen/Iranian plateau region	50					
	7.3.	Plate kinematics and the driving forces of plate convergence	52					
8.	Concl	Conclusions						
	8.1.	Timing of collision, onset of uplift/exhumation and mechanism of the Zagros mountain building	54					
	8.2.	Underthrusting/accretion and the role of margin inheritance in collisional shortening	54					
	8.3.	Structure of the ZFB, topography and rheology of the Arabian crust	54					
	8.4.	Collision kinematics and plate driving forces	55					
	8.5.	Kinematic reorganization of the Arabia/Eurasia collision at 15–12 Ma?	55					
Acknowledgments								
References								

1. Introduction

The Zagros is the largest mountain belt and the most active collisional orogen associated with Arabia/Eurasia convergence (Fig. 1). It belongs to the Alpine–Himalayan orogenic system that resulted from the closure of the Neotethys Ocean during the Cenozoic (Dercourt et al., 1986; Dewey et al., 1973; Stampfli and Borel, 2002). In this aspect, our current understanding of the Mesozoic geodynamics of the Zagros region, associated with the subduction of the Neotethys ocean, has been largely improved in the past few years thanks to the synthesis of an increasing number of geochronological constraints on tectono-magmatic events combined with tomography data (e.g., Agard et al., 2011; Verdel et al., 2011 for a review).

In contrast, the temporal evolution of the Zagros topography and adjacent Iranian plateau uplift is much less well understood. It is no clear whether the regional uplift was achieved rapidly in the past 10–5 Ma (e.g., Agard et al., 2005, 2011; Allen et al., 2004; Allen et al., 2011; Molinaro et al., 2005a,b) or was instead progressive in the whole collision region over the last 35 Myr (e.g., Ballato et al., 2011; Mouthereau, 2011). Also our understanding of the dynamics of mountain building mostly relies on a number of emergent tectonic models, not mutually exclusive, highlighting the role of distributed shortening in the Arabia/Eurasia collision, Arabian slab breakoff and mantle delamination (Agard et al., 2005; Ballato et al., 2011; Hatzfeld and Molnar, 2010; Molinaro et al., 2005b; Mouthereau, 2011; van Hunen and Allen, 2011).

Answering these questions is of main importance since the uplift of the Zagros region is thought to have influenced the connectivity between the Indo-Pacific Ocean, the Mediterranean Sea and the Tethys Ocean (Harzhauser et al., 2007; Kocsis et al., 2009; Reuter et al., 2009) and to have potentially impacted the Cenozoic global climate (Allen and Armstrong, 2008). Yet, our knowledge of temporal evolution of land/sea distribution in the Zagros region, including the Iranian plateau, is still imprecise regardless of the recent efforts to build paleotectonic maps (Barrier and Vrielynck, 2008).

In the framework of the Africa/Eurasia convergence, different causes of the Arabian plate motion has been proposed, including slab pull effects or/and mantle drag (Alvarez, 2010; ArRajehi et al., 2010; Becker and Faccenna, 2011; Bellahsen et al., 2003; Faccenna et al., 2006; Hafkenscheid et al., 2006; Jolivet and Facenna, 2000; McQuarrie et al., 2003; Reilinger and McClusky, 2011). A more accurate knowledge of the timing of uplift and distribution of crustal thickening at the Zagros collisional plate boundary is therefore needed to advance on this question.

A significant progress has been made in establishing a reliable stratigraphic framework, which allowed the timing of collision onset (Agard et al., 2005; Allen et al., 2004; Fakhari et al., 2008; Gavillot et al., 2010; Horton et al., 2008; Khadivi et al., 2012; Vergés et al., 2011b), the sequence of deformation (Ahmadhadi et al., 2007; Authemayou et al., 2005; Emami, 2008; Gavillot et al., 2010; Hessami et al., 2001; Homke et al., 2004; Khadivi et al., 2010; Molinaro et al., 2005a; Mouthereau et al., 2007b) and the chronology of cooling/denudational events (Homke et al., 2010; Khadivi et al., 2012) to be more precisely known. At shorter time scale, geodetic measurements of the Arabia plate motion combined with longer term fault slip rates deduced from seismotectonic studies of Quaternary and active faults, gave a more accurate picture of the way arcnormal and strike-slip components of the N-directed Arabia/Eurasia convergence is accommodated in the Zagros region (Allen et al., 2004; ArRajehi et al., 2010; Authemayou et al., 2006, 2009; Lacombe et al., 2007; McClusky et al., 2003; McQuarrie et al., 2003; Nilforoushan et al., 2003; Talebian and Jackson, 2004; Vernant et al., 2004; Walpersdorf et al., 2006). This led to propose a profound kinematic reorganization at 5-7 Ma (Allen et al., 2004), which is still challenged by plate kinematic data arguing, given uncertainties, a stable Arabia plate convergence since ~22 Ma (ArRajehi et al.,



Fig. 1. Main tectonic features and kinematics of the Arabia/Eurasia collision. A) Main morphotectonic units and active faults of the Arabia/Eurasia convergence draped onto shaded relief from ETOPO1 (1'×1' resolution) Global Relief data (http://www.ngdc.noaa.gov). White arrows refer to the relative Arabian plate motion with respect to fixed Eurasian plate (Sella et al., 2002; Vernant et al., 2004). B) Main tectono-magmatic belts of the Zagros, arcs and recesses at the Zagros front and location of obducted ophiolites. C) Active faults, GPS velocities shown as black arrows are from Masson et al. (2007) and the 1964–2002 seismicity from International Seismological Centre (2001). Abbreviations are Main Zagros Thrust (MZT), High Zagros (HZ), Apsheron-Balkan Sill (ABS), East Anatolian Fault (EAF), North Anatolian Fault (NAF), Dead Sea Fault (DSF), Main Recent Fault (MRF), High Zagros Fault (HZF), Mountain Front Fault (MFF), Kermanshah ophio-lite Complex (K), and Neyriz ophiolite Complex (N).

2010). However, these data have never been integrated to propose a comprehensive scheme of the strain distribution over the whole collisional plate boundary.

The Zagros foreland fold-thrust belt is particularly famous as the most prolific fold-thrust belt where the world's largest hydrocarbon reserves are trapped in giant anticlines (e.g.,Bordenave and Hegre, 2010). In addition to exceptional outcrop conditions, this has made the Zagros fold-thrust belt one fascinating area for studying the mechanics of fold development (Blanc et al., 2003; Casciello et al., 2009; Lacombe et al., 2007; McQuarrie, 2004; Mitra, 2003; Molinaro et al., 2005a; Mouthereau et al., 2006, 2007a, 2007b; Oveisi et al., 2009; Sherkati et al., 2005; Vergés et al., 2011a; Yamato et al., 2011) and the interplays between folding, sediment routing and landscape evolution (Khadivi et al., 2012; Oberlander, 1985; Ramsey et al., 2008; Tucker and Slingerland, 1996).

Past structural interpretations of the Zagros structure emphasized the along-strike variability of the structural styles, including thinskinned deformation and basement-involved thrusting. In this framework, the specific role of weak detachment levels in the cover and the rheology of the basement in building the Zagros topography has been questioned (Bahroudi and Koyi, 2003; Dahlen, 1990; Davis and Engelder, 1985; Ford, 2004; Mouthereau et al., 2006). To advance on these questions, a better understanding of the mechanical coupling between the rheology and tectonic inheritance on the Arabian margin, plate kinematics, and change in boundary forces is needed here.

The goal of this review paper is to investigate the dynamic evolution of the Zagros orogenic system during the Cenozoic, following a very active decade of acquisition of geologic, geochronological and geophysical datasets. These local to regional scale data are integrated together with other constraints from tectonic belts of central, western and eastern Iran in order to examine the dynamic coupling between plate convergence and mountain building in the Zagros/Iranian Plateau. This review study provides new keys for a better understanding of the driving forces at the origin of the Zagros orogeny and constraints on the paleogeographic evolution of this key region between the Mediterranean Sea and Indian-Pacific ocean world. We finally propose a new geological and geodynamic evolutionary model of the Zagros collision since 55 Ma that accounts for the progressive strain distribution and exhumation/uplift of the Zagros collision. This model provides new view of the role of the initial margin geometry in governing the distribution of underthrusting and accretion in the collision domain.

2. Geological setting

The Zagros mountain belt is defined as a NW-trending orogen stretching 2000 km from the East Anatolian fault in eastern Turkey (45°E, 36°E) to the Makran subduction in southern Iran (26°N, 58°E). The Zagros orogen is flanking the Turkish–Iranian plateau to the south and its elevation reaches a maximum of 4548 m in the Khuzestan province of the NW Zagros (Fig. 1). In Iran, the Mesozoic and Cenozoic convergence between Africa/Arabia–Eurasia resulted in NW-trending parallel tectono-metamorphic and magmatic belts. These are the Zagros (or Simply) Folded Belt, the Imbricate Zone including the Kermanshah and Neyriz ophiolitic complexes, the Sanandaj–Sirjan Zone and the Urumieh–Dokhtar volcanic arc (Fig. 1)

Berberian and Berberian, 1981; Berberian and King, 1981; Berberian et al., 1982).

2.1. Zagros Folded Belt (ZFB): structural segmentation, folding and faulting

The ZFB is separated into several domains according to the alongstrike changes in structural styles, position of the deformation front and stratigraphy (Fig. 1b). These changes reflect a kinematic segmentation along N-trending faults inherited from the Late Proterozoic fault system of the Pan-African basement (Talbot and Alavi, 1996). Several of these inherited features are recognized in the Arabian Shield and can be followed northwards, into the Zagros Basin before they were reactivated in the Zagros collision belt (Bahroudi and Talbot, 2003; Berberian, 1995; Hessami et al., 2001; Talbot and Alavi, 1996). These domains are from North to South the Kirkuk embayment, the Lorestan (Pusht-e Kuh arc), the Dezful embayment, the Khuzestan recess (Izeh Zone) and the Fars arc (Casciello et al., 2009; Falcon, 1974b; Lacombe et al., 2006; Sherkati and Letouzev, 2004; Stocklin, 1968). The Dezful embayment is bounded by the Dezful Embayment Fault (DEF) to the north, the Balarud Line to the west, the Kazerun Fault to the east (Sepehr and Cosgrove, 2004), the Mountain Front Fault (MFF) to the northwest and the Zagros Foredeep Fault (ZFF) to the southwest. The Izeh domain is delimited to the north-northeast by the High Zagros Fault (HZF) and to the southsouthwest by the Mountain Front Fault (MFF). Its northwestern limit lies along Balarud Line. The Fars arc stretches 300 km and is delineated by the MFF to the south, the Kazerun Fault to the west and by the Minab-Zendan fault system to the southeast, which outlines the active fault boundary between the Zagros collision and the Makran subduction (e.g., Regard et al., 2004, 2005).

The Zagros folds formed in a thick pile of sedimentary rocks up to 12 km (Colman-Sadd, 1978; Falcon, 1974a; James and Wynd, 1965; Stocklin, 1968) including Paleozoic, Mesozoic and Cenozoic strata (Figs. 2 and 3). These were deposited in an extensional and passive margin setting during Paleozoic and most of the Mesozoic periods followed by compression and flexural basin development starting in the Late Cretaceous times (e.g., Beydoun et al., 1992; Homke et al., 2009 and Koop and Stoneley, 1982 among others). Tertiary foreland sequences are represented by the Fars Group comprising the Gashsaran/Razak, Mishan and Agha Jari formations, which altogether forms a regressive siliciclastic sequence of ~3 km, overlying the carbonate platform of the Oligo-Miocene Shahbazan and Asmari formations, the latter being the main Tertiary oil reservoir.

In the Fars, the base of the sedimentary cover rocks overlies the infracambrian salt (Hormuz Formation), which maximum thickness is 1–2 km and which acts as an extremely efficient décollement level (Colman-Sadd, 1978; Edgell, 1996). Together with the Miocene evaporitic formations, these units are known to be particularly mobile and forms one of the largest fields of salt diapirs worldwide, most of them being concentrated in the eastern Fars arc (e.g., Jahani et al., 2009; Talbot and Alavi, 1996). Several Hormuz salt plugs are cropping out along the southern faulted boundary of the High Zagros (High Zagros Fault, Figs. 1 and 2) and N-trending strike-slip segments of the ZFB, constraining the minimum extent of this unit at depth (Fig. 2a). The lack of diapirs and plugs in the Dezful embayment and Lorestan arc has been attributed to the absence of Hormuz salt in

Fig. 2. Crustal-scale structure and temporal constraints on fold/thrust emplacement in NW Zagros and central Zagros. A) Location of balanced cross-sections in the Zagros: 1) Alavi (2007); 2) McQuarrie (2004); 3) Blanc et al. (2003); 4) McQuarrie (2004); 5) Sherkati and Letouzey (2004); 6) McQuarrie (2004); and 7) Molinaro et al. (2005a). Sections AA', BB' and CC' correspond to crustal balanced cross-sections of the Lorestan and the Fars regions after Vergés et al. (2011b) and Mouthereau (2011), respectively. Position of the Bakhtyari conglomerates dated by magnetostratigraphy for the Changuleh Bakhtyari (Homke et al., 2004), by biostratigraphy for Shalamzar Bakhtyari (Fakhari et al., 2008), indirectly by low-temperature thermochronometry in the Dinar Bakhtyari (dated (Gavillot et al., 2010) and by magnetostratigraphy and biostratigraphy for the Chanar–Makan Bakhtyari (Khadivi et al., 2010). Abbreviations: Mountain Front Fault (MFF), High Zagros Fault (HZF), Main Recent Fault (MRF), Main Zagros Thrust (MZT), Kazerun Fault (KF), Karebass Fault (KBF), Sabz-Pushan Fault (SbF), Surmeh Fault (SuF), Sarvestan Fault (SF), and Balarud Fault (BR). B) Lithospheric scale cross-sections of the NW Zagros (Lorestan) after area balanced cross-section proposed by Vergés et al. (2011b) and temporal constraints on fold/thrust emplacement. C) Lithospheric scale cross-section modified after balanced cross-section after Mouthereau et al. (2007b) and Mouthereau (2011) for the Fars region. Section CC' is projected.





Fig. 3. Synthesis of basin stratigraphy and compilation of thermochronological/geochronological constraints on tectonic, metamorphic, magmatic and exhumational events in the NW Zagros (Lorestan) and Central Zagros (Fars) organized by structural zones and in central Iran and the Alborz. Kermanshah Complex, Kermanshah radiolarite-ophiolite Complex; Neyriz Complex, Neyriz radiolarite-ophiolite Complex; MFF, Mountain Front Fault; HZF, High Zagros Fault; MZT, Main Zagros Thrust; MRF, Main Recent Fault; and UDMA, Urumieh–Dokhtar Magmatic Arc. Compiled data are from (1) Homke et al. (2004); (2) Emami (2008), Fakhari et al. (2008); (3) Hessami et al. (2001), Sherkati and Letouzey (2004), Fakhari et al. (2008), Homke et al. (2009), (4) James and Wynd (1965), Gidon et al. (1974), Braud (1987), Homke et al. (2004), Agard et al. (2005), Homke et al. (2005), Khadivi et al. (2010); (5) Berthier (1974), Gidon et al. (1974), Braud (1987); (6) Delaloye and Desmons (1980); (7) Braud (1987), Agard et al. (2005), (8) Leterrier (1985) and Braud (1987); (19–11) Braud (1987), (12) Braud (1970), Gidon et al. (1974), Braud (1987), Agard et al. (2005); Fakhari et al.(2008); Khadivi et al. (2012), (13) Leterrier (1985), Braud (1987); (14) Mohajjel and Fergusson (2000), (15) Valizadeh and Cantagrel (1975), Berberian and Berberian (1981), Berberian et al. (1982), Masoudi (1997), Masoudi et al. (2002), Horton et al. (2008); (16–17) Bernard et al. (1979), Martel-Jentin et al. (1979), Berberian and Berberian (1981), Berberian et al. (1982), Bina et al. (1986), Aghazadeh et al. (2011); (18–19) Mouthereau et al. (2006), Mouthereau et al. (2007); (20–21) Khadivi et al. (2010), Khadivi et al. (2012); (22) Gaviliot et al. (2010); (23) James and Wynd (1965)Hallam (1976), Ricou (1976), Lanphere and Pamic (1983), Babie et al. (2006), (24) Haynes and Reynolds (1980), Sarkarinejad and Alizadeh (2009), Sarkarinejad et al. (2009), (25) Berberian and Berberian (1981), Sheikholeslami et al. (2008), (26) Rachindejad–Omran et al. (2002); Vincent et al. (20

these two areas (Bahroudi and Koyi, 2003; Talbot and Alavi, 1996). The regular distribution and trend of the Zagros folds, however, strongly suggest they nevertheless formed as detachment folds above a weak basal layer equivalent to Cambrian shales, as proposed by Sherkati and Letouzey (2004) and discussed in Vergés et al. (2011a).

Fig. 2 shows two balanced crustal-scale cross-sections of the Zagros along which the crustal thickness is constrained by

geophysical data. The first one is located in the NW Zagros (Lorestan region from Vergés et al., 2011b) and the second in the central Zagros (Fars region modified from Mouthereau et al., 2007b). In both sections, the folded sediment cover is detached in the Hormuz salt or Lower Paleozoic shales over the Precambrian basement. The basement is also involved in shortening but its importance is debated. Yet controversial, the idea of involving the Precambrian basement in

deformation is supported by past and recent seismotectonic studies (Berberian, 1995; Jackson, 1980; Ni and Barazangi, 1986; Roustaei et al., 2010; Talebian and Jackson, 2004; Tatar et al., 2004). Among the active reverse faults reported from modern and historical earthquakes (e.g., Berberian, 1995) are the Mountain Front Fault (MFF; Figs. 1c and 2), the Dezful Embayment fault (DEF), and the Zagros Foredeep fault (ZFF). Re-appraisal of fault plane solutions for earthquakes along these reverse faults indicate that they dip 30-60° NE (Talebian and Jackson, 2004), suggesting they are inverted normal faults that originally developed during rifting of the Arabian continent (e.g., Berberian, 1995; Jackson, 1980). In a more recent study, Nissen et al. (2011) re-appraised the inferred basement earthquakes and relocated most of them in the cover, suggesting that the basement deforms by aseismic creep beneath the ZFB. They also noticed that some few large earthquakes (e.g., Mw~6.7) can rupture the basement.

Basement-involved shortening is also indicated by morphostructural observations, including abrupt changes in stratigraphic relief of the sedimentary cover across inferred deep active reverse faults (Berberian, 1995; Blanc et al., 2003; Emami et al., 2010; Lacombe et al., 2006; Molinaro et al., 2004; Mouthereau et al., 2007b; Sherkati and Letouzey, 2004). In addition, the sedimentary cover is cut by major NW-trending seismogenic strike-slip fault zones reported as active basement faults like the Surmeh–Karebass and Sabz-Pushan transverse fault zones (Figs. 1 and 2a). The Balarud Fault (BR, Fig. 2a) is one unique example of E–W active fault zone, bounding the Dezful Embayment to the north. Although, the Balarud seismic line has been interpreted as a major left-lateral strike-slip fault (Berberian, 1995; Hessami et al., 2001), focal mechanisms of earthquakes indicate thrust rupture within the basement and the cover (Allen and Talebian, 2011; Talebian and Jackson, 2004).

2.2. High Zagros and Zagros suture

2.2.1. Stratigraphic and tectonic features

The High Zagros (HZ) or Imbricate Zone (IZ) is characterized by the emplacement of imbricate thrust sheets. In the NW Zagros, to the north of the Lorestan, Dezful and Izeh Zone, several thrust sheets expose Palaeozoic strata, indicating the accommodation of large displacements at the origin of the highest topography in the region (Fig. 2). This contrasts with the central Zagros where HZ deformation is taken up by folding with large wavelengths.

The High Zagros is bounded to the north by the Main Zagros Thrust (MZT) also named the Main Zagros Reverse Fault (MZRF) or Main Zagros Fault (MZF), a north steeply-dipping thrust, which is connected southwards to a hangingwall flat carrying ultramafic suites of the Kermanshah and Neyriz obducted complexes. It is thought to represent the plate boundary between the folded cover of the Arabia margin to the SW and the upper magmatic–metamorphic belt of central Iran to the NE (Berberian and King, 1981) but this intepretation has been challenged (see discussion on the suture zone below).

In the NW Zagros (Fig. 2) the MZT is cut by the Main Recent Fault (MRF) a major active strike-slip fault partitioning the N–S convergence into a NW–SE right-lateral strike-slip and NE–SW shortening (Talebian and Jackson, 2002). The MZT appears to be mostly inactive as it is suggested by the absence of related seismicity. This is further indicated by its surface trace that rotates clockwise in the vicinity of the southern termination of the N-trending Deshir strike-slip fault, consistently with its right-lateral motion (Meyer et al., 2005).

To the south, the High Zagros is separated from the ZFB by the High Zagros Fault (HZF). As noticed by Talebian and Jackson (2004), most of the larger earthquakes occur in the ZFB (Fig. 1c) or along the High Zagros Fault (HZF) keeping the High Zagros devoid of seismicity, in agreement with the very few evidence from geodetic shortening (Tatar et al., 2002). Aseismic deformation indicates that shortening occurs either within ductile duplexes (e.g., beneath the

Sanandaj–Srijan zone) or has been entirely transferred to the south in the ZFB. While the HZF shows neither significant displacement nor remarkable geomorphic features in the Fars area, it accommodates large displacement in the NW Zagros as inferred from Cambrian rocks overthrusting the Cenozoic strata (Gavillot et al., 2010). There the HZF is displaying at least 6 km of vertical structural offset and is associated with historical and instrumental earthquakes in SE Zagros (Berberian, 1995).

The displacement accommodated along the MRF is currently being transferred in the central Zagros in N–S active right-lateral transpressional faults (Kazerun, Karebass, Sabz-Pushan, Sarvestan). These faults are partitioning longitudinally the oblique and frontal convergence between the NW and central Zagros, respectively (Authemayou et al., 2005, 2006, 2009; Lacombe et al., 2006; Talebian and Jackson, 2004). This kinematic change requires extension along the strike of the belt, which can be achieved progressively by the Kazerun/Karebass/Sabz-Pushan/Sarvestan faults if they rotate anticlockwise about vertical axes (Talebian and Jackson, 2004). Based on dating of geomorphic features, these faults have been alternatively interpreted as an orogen-scale strike-slip fault termination, which transfers and distributes orogen-parallel dextral slip, achieved along the MRF, into thrusts and folds of the Zagros belt (Authemayou et al., 2006, 2009).

2.2.2. The Zagros suture: Neyriz and Kermanshah obducted ophiolites

The Zagros suture zone (or Crush Zone) shows the imbrications of thrust units of different tectonic origins including rifted continental blocks, ophiolites and tectonic mélange (Fig. 2). The suture zone was emplaced as two obducted ophiolitic complexes next to the Fars (Neyriz) and the Lorestan region (Kermanshah) (Haynes and McQuillan, 1974; Stocklin, 1968) (Figs. 1b and 2b, c). Their distinctive distribution likely reflects their original position on an irregular continental margin (Allen and Talebian, 2011). The ophiolitic complex of Neyriz is considered to be an allochthonous fragment of the western Neo-Tethyan oceanic lithosphere (Golonka, 2004; Stocklin, 1968). It consists of several thrust imbricates. The uppermost tectonic unit includes gabbros, diorites, plagiogranites and variably serpentinized peridotites (Babaie et al., 2006) and constitutes the crustal sequence of the Neyriz ophiolite well-exposed in Tang-e-Hana. East of lake Bakhtegan, this unit is overthrusted by the Hajiabad mélange of upper Cretaceous age, which is composed of Permian-Triassic limestones, radiolarian cherts, tuffs, basalts (pillow lavas) and formed originally in a forearc setting (Babaei et al., 2005). Greenschist-toamphibolite metamorphic rocks are found above the basal detachment shear zone of the allochthonous ophiolite complex (Babaie et al., 2006; Sarkarinejad et al., 2009). To the west of Lake Bakhtegan, both the Neyriz tectonic mélange and the ophiolite (Fig. 2) are thrusted over a sedimentary assemblage of radiolarian cherts, turbidites, middle Jurassic oolitic, micro-brecciated limestones, and the highly folded Pichakun formation dated from Late Triassic to Middle Cretaceous (Ricou, 1976; Robin et al., 2010).

The basal contact of the Neyriz obducted complex represents the hangingwall flat of the Main Zagros Thrust. The ophiolite complex was tectonically emplaced onto the Cenomanian–Turonian shallow-marine Sarvak Formation (Hallam, 1976) (Figs. 2 and 3). ⁴⁰Ar/³⁹Ar dating on hornblende in diabase and plagiogranite yielded an age of 92–93 Ma (Babaie et al., 2006) consistent with ages of ~95 Ma obtained in amphibolites and slightly younger ages of ~86 Ma in tholeiitic sheeted dykes (Lanphere and Pamic, 1983). Together with the age of the unconformably overlying limestones of the Tarbur Formation, the ophiolites have therefore been emplaced between 86 Ma and 70 Ma (Fig. 3). Subsequent Zagros orogeny folded the originally flat thrust contact as illustrated by its contorted cartographic trace.

The Neo-Tethyan ocean origin for the Neyriz ophiolites has been widely proposed (Hallam, 1976; Haynes and Reynolds, 1980; Lanphere and Pamic, 1983; Stocklin, 1974). Geochemical studies have pointed out that the obducted ophiolites may be originated from a mid-ocean ridge or Ca/K island arc (e.g., Hassanabad unit) (Babaie et al., 2001; Babaie et al., 2006), thus requiring an intraoceanic subduction (Agard et al., 2011; Arfania and Shahriari, 2009). It has been suggested that they were originated in a Red Sea-type rift in a shallow passive continental margin (Arvin, 1982; Stoneley, 1981). More recently, it has been proposed that they are suprasubduction ophiolites that resulted from the emplacement of an outer forearc oceanic basement, on the southern edge of the SSZ, formed when the subduction initiated in the mid-Cretaceous (Moghadam and Stern, 2011; Moghadam et al., 2010).

The Kermanshah ophiolitic complex includes 1) the folded and faulted Bisotun unit, composed of limestones of Triassic-Cenomanian age, 2) the Harsin colored mélange composed of upper mantle serpentinites, Eocene radiolarites, lavas and carbonates blocks, and 3) radiolaritic nappes which are dated from Lower Jurassic (Pliensbachian) to Upper Cretaceous (Turonian) (e.g., Wrobel-Daveau et al., 2010). Likewise Neyriz ophiolites, the Kermanshah ophiolitic complex was emplaced in the upper Cretaceous and subsequently thrusted during the Zagros collisional orogeny in the Miocene. Wrobel-Daveau et al. (2010) re-appraised the ophiolitic suites of the Kermanshah Complex as upper mantle serpentinized peridotites exhumed in the stretched Arabian margin. In this interpretation, the ophiolites are located between the radiolaritic basin and the rifted Bisotun continental block. This interpretation emphasizes the important differences in the precollisional margin configuration between NW and central Zagros. The implications for the geodynamics of the region and mountain building of the Zagros will be discussed later.

2.3. The Sanandaj–Sirjan metamorphic belt or Sanandaj–Sirjan Zone (SSZ)

The Sanandaj–Sirjan Zone (SSZ), located to the north of the MZT, represents the tectono-magmatic and metamorphic part of the Zagros belt (Figs. 1b, 2b, c and 3). It is made up of sedimentary and metamorphic Paleozoic to Cretaceous rocks formed in the former active margin of an Iranian microcontinent drifted during the Late Jurassic (Berberian and Berberian, 1981; Dercourt et al., 1986; Golonka, 2004), which collided with the Arabian margin during the Miocene. Alternatively, SSZ has been seen as the metamorphic core of the Zagros accretionary complex built by the thickening of distal crustal domains of the Arabian margin (Alavi, 2004; Moghadam et al., 2010). During the Middle Jurassic and Lower Cretaceous times, the SSZ was an active Andean-like margin characterized by calc-alkaline magmatic activity in which andesitic and gabbroic intrusions were emplaced (Agard et al., 2005; Berberian and Berberian, 1981). The subduction beneath SSZ have initiated in the Triassic (Berberian and Berberian, 1981; Dercourt et al., 1986; Kazmin et al., 1986) and possibly lasted until the Eocene (Mazhari et al., 2009). By mid-Cretaceous, magmatism shifted inland that is in the UDMA and the Alborz (Agard et al., 2011; Berberian et al., 1982; Kazmin et al., 1986; Verdel et al., 2011).

The metamorphic part of the Sanandaj–Sirjan Zone can be subdivided into HP/LT and HT/LP metamorphic belts that developed at a transpressional plate boundary associated with the subduction of Neo-Tethys (Sarkarinejad and Azizi, 2008). For instance, the Tutak Gneiss dome within the HP/LT belt is cored by gneisses and granites for which ⁴⁰Ar/³⁹Ar dating yielded ages of 180 Ma and 77 Ma (Sarkarinejad and Alizadeh, 2009). In the Cheh–Galatoun (Quri) metamorphic mélange, few tens of kilometers to the east of the Neyriz obducted complex, amphibolites, garnet-bearing amphibolites and some eclogites or kyanite schists are exposed (Sarkarinejad et al., 2009). ⁴⁰Ar/³⁹Ar dating of the Quri amphibolites yields ages of ~91 Ma and 112–119 Ma in biotite gneiss. The good agreement found between the cooling ages in the Neyriz Ophiolitic complex and the HP tectonic mélange in the SSZ suggest a coeval episode of exhumation (Khadivi

et al., 2012) during changes in subduction boundary conditions as inferred for the exhumation of blueschists in the southern Zagros (Agard et al., 2006). The tectonic position of the HP rocks with respect to the Neyriz ophiolites is debated. Indeed, it is still unclear whether the metamorphic mélange of SSZ is part of the upper Eurasian plate or the lower Arabian plate, mostly because of the obliteration of original structural relationships by subsequent deformation events. The HT/LP belt to the north (Fig. 2) is presumably older and probably results from arc-related regional metamorphism and magmatism (Sarkarinejad and Azizi, 2008). The metamorphic rocks are unconformably overlain by the Lower Cretaceous Orbitolina limestones, typical of the Central Iran sedimentation (Stocklin, 1974). The Late Cretaceous tectonic mélange of Neyriz is likely in a structural position equivalent to the Eocene magmatic assemblage in Kermanshah (ETMD, Agard et al., 2005, 2011). In NW Zagros, magmatism renewed in the Eocene as shown by grabboic intrusions dated at 34 Ma (Leterrier, 1985) and by granitic intrusions (Gaiduh granite) occurred (Rachidnejad-Omran et al., 2002). A significant number of middle-upper Eocene apatite fission-track cooling ages were also determined from the Sanandaj-Sirjan zone (Homke et al., 2010) and could be correlated with the same Eocene fissiontrack ages reported from the Zagros foreland sedimentary rocks (Khadivi et al., 2012). The Miocene emplacement of the Sanandaj-Sirjan units along the MZT is revealed by thrusting of the Cretaceous limestones over Eocene and Miocene sedimentary rocks (Houshmand Zadeh et al., 1990). In addition, the Neogene clastics and red beds of the SSZ unconformably overlying metamorphic and magmatic rocks are folded, indicating that the emplacement of the SSZ was accompanied by deformation in the upper plate (Fig. 3).

2.4. The Urumieh–Dokhtar Magmatic Arc (UDMA)

The Urumieh-Dokhtar Magmatic Arc (UDMA; Fig. 1) located between the SSZ and Central Iran is striking parallel to the Zagros Mountains. The oldest rocks in the UDMA are calc-alkaline magmatic rocks, which cut across Upper Jurassic formations and are overlain unconformably by Lower Cretaceous fossiliferous limestones. The UDMA is characterized by Tertiary magmatism, showing the migration of magmatic activity from the SE (SSZ). Magmatism has been mainly active in the Eocene (Fig. 3) in association with the subduction of the Neo-Tethyan slab and continued for the rest of that period with a magmatic flare-up that lasted from 55 to 37 Ma (Verdel et al., 2011), including the Tarom plutonic belt of Berberian et al. (1982). The UDMA is composed of voluminous tholeiitic, calc-alkaline, and Krich magmatic rocks. Paleogene volcanics and sedimentary rocks reach 3-8 km in the UDMA and the Alborz, indicating subsidence associated with back-arc extension (Ballato et al., 2011; Morley et al., 2009; Verdel et al., 2007, 2011; Vincent et al., 2005) and formation of Eocene core-complexes in central Iran (Moritz et al., 2006; Verdel et al., 2007). The flare-up ceased at ~37 Ma age, as indicated by zircon U/Pb and Ar/Ar ages on a gabbro intruding the Karaj Formation with a typical continental arc signature. In the Oligocene, magmatism changed to OIB-like volcanism that reflects asthenospheric-derived melting (Verdel et al., 2011). The youngest rocks in the UDMA consist of lava flows and pyroclastics that belong to Pliocene and Quaternary volcanic cones of alkaline nature (Berberian and Berberian, 1981). Post-collisional Pliocene-Quaternary volcanism was suggested to result from lithosphere delamination beneath the overthickened Iranian Plateau (Hatzfeld and Molnar, 2010) or breakoff of the Neoethyan slab (Jahangiri, 2007; Omrani et al., 2008; van Hunen and Allen, 2011).

3. Re-appraisal of the lithosphere-scale collision structure of the Zagros

In this section, we present updated geophysical constraints on the deep lithospheric structure and shallow crustal-scale features of the Zagros collision, which are essential to better understanding the geodynamic evolution of the Arabia/Eurasia collision and mountain building in the Zagros.

3.1. Geophysical constraints on continuous/discontinuous Arabian slab

Receiver function analysis of teleseismic earthquakes performed along two 500 km-long profiles provide constraints on the crustal thickness in the Zagros belt and the adjacent Iranian Plateau (Paul et al., 2006; Paul et al., 2010) (Figs. 2 and 4). Beneath the ZFB and the High Zagros, the Arabian crust is 42 ± 2 km thick and the thickness of the lower crust is ~25 km (Hatzfeld et al., 2003). The consistency with the unthickened portion of the Arabian margin (Gök et al., 2008) indicates that the crust has not yet been significantly thickened in this part of the Zagros or has a wavelength too small to be fully compensated by the flexure of the continental margin. The average geothermal crustal gradient in the Arabian crust has been constrained to 15-24 °C/km in agreement with thermochronometric studies (Gavillot et al., 2010; Homke et al., 2010; Khadivi et al., 2012) and tectonic modeling (Mouthereau et al., 2006). It is worth noting that such a low geothermal gradient is compatible with the presence of earthquakes in the lower crust, down to depths of 30 km (Roustaei et al., 2010; Talebian and Jackson, 2004; Tatar et al., 2004).

Beneath the Sanandaj–Sirjan metamorphic belt the Moho deepens to a depth comprised between 69 ± 2 km (central Zagros) and $56 \pm$ 2 km (northern Zagros) (Paul et al., 2010). Northwards, beneath Central Iran the crustal thickness reduces to ~50 km. There, in contrast to the Arabian mantle, which displays shield-like P-wave velocities, lower seismic wave velocity suggest an anomalously thin upper mantle lithosphere, warmer than the Arabian one at least down to depths of 100 km (Chang et al., 2010; Kaviani et al., 2007). Mantle thinning has been interpreted to be possibly related to the removal of the mantle lithosphere following the thickening of the Iranian continent (Hatzfeld and Molnar, 2010; Maggi and Priestley, 2005). Such finding has however been challenged by more accurate velocity estimates showing no evidence for a high-velocity anomaly zone below 100 km and therefore do not seem to support the convective removal of the mantle lithosphere beneath the plateau (Kaviani et al., 2007; Paul et al., 2010). Receiver function tomography further reveals the occurrence of a strong reflector with a low-dip to the NE that is in continuation with the Main Zagros Thrust at surface, penetrating some 250 km below Central Iran. Paul et al. (2010) interpreted this reflector as the plate boundary between Eurasia and Arabia, revealing the underthrusting of the Arabian plate. This finding is in agreement with null shear wave splitting beneath the Zagros and the Sanandaj-Sirjan suggesting that both regions are underlain by the same Arabian lithosphere (Kaviani et al., 2009).

Global tomography data presented in recent studies (Agard et al., 2011; Vergés et al., 2011b) show instead a sharp boundary below the Arabia and Eurasia plate boundary in NW Zagros, dipping about 50° to the NE. Together with other recent tomographic constraints (Chang et al., 2010), these tomographic models reveal a discontinuous Neo-Tethyan slab beneath the NW Zagros (west of 51°E), in agreement with previous tomography data and inferred slab-breakoff (e.g., Hafkenscheid et al., 2006). In contrast, the Arabian lithosphere, as imaged by recent improved tomographic models, is continuous in the central Zagros (Chang et al., 2010). Simmons et al. (2011), using a novel multi-event location approach and 3D-ray tracing (Myers et al., 2011), image a continuous fast-velocity domain in the shallow upper mantle beneath Iran (Fig. 4). The fast-velocity anomaly is particularly well-defined in southern Zagros (Fars) and can be followed continuously northwards over 500 km, indicating the underthrusting of the Arabia lithosphere beneath Central Iran over a distance compatible with the Miocene age of the collision. Whether the Arabian lithosphere is continuous or not in the narrow region comprised between the NW Zagros (west of 51°E) and the central Zagros (east of 52°E), is however unclear from the available constraints. A high-velocity anomaly is identified beneath central Iran (Keshvari et al., 2011; Shomali et al., 2011) and could indicate a continuous slab.

Based on these tomography data it can be proposed that slab steepening or slab breakoff occurred in NW Zagros. This would be in agreement with the breakoff stage inferred in Anatolia, which possibly led to the formation of the North Anatolian Fault at ~12 Ma (Authemayou et al., 2006; Faccenna et al., 2006; Regard et al., 2005). To the south, however, tomographic models with improved resolutions (Chang et al., 2010; Paul et al., 2010; Simmons et al., 2011) show a cold slab beneath central Iran. It is characterized by low dip angles of the underthrusting/subducting Arabian lithosphere (Fig. 4). These data do not support a recent slab breakoff in the central Zagros, as it was anticipated from the occurrence of upper Miocene– Pliocene–Quaternary adakites in the UDMA region (Jahangiri, 2007; Omrani et al., 2008). At best, tomographic constraints could support an older Neo-tethyan slab detachment at ~30 Ma or older (e.g., Hafkenscheid et al., 2006).

3.2. Zagros structure: cover folding and basement-involved shortening

Folding of the sedimentary cover in the Zagros was permitted by the basal Hormuz evaporitic layer present in the Fars arc or by an equivalent layer in the Dezful embayment and Lorestan arc (Fig. 2). This thick (1-2 km) and weak salt-bearing formation has led us to interpret the Zagros Folded Belt as a thin-skinned fold-thrust belt (Davis and Engelder, 1985). This major décollement is obviously at the origin of the periodic folds that characterized the physiography of the ZFB. However, large-scale uplifts in the basement were also early described as major "geo-flexures" by Falcon (1961). For instance, a structural relief of 3 km is observed across the Mountain Front Flexure in SE Lorestan and NW Dezful Embayment (Emami et al., 2010; Falcon, 1961; Sherkati et al., 2006) reaching almost 6 km in the central Izeh Zone. In the Fars arc the basement uplifts are characterized by several topographic steps displaying larger wavelengths (40-100 km) that are associated with stepwise structural elevation of synclinal bottoms (Leturmy et al., 2010; Mouthereau et al., 2006). These steps are geographically associated with the inferred positions of well-known active basement thrusts such as the Mountain Front Fault or Surmeh Fault, along which major historical and instrumental earthquakes have been reported (Berberian, 1995). These morphostructural features support basement faulting in the Zagros. Similar tectonic relationships were reported throughout the ZFB including the Izeh zone (Sherkati and Letouzey, 2004; Sherkati et al., 2006), the Lorestan (Blanc et al., 2003) and the south-eastern Fars (Molinaro et al., 2005a).

In one way or another, cross-sections crossing the Zagros incorporate both thin-skinned and thick-skinned structures to interpret the observations (Fig. 2), although an alternative thin-skinned structural interpretation has been proposed for the geometry and kinematics of the ZFB (McQuarrie, 2004). In this interpretation the structural relief associated with the Mountain Front Fault is attributed to the accumulation of the Hormuz salt e.g., beneath the Pusht-e Kuh arc front. However, it has been shown that structural models making the Hormuz evaporitic layer the main basal décollement is unlikely to maintain the regional topography (Mouthereau et al., 2006).

Attempts to accurately determine the centroid depths of waveform-modeled earthquakes locate the main events in the upper part of the crust (Talebian and Jackson, 2004; Tatar et al., 2004). A noticeable advance on this question has been brought by the reappraisal of the seismicity distribution in the SE Zagros associated with the 2006 sequence of Fin earthquakes (Mw 5.7, 5.5, 5.2, 5.0, 4.9) (Roustaei et al., 2010) and the two events (Mw 5.8, 5.9) that occurred in the Queshm island (Nissen et al., 2010). These studies reveal that the main rupture occurred in the competent cover with reverse slip restricted between about 4 and 10 km but



failed to propagate across the Hormuz salt, producing a cluster of aftershocks in the crystalline basement (10–30 km; Roustaei et al., 2010). A more regional re-appraisal suggests that the basement is less seismogenically active and may deform by aseismic creep (Nissen et al., 2011). This may reveal that the basement is rheologically stronger than the cover and therefore does not contradict the long-term involvement of the basement in deformation. Seismogenic basement deformation in the central Zagros appears localized across the Mountain Front Fault and the Surmeh Fault (Fig. 2). This localized, active, deformation in the upper brittle crust may root at depth into mostly aseismic ductile shear zones at lower crustal levels (Fig. 2).

The above constraints support the proposed structural crosssections of the Zagros in which the long-term shortening is achieved by superimposed cover folding above the décollement in the Hormuz salt that is cut occasionally by active basement thrusts (Blanc et al., 2003; Emami et al., 2010; Molinaro et al., 2005a; Mouthereau et al., 2007b; Sherkati and Letouzey, 2004; Sherkati et al., 2006).

4. Cenozoic deformation history of the Zagros collision

4.1. Temporal constraints on the onset of Arabia-Eurasia collision

The age for initiation of the Arabia–Eurasia collision has been constrained between ~64 Ma (Berberian and King, 1981), using the end of ophiolite obduction, and ~5 Ma using the angular unconformity between Bakhtyari conglomerates and the underlying Agha-Jari Formation (Falcon, 1974a,b). None of these approaches provides a date for the first time Arabian and Eurasian continental crusts came into contact in response to convergence.

Arabia–Eurasia paleotectonic maps indicate that collision should occur during Miocene times (Barrier and Vrielynck, 2008; McQuarrie et al., 2003) in agreement with the progressive closure of the Mediterranean–Indian water gate (Reuter et al., 2009). This timing is consistent with the geological evidence of the final closure of the Neo-Tethyan ocean between Arabia and Eurasia at ~20 Ma in the Bitlis suture, to the NW of the Zagros (Okay et al., 2010). In the High Zagros, the emplacement of the gabbroic Tah intrusion (Rb–Sr age of ~34 Ma) of the Gaveh-Rud domain (upper plate, southern SSZ), before the deposition of the ~20–18 Ma Asmari Formation provided a consistent age for the onset of the collision (Fig. 3; Agard et al., 2005; Braud, 1987; Leterrier, 1985).

One large geodynamic event in the Zagros basin was recorded by the initiation of foreland basin subsidence caused by the Arabian plate deflection. The deposition of Shahbazan carbonates at ~34 Ma (Homke et al., 2009) in the NW Zagros outlines the onset of subsidence in the Zagros basin, which may be related to the preliminary stage of the plate flexure (Fig. 3). This event is not recorded in the Fars region likely because only the proximal part of the margin is preserved (Mouthereau et al., 2007b). As depicted in Fig. 3, the deposition of the shallow-marine Asmari carbonates, unconformably overlying the older Shahbazan or Jahrom Formation to the north (Homke et al., 2009) and the younging of the Asmari Formation forelandward (James and Wynd, 1965) argue for the migration of basin depocenters with the propagation of thrust loading (Mouthereau et al., 2007b). The reappraisal of the sedimentology and stratigraphy of the Asmari Formation reached the same conclusion; the Asmari Formation is syn-collisional and deposited in a flexural basin (van Buchem et al., 2010). The Asmari Formation has been dated to the middle-early Miocene (~20–18 Ma) using $^{87}\mathrm{Sr}/^{86}\mathrm{Sr}$ isotopic dating in the Dezful embayment (Ehrenberg et al., 2007) and in the Lorestan arc (Saura et al., 2011), which therefore provides a date for the onset of the collision. This interpretation is consistent with the onset of coarse-grained deposition in foreland succession at ~23 Ma in the High Zagros (Fakhari et al., 2008), at ~15 Ma in the ZFB (Khadivi et al., 2010) and at 13.5 Ma in the SE Lorestan region (Emami, 2008). The early Miocene coincides with the increase in sediment clastics influx from the growing orogen, e.g., the Razak Formation dated at 19.7 Ma (Khadivi et al., 2010). A detrital AFT cooling age of 25 Ma, reported in the 19.7 Ma Razak Fm (Khadivi et al., 2012) of the central Zagros, points to the onset of exhumation in the early Miocene (Fig. 3). This could have resulted from thrust motion during the plate suturing in the Zagros between 34 Ma and 20 Ma (Agard et al., 2005; Braud, 1987).

Petrographic constraints indicate that magmatic rocks behind the UDMA recorded the transition from post-collisional calc-alkaline to alkaline volcanism, between 30 and 23 Ma, according to new zircon U/Pb dates (Aghazadeh et al., 2011). In the Alborz, Guest et al. (2007) documented basalts, in the Qom Formation, with Ar/Ar wholerock age of ~33 Ma. Geochemistry of these basalts shows an OIB trace element signature whereas a gabbro dated at ~37 Ma (Ar/ Ar on biotite) has an arc signature (Verdel et al., 2011). The demise of arc-related magmatism in Central Iran, during the late Eoceneearly Oligocene, was taken to indicate the timing of the collision with Arabia (e.g., Allen and Armstrong, 2008; Ballato et al., 2011; Vincent et al., 2005). Low-temperature thermochronology and provenance studies in the Western Great Caucasus have consistently pointed to an early Oligocene age for the final closure of the Neotethys (Vincent et al., 2007). The 34-23 Ma interval is contemporaneous with the onset of inversion of Paleocene-Eocene backarc extensional basins of central Iran (Ballato et al., 2011; Morley et al., 2009). Taken together these data confirm that the active subduction of the Arabian slab ceased in the early Oligocene contemporaneous with the initiation of SW slab retreat and the transition to collision in the Zagros.

In summary, constraints on the timing of Neo-Tethyan ocean consumption, Zagros sediment provenance and stratigraphy as well as the age of arc-related magmatism in the Iranian microplate support initiation of the collision at 34 Ma with the final closure of the Neo-Tethys at 20 Ma (Fig. 3). Such a long transitional period is interpreted to reflect the switch from underthrusting of the stretched Arabia continental margin to the initiation of crustal thickening of the unstretched portion of the Arabian lithosphere (Ballato et al., 2011; Mouthereau, 2011).

4.2. Timing of folding: dating of growth strata in the Zagros folded belt

The timing of folding in the Zagros has been originally associated with the coarse-grained deposits of the Bakhtyari Formation unconformably overlying Agha Jari Formation and older sedimentary units (Falcon, 1974a,b; James and Wynd, 1965; Stocklin, 1968). This led to assign a late Pliocene or younger age for the onset of deformation. Field evidence for more complex relationships between the conglomeratic deposition and folding (Fakhari et al., 1977; Fakhari et al., 2008; Khadivi et al., 2010; Mouthereau et al., 2007a,b) argued for the need to gain more accurate stratigraphic constraints.

Accurate dating of deformation in fold-thrust belts requires the preservation of coeval tectonic/stratigraphic relationships such as growth strata geometries (Fig. 5). While such geometries can be inferred in the Zagros either in the field or on seismic lines only few good field sections have been dated by magnetostratigraphy (Homke et al., 2004; Khadivi et al., 2010). Homke et al. (2004) were

Fig. 4. Tomographic results in the Middle East shown as vertical cross-section maps in the NW Zagros and central Zagros. A) Location of cross-sections. B) Distribution of a high velocity zone depicting underthrusted Arabian lithosphere after Simmons et al. (2011). C) Cross-sections in NW and central Zagros obtained by joint inversion tomography after Chang et al. (2010). D) –Cross-section across the NW Zagros obtained by joint inversion tomography after Vergés et al. (2011a,b). E) Cross-section in central Zagros showing the underthrusted Arabian slab, obtained after Simmons et al. (2011). F) Interpretation sketch based above tomography data and receiver function for the crustal thickness (Paul et al., 2006, 2010). They consistently show a steep slab in NW Zagros whereas a flat subduction in central Zagros is depicted, thus indicating the underthrusting of the Arabian margin. Abbreviations: ZFB (Zagros Folded Belt); SSZ (Sanandaj-Sirjan Zone); UDMA (Urumieh Dokhtar Magmatic Arc); and CD (Central Domain).

the first to conduct magnetostratigraphic studies of pre-growth strata (few tens of meters of Gashsaran Fm, and 800 m of fluvial Agha Jari Fm.) and growth strata (1200 m of fluvial Agha Jari Fm and Bakhtyari alluvial Fm.) at the front of the Pusht-e Kuh arc (Anaran anticline), along the Changuleh growth syncline, an area positioned between 200 m and 500 m above sea level (Fig. 2). This work provided constraints on the timing of folding at 7.6 Ma and Mountain Front Fault (MFF) uplift at 2.5 Ma (Fig. 3). In order to yield constraints closer to the High Zagros, a second section was dated by magnetostratigraphy in the northern flank of the Chahar-Makan syncline at an altitude of ~2500 m, 20 km to the NW of Shiraz, in the North of the Fars arc and just south of the inferred position of the High Zagros Fault (Fig. 5). The pre-growth is characterized by 500 m-thick Razak coastal sabkha deposits dated at 19.7 Ma and 400 m-thick Agha Jari deltaic sandstones dated at16.6 Ma. The growth patterns in the alluvial conglomerates of Bakhtyari 1 reveal a minimum age for the initiation of folding of 14.8 Ma (Khadivi et al., 2010). Interestingly, the Bakhtyari 1 (Bk1) of the Chahar-Makan syncline has subsequently been folded during the development of the Derak anticline in the south. The folding event is outlined by one angular unconformity between Bk1 and the slightly N-dipping conglomeratic layers of the Bakhtyari 2 Formation (Fig. 5). The top of the folded Bakhtyari 1 conglomerates can be dated at ~12.4 Ma by extrapolating accumulation rates. This second event of folding has been tentatively correlated from fold to fold across the entire Fars area, thus arguing for a rapid phase of fold amplification at 10–5 Ma (Mouthereau et al., 2007b), but this obviously

needs to be confirmed by more direct datings. A phase of fold tightening at ~2–3 Ma has also been inferred based on the approximate age of the youngest flat-lying Bakhtyari conglomerates (Mouthereau et al., 2007b), which are lying unconformably in most parts of the Zagros and fit with the original definition of the Bakhtyari Formation (Falcon, 1974a,b; James and Wynd, 1965; Stocklin, 1968).

Magnetostratigraphic dating in the Chaman-Goli syncline, in the hangingwall of the HZF (Izeh Zone), yielded a slightly younger age of 11 Ma for possible growth units at the Agha Jari/Bakhtyari transition (Emami, 2008). Biostratigraphic dating of growth strata in the Amiran basin in NW Zagros (Lorestan) yielded a Maastrichtian age for the oldest folding event (Saura et al., 2011) in relation to obduction.

It is apparent from tectonic/stratigraphic relationships that the main phase of folding in the ZFB occurred after ca. 12 Ma. Since then, the tightening of folds and the interactions with basement fault-ing likely resulted in a complex sequence of folding, including out-of-sequence deformation.

4.3. Relative timing between cover and basement deformation in the ZFB

The relative timing between cover folding and basement shortening in the ZFB is worth to be studied since it reflects the evolution of collisional stress build-up and provides constraints on the sequence of deformation and topographic evolution. The current debate focuses on whether shortening in the basement occurred first and was later



Fig. 5. Examples of growth strata in the northern ZFB and at the mountain front. A) Growth strata geometry on the northern flank of the Derak anticline (northern ZFB, Fars region). The base of the growth strata has been dated to ~15 Ma by magnetostratigraphy (Khadivi et al., 2010). B) Satellite image of the Changuleh growth syncline (GoogleEarth©) at the southern front of the Zagros belt. The base of these growth strata has been dated to 8.1–7.2 Ma by magnetostratigraphy (Homke et al., 2004).

transmitted to the cover, or occurred afterwards. Alternatively, both cover and basement deformation may occur contemporaneously.

Local variations of subsidence, lithofacies, and disconformities in Miocene foreland deposits outline the segmentation of foreland subsidence patterns in the ZFB. In the Fars, the inhomogeneous pattern of Miocene sediment thickness (Fars Group) coincides with the occurrence of NW-trending depocenters that are related to basement block faulting. Together with field evidence for the pinching out of sedimentary markers (Guri limestones) in the vicinity of an inferred basement strike-slip fault (Mouthereau et al., 2007a,b), these constraints support tectonic inversion of the rifted continental basement at 16–11 Ma (Mouthereau et al., 2006). The analysis of the early fracture pattern and basin architecture at the time of or immediately following deposition of the Asmari Formation (Ahmadhadi et al., 2007; Ahmadhadi et al., 2008) also supports the occurrence of early compressional reactivation of basement faults within the Zagros before significant involvement of the cover.

Such an interpretation might not be valid along the strike of the ZFB especially in regions where salt diapirism has been particularly active such like the SE Fars area (e.g., Jahani et al., 2009). In the High Zagros, the early development of basement faulting during the Paleocene-early Eocene is indicated by the 1.3-km basement uplift, which controlled the geometry of deposition of the Amiran-Kashkan sequences (Homke et al., 2009) (Fig. 3). On the other hand, there are numerous structural arguments that active basement faulting cut across the original fold geometry, indicating that basement-involved shortening also postdates cover folding (Casciello et al., 2009; Molinaro et al., 2005a,b; Mouthereau et al., 2007b). Stratigraphic constraints available at the front of the Pusht-e Kuh arc place the initiation of basement faults along the Mountain Front Flexure at 5.5 Ma, thus postdating the initiation of cover folding in this region (Emami et al., 2010). The same timing is proposed in the SE Fars (Molinaro et al., 2005a). The late stage of basement strike-slip faulting that resulted in the offset of cover fold axes in the Central ZFB likely initiated during the Pliocene (2-5 Ma), as inferred from Quaternary slip rates along the Kazerun Fault (Authemayou et al., 2006, 2009).

The current seismicity and GPS data provide evidence for both deep-seated basement and cover are actively deforming Based on evidence that basement faulting occurred before and after folding, or synchronously as inferred from present-day deformation and faulting, we speculate the ZFB evolved as a superimposed thin-skinned and thick-skinned fold-thrust belt. As in many fold belts characterized by weak basement-cover interface, the deformation in the basement occurs in the hinterland and is transferred towards the foreland in the cover system (see restored section for Lorestan in Vergés et al., 2011b). The resulting cover shortening was therefore achieved through a combination of detachment folds and forced folds (i.e., folds forced by slip along underlying basement faults) (Abdollahie et al., 2006; Blanc et al., 2003; Mouthereau et al., 2007b; Oveisi et al., 2009; Ramsey et al., 2008; Sattarzadeh et al., 2000). The sequence between the superimposed structural levels was probably dependent on many controlling factors such as the tectonic inheritance and the feedback with sedimentation/erosion pattern.

4.4. Timing of folding and thrusting in the High Zagros

Here, we focus on the timing of deformation in the High Zagros, structurally below the MZT and the plate suture. In this part of the Zagros, the timing of shortening is not well constrained mainly due to the lack of syntectonic Cenozoic series. The presence of Oligo-Miocene limestones unconformably overlying folded Mesozoic strata reveals that folding, uplift and erosion occurred before deformation developed in the ZFB, as early as the Eocene (Khadivi et al., 2012), following a classical forward-propagating sequence as noticed by Hessami et al. (2001). As pointed out earlier, this is in agreement

with evidence of Paleocene–early Eocene deformation sealed by Kashkan Formation (Homke et al., 2009) in NW Zagros (Fig. 3). The coarse-grained Shalamzar Bakhtyari Formation with intercalated fossiliferous marine deposits unconformably overlies the folded Razak, Agha Jari and non-marine Bakhtyari formations in the hangingwall of the MZT (Figs. 2 and 3). The biostratigraphic dating yields an early Miocene age (Aquitanian ~20–23 Ma) for the onset of folding (Fakhari et al., 2008).

Apatite (U–Th)/He (AHe) thermochronology data across the Lajin and the Dinar thrusts of the High Zagros indicates that thrusting occurred between 19 and 15 Ma and 12 and 8 Ma, respectively (Gavillot et al., 2010). Similar AHe ages of 19–15 Ma were recovered from the Bakhtyari conglomerates dated by Fakhari et al. (2008) in the footwall of the MZT. Because these conglomerates are essentially made with clasts originated from the hangingwall of the MZT there is no doubt that the fault was active by early Miocene times at ~20–23 Ma. The early Miocene (Oligocene?) emplacement of the MZT is supported by the overthrusting of the Cretaceous limestones over Eocene and Miocene sediments of the High Zagros (Khadivi et al., 2012). It is also confirmed by the structural position of the SSZ units on top of Miocene flysch units in the High Zagros near Kermanshah (Agard et al., 2005).

To summarize, deformation propagated as a typical outward sequence from the HZ in the Eocene to the inner ZFB in the middle Miocene (20–8 Ma). In contrast, within the ZFB, folding/thrusting propagated rapidly throughout the width of the range at 12–5 Ma, leading to an apparent synchronicity between cover and basement deformation, although the current shortening is mainly absorbed across the most frontal folds (Oveisi et al., 2009; Walpersdorf et al., 2006).

5. Cenozoic uplift and exhumation history of the Zagros collision

5.1. Syn-collisional and pre-orogenic cooling and exhumational events in the Zagros: low-temperature thermochronologic constraints

A few thermochronometric data have provided insights on the cooling history in the Zagros (Fig. 3). Detrital apatite fission-track thermochronology carried out on Miocene foreland sedimentary rocks of the Zagros Folded Belt documents a regional cooling event ranging between 25 Ma in the northern Fars region (Razak Fm deposited at 19.7 Ma in Chahar-Makan syncline; Khadivi et al., 2012) and 22 Ma in the Lorestan (Lower Agha Jari Fm dated at 12.8 Ma in the Zarrinabad syncline; Homke et al., 2010). Taking into account a closure temperature of 110 °C and assuming a geotherm of 15–24 °C/km (Gavillot et al., 2010; Homke et al., 2010; Mouthereau et al., 2006), one estimates that roughly 4.5–7 km were exhumed since the early Miocene. Based on pre-collisional zircon (U–Th)/He ages (Tc~180 °C) a consistent maximum exhumation of 7–9 km in the High Zagros is inferred (Gavillot et al., 2010).

A petrographic and provenance analysis of early-middle Miocene rocks suggests that such a Miocene cooling event most likely resulted from uplift and erosion in the hangingwall of the MZT. This is supported by an AFT cooling age of 27 Ma reported from a gneiss sample of the Dorud metamorphic complex of the SSZ (Homke et al., 2010). Moreover, petrographic studies in sediments deposited at this time support the erosion of the radiolaritic and ultramafic complex, thus indicating deformation in the High Zagros and more generally the exhumation of the suture zone near the Main Zagros Thrust. Such a thrust sequence is consistent with apatite (U–Th)/He ages-elevation profile in the Lajin thrust, which provided evidence for a rapid cooling event between 19 Ma and 15 Ma (Gavillot et al, 2010) in the High Zagros. This result matches the inferred exhumation in southern SSZ and folding in the northern ZFB. In the Crush Zone (Kermanshah), unpublished AHe data suggest burial between 16 and 12 Ma

exhumation by deep-seated imbricate thrusts (underplating) at 12 Ma (Wrobel-Daveau et al., 2011).

Among AFT grain ages recovered from the foreland sedimentary rocks, both Jurassic to Early Cretaceous cooling ages are well defined across the foreland regions (Homke et al., 2010; Khadivi et al., 2012). These ages reveal the long-term magmatic evolution during the early subduction of the Neo-Tethyan slab beneath the SSZ. Paleocene–Eocene cooling ages are consistent with the well-defined episode of extensional magmatic flare-up in Central Iran, which lasted from 55 Ma to 37 Ma (Berberian and Berberian, 1981; Berberian and King, 1981; Verdel et al., 2011).

The preservation of Mesozoic, Eocene or early Miocene cooling ages allows a rough estimate of the maximum exhumation in the ZFB. Based on the reconstructed total thickness of the synorogenic Miocene sediments, a maximum exhumation of 2.5 km can be inferred (Khadivi et al., 2012), yielding exhumation rates of 0.2 km/ Myr if an age of 12.4 Ma is assumed for the onset of regional-scale folding.

To summarize, detrital thermochronologic analyses in the Miocene– Pliocene sedimentary rocks of the Zagros foreland show a main syncollisional exhumational event in the hinterland at ~25 Ma in the SSZ (Fig. 3). SSZ units, characterized by Mesozoic and Paleocene–Eocene apatite fission-track cooling ages, therefore came into contact with the Arabian margin as soon as 19.7 Ma, thus providing constraints on the age of the collision. At ~12 Ma, exhumation that resulted from the southward propagation of deformation in the ZFB occurred in agreement with reset AHe ages found in the Crush Zone (Wrobel-Daveau et al., 2011). This date would provide additional constraints on the time at which the Arabian margin stopped underthrusting below central Iran and started to thicken, building the Zagros orogenic wedge in front of the Iranian plateau.

5.2. Temporal constraints on uplift of the Zagros belt and some implications

The timing of Zagros uplift is primarily constrained by the age of the youngest marine sediments dated in Iran. In this respect, the gradual transition from marine sedimentation to non-marine coarse-grained deposits in nearshore fan deltas reveals that until ~15 Ma the northern Zagros Folded Belt was close to sea-level (Khadivi et al., 2010). This is consistent with the age of the last marine limestones in the Zagros and the Iranian Plateau dated to the Burdigalian (15.9–20.4 Ma) (Harzhauser et al., 2007; Schuster and Wielandt, 1999). The unconformity between folded Bakhtyari 1 conglomerates and the flat-lying Bakhtyari 2 conglomerates in the northern ZFB (Fars) is roughly dated to 12.4 Ma by extrapolating accumulation rates from magnetostratigraphic dating (Fig. 5). This angular unconformity outlines a tectonic episode that could indicate an episode of uplift after which the Zagros rose to a maximum altitude of ~2 km.

AFT cooling ages (Tc~110 °C) obtained from detrital fission-track analysis in foreland sediments ranging between 19.7 Ma (Khadivi et al., 2010) and 3 Ma (Homke et al., 2010) show a lack of grains younger than ~20 Ma. Abundant older pre-collisional Eocene and to less extent Mesozoic grain-age populations instead reveal a moderate exhumation. Only thermochronometers with lower closure temperature like (U–Th)/He on apatites (Tc~70 °C) are able to detect cooling events during the Late Miocene (12–8 Ma) in association with the High Zagros Fault (e.g., Dinar thrust; Gavillot et al., 2010) and exhumational AHe age pattern in the NW Zagros after 12 Ma (Wrobel-Daveau et al., 2011).

Clay mineralogy and sedimentology of the synorogenic deposits both emphasize that climate was chiefly warm and dry with no marked changes between 19.7 Ma and 13.8 Ma in the northern Zagros (Khadivi et al., 2012). The widening of the Zagros–Iranian Plateau through the development of new thrusts or folds at 12.4 Ma, in the Zagros, was likely favored by the imbalance between the limited erosion under the prevailing dry conditions and tectonics. The development of internally drained areas in the northern Zagros–Iranian Plateau region (Khadivi et al., 2012; Mouthereau et al., 2007; Walker et al., 2011) likely reduced the erosional capacity within channels by disconnecting streams from a stable regional base level (e.g., Sobel et al., 2003). This prevented the establishment of a positive feedback between tectonics and erosion and therefore facilitated Zagros uplift and plateau expansion. In this aspect, the Zagros may be viewed as an example of accretionary wedge that has not reached a topographic steady-state in the sense of Willett and Brandon (2002).

5.3. Fold development and evolution of drainage networks

To date a limited number of studies emphasized how fold morphology developed in the Zagros. Here, we discuss first-order constraints on the mechanisms and timing of fold-related drainage network development.

Drainage pattern in the Dezful area of the Zagros folded belt is characterized by spectacular river gorges cutting through Mesozoic and mid-Tertiary limestones along streams transverse to fold axis (Fig. 6). This pattern has originally been studied by Oberlander (1985) who proposed that such transverse streams resulted from the superposition of the planform geometry of continuous rivers that primarily developed in soft sediments and secondarily cut through exhuming resistant Mesozoic and mid-Tertiary limestones. By contrast, in the Fars region, rivers do not follow a simple southflowing course across the folded belt, as transverse rivers have a course shorter than axial rivers (Fig. 6). Such a drainage pattern strongly suggests that rivers cannot keep pace with fold uplift as the stream power is not sufficient to incise the resistant Mesozoic limestones (Mouthereau et al., 2007b; Ramsey et al., 2008). The course of transverse rivers has been dammed and deviated by rapidly uplifted folds forcing rivers to flow axially. In the northern Fars, the river network appears to be also controlled by the differential uplift and tilting of the regional base level. There, most rivers are forced to flow eastwards parallel to fold axis not only due to lateral lengthening of folds during their growth (Ramsey et al., 2008) but also in relation with deformation along a set of oblique transpressive ridges: the Surmeh-Karebass and the Sabz-Pushan faults segments. In the central Fars, flat intermontane depressions form pounded areas filled by Quaternary sediments (e.g., Walker et al., 2011). These features appear characteristics of the plateau expansion into the Zagros belt (Khadivi et al., 2012). The lengthening and merging of forced folds promote river captures and provide a mechanism for increasing the river stream power at the origin of the observed transverse course of the Mand river (Ramsey et al., 2008). Oveisi et al. (2009) interestingly noticed, based on the analysis of river profiles that the most recent active uplift was not related to major active basement faults such as the MFF or Surmeh Fault but at distance from them. This suggests that erosion is currently mostly related to active thin-skinned deformation in this area.

A long term evolution of the drainage system in the northern part of the central Zagros has been proposed based on combined petrographic and detrital apatite FT thermochronometry study (Khadivi et al., 2012). This study showed that the Miocene sedimentary rocks were mainly sourced by the obducted ophiolitic complexes. This implies that this portion of the foreland was connected upstream, by transverse streams, to the High Zagros before ca. 15 Ma. The current river network, however, is no more drained by the HZ region where ophiolitic units are cropping out. This could be explained by the adjustment of river courses to the development of folding in the past 15 Myr. The south-westwards propagation of deformation caused by the widening of the Zagros–Iranian Plateau region likely after 12.4 Ma was probably too rapid for rivers to keep pace with fold uplift, hence preventing incision by antecedence or superposition. In the Lorestan,

A) Current fold/stream relationships



B) Drainage reorganisation from transverse to axial river network



Fig. 6. Main drainage basins and river networks of the Zagros folded belt.A) The Rud-e Karun catchment of the Lorestan region appears dominated by transverse rivers (152,000 km²) and is characterized by river gorges cutting through anticlines. By constrast, the Rud-e Mand catchment of the Fars region (80,000 km²) is characterized by axial rivers. B) Temporal constraints on the reorganization of the river network in the Fars arc from transverse to axial, in association with the elongation of folds and regional uplift after Khadivi et al. (2012).

the lower Agha Jari fluvial system flowed longitudinally in the foreland depression towards the ancestral Persian Gulf before being uplifted above the Mountain Frontal Flexure in latest Miocene times (Vergés, 2007). The uplift of this large region produced the shift of the Agha Jari fluvial system to the SW (close to the present position of Tigris and Euphrates rivers) and the fluvial incision during the Pliocene.

6. Crustal rheology, mechanics of folding and the building of Zagros topography

6.1. Mechanics of Zagros folding

6.1.1. Buckling versus fault-related folding

Understanding better the fold mechanics and kinematics is of particular interest in the Zagros where several giant oil and gas fields are trapped within these structures in carbonate reservoir rocks. Zagros folding was originally interpreted as detachment folds (Colman-Sadd, 1978). Recent field studies and seismic profiling have shed new lights on the structure of folds and in particular to which levels these folds are associated to thrust ramps. In the Dezful domain, shallow thrustrelated folds are likely caused by an intermediate level of decoupling in the evaporitic horizon of the Miocene Gashsaran Formation, the so-called "Upper Mobile Group" (Casciello et al., 2009; O'Brien, 1957; Sherkati and Letouzey, 2004; Sherkati et al., 2006; Vergés et al., 2011a) or in the Mishan Formation in the southernmost Fars (Molinaro et al., 2004, 2005a,b). The presence of intermediate incompetent layers within the sedimentary succession and their control on folding style have been discussed by different authors (Blanc et al., 2003; Sepehr and Cosgrove, 2004; Sherkati and Letouzev, 2004). Short wavelength anticlines in the Oligo-Miocene Asmari Formation in the Izeh zone indicate that Pabdeh and Gurpi formations are efficient intermediate décollement levels in this area. In the southeast of the Izeh zone and parts of the northeast Dezful Embayment this role is played by the Albian shales of the Kazhdumi Formation (Sherkati et al., 2005). In this region, seismic profiles give evidence for reverse faults, cutting through the folded Jurassic Surmeh Formation (Carruba et al., 2006; Sherkati and Letouzey, 2004) implying a basal detachment in deeper structural levels, most likely in the Hormuz Formation. These faults, where imaged, are always steeps and characterized by limited displacements. In the Lorestan region, the multiple detachment folding exhibits a broad variety of fold wavelengths ranging from about 4 to 16 km with few of them reaching ~40 km (Casciello et al., 2009; Farzipour-Saein et al., 2009; Vergés et al., 2011a). The Pusht-e Kuh arc (Figs. 1 and 2) also shows areas in which the Asmari folds display small wavelengths. These are attributed to the lateral increase in the thickness of the Amiran succession up to 1000 m, interpreted as a main incompetent unit (Casciello et al., 2009).

The largest and most typical symmetric or slightly asymmetric detachment folds are observed in the Fars arc. There, one major issue is whether cover folding resulted primarily from the growth of buckle folds, e.g., symmetric/asymmetric detachment folds (e.g., Schmalholz et al., 2002; Mitra, 2003) or from thrust-related folding. Few available seismic reflection profiles (Jahani et al., 2009) helped by outcrop-scale observations suggest that folding is not linked to major thrust ramps in this region cutting through the cover, except where active basement faults have been inferred (Fig. 2). In this region, folding is characterized by regular, quasi-periodic folds with a peak wavelength ranging between 14 ± 3 km and 16 ± 5 km (Molinaro et al., 2005a,b; Mouthereau et al., 2007b; Yamato et al., 2011) with axial lengths sometimes larger than 100 km.

This suggests that buckling of the sedimentary rocks is the primary mode of fold development in the central Fars. This type of folding requires significant thickness and competency contrasts to grow. However, these parameters have rarely been quantitatively investigated. As noticed by Mouthereau et al. (2007b) the observed fold wavelengths are not compatible with simple elastic or viscous models of growing buckle fold instabilities. A key observation that may resolve this issue lies on the existence of mechanical stratigraphy, which defines a vertical rheological layering of the sediment cover. Indeed, the presence of intermediate weak horizons e.g., the Triassic–Permian evaporitic layers (Dashtak, Kangan, Dalan or Faraghan formations), the Upper Jurassic evaporitic Hith Formation or the Upper Cretaceous Kazhdumi shales together can act to reduce the effective viscosity of the sediment cover (Fig. 7). A new set of viscoelasto-plastic numerical models, accounting for the fine-scale rheological stratification have therefore been carried out (Yamato et al., 2011). The model assumes a viscous power-law overburden resting on top of a linear viscous salt layer. Numerical simulations show that the addition of weak layers is sufficient to build detachment folds with the observed wavelengths. The best fitting rheological parameters are a viscosity of 10¹⁸ Pa s for evaporitic intervals, and an average low friction angle of 5°. The model further indicates a total shortening of 11% to 17.5% consistent with shortening reported in the Zagros (Alavi, 2007; Blanc et al., 2003; Carruba et al., 2006; McQuarrie, 2004; Molinaro et al., 2005a,b; Mouthereau et al., 2007a, b; Sherkati et al., 2006; Vergés et al., 2011b). Without such intermediate weak layers an unrealistically thick salt layer of about 8 km would be needed to develop the folds. The lack of large-scale thrust ramps associated with folding is particularly striking and is directly related to the addition of these intermediate weak layers. However, as predicted by numerical modeling, faulting may occur between intermediate weak layers consistently with the occurrence of cover earthquakes between intermediate décollement levels (Nissen et al., 2011). This model therefore provides a mechanical understanding of the lateral changes from fault-dominated to fold-dominated style of deformation in the Zagros and in fold-thrust belts more generally. In this aspect, the Zagros Mountains differ from other salt-based foldand-thrust belts such as the Jura Mountains, where large-offset faults are continuous across the stratigraphic sequence (Simpson, 2009).

The model confirms that buckling is a mechanically viable process to build the symmetric folds in the Zagros. In the Fars region, it supports the observation of limited deformation gradient across the belt, as confirmed by the regionally constant peak differential stresses value recorded by folded limestone formations $(40 \pm 15 \text{ MPa};$ Lacombe et al., 2007). Furthermore, this model places new bounds for the timing at which folding may form indicating that all folds may have developed coevally over the entire ZFB in 5.5 Myr, though this result needs further confirmation. However, we notice that such timing does not account for the interactions between cover and basement deformation, which may have modified from time to time the rate of deformation. We anticipate that folding could have started earlier. Additional stratigraphic constraints, especially at the southern deformation front are, however, needed to confirm this hypothesis.

6.1.2. Brittle deformation and Zagros folding

Fold-related fractures have originally been interpreted according to the structural domains of the fold in which they were observed (e.g., Bergbauer and Pollard, 2004; Erslev and Mayborn, 1997; Fischer et al., 1992; McQuillan, 1974; Srivastava and Engelder, 1990). In the view of using chronology of fracture sets, fracture patterns were related to fold kinematics (Anastasio et al., 1997; Bellahsen et al., 2006; Casini et al., 2011; Couzens and Dunne, 1994; Sanderson, 1982; Storti and Salvini, 2001; Tavani et al., 2006) and have been considered of key importance in the Zagros.

The Asmari Formation is an Oligocene–Early Miocene platform carbonate which is the most prolific oil reservoir in Iran and it is commonly regarded as a classic fractured carbonate reservoir, with production properties that depend strongly on the existence of fracture networks (e.g.,Stephenson et al., 2007). In the Zagros, fracture studies were mainly reported from the Dezful, Izeh Zone and Lorestan areas. Some studies focused on the description of fracture sets within single anticlines, while others investigated fracture sets on a regional point of view. McQuillan (1973, 1974) demonstrated that many (if not all) regional fracture sets bear no relation to the geometry of folds formed during the Mio-Pliocene Zagros orogeny. This was later challenged by Gholipour (1998) who described that fractures in the Asmari reservoirs are associated with vertical and axial growth of concentric folding and therefore that they are mostly fold-related. In other places from the Dezful, both networks of diffuse fractures and



Fig. 7. Possible operating mechanisms of shortening in the cover and basement and the Zagros mountain building. A) Observed wavelength components of the topography showing the superimposition of regional topography (crustal deformation) and local fold topography (folding), modified after Mouthereau et al. (2006). B) Principles of the crustal-scale orogenic wedge modeling of the regional topography (topographic slope <0.5°), modified after Mouthereau et al. (2006). C) Mechanism of shortening for the cover as inferred from numerical modeling (Yamato et al., 2011). Note the plastic/brittle shear zones in competent layers. The interpretative sketch shows the relationships between seismogenic deformation, crustal strength, main decoupling levels and the topography in the Zagros orogenic wedge.

fracture swarms (corridors) were recognized. In the Khaviz anticline, Wennberg et al. (2007) diffuse fractures fall into classical bedperpendicular fold-related fractures sets. The density and height of these fractures in the Asmari Fm are controlled by the mechanical stratigraphy. In the Kuh-e Pahn anticline, fracture corridors striking parallel to the fold axis were interpreted as fold-related, but other well-developed fracture corridors recognized from satellite imagery, clearly spatially unrelated to the detachment folding of the cover series, were interpreted as the distributed effect of deep-seated basement fault reactivation (Stephenson et al., 2007). Ahmadhadi et al. (2008) combined field structural observations and aerial/satellite image interpretation on several anticlines to propose a tectonic model highlighting the widespread development of pre-folding veins and other extensional micro/meso-structures in the Central Zagros folded belt. Most joints/veins affecting the Asmari formation were found to predate the main folding episode. These early formed veins were reactivated (reopened and/or sheared) during Mio-Pliocene cover folding.

In the Fars, Mobasher and Babaie (2008) used remote sensing to analyze large-scale fracture systems and to relate them to either folding or strike-slip faulting along the Kazerun fault. A more recent study by Lacombe et al. (2011) has focused on a wide region across several anticlines from three structural domains in the Simply Folded Belt. In addition to classical fold-related fractures, these authors identified several pre/early-folding fracture patterns and used them to reconstruct the main compressional trends related to the early Zagros collisional history. The complex pattern of these pre-folding structures and the contrasting paleostress orientations through time in the different domains are related to the kinematics of both N–S and WNW-trending basement faults, above which cover was variably coupled during stress build-up and early deformation of the Arabian margin.

In the Lorestan, a regional analysis of the Cenomanian–Coniacian Sarvak and Ilam formations show pre-, syn- and post-folding fractures (Casini et al., 2011). Pre-folding fracturation consist of synsedimentary normal faults, systematic veins and stylolites. Syn-folding fractures correspond mainly to reactivation of previous fractures developing through-going fractures and reverse faults. Strike-slip faults typically cut through pre- and syn-folding structures and are probably related to fold tightening.

An important finding is that many fracture sets observed in the field are likely related to prefolding tectonics, and that they were later reactivated during folding. Shearing and reopening of preexisting vein/fracture sets appears finally to be a very important mechanism to control the small-scale brittle deformation within cover folds. Another important point is that the transmission of orogenic stress through the faulted crystalline basement of the Zagros was probably heterogeneous and complex, and that early basement block movements may have an impact on fracture development in the cover rocks. All these studies therefore draw attention on the need of carefully consider fractures unrelated to cover folding but likely linked to far-field orogenic stresses or to the distributed effect of deep-seated basement fault reactivation, before or after cover folding, to build more realistic conceptual fold-fracture models in the Zagros.

6.2. Evolution of stress patterns in the Zagros

Authemayou et al. (2006) focused on the Kazerun strike-slip segments, while Lacombe et al. (2006) reconstructed the stress field evolution from the Neogene to the present by means of inversion of fault slip data and earthquake focal mechanisms. Navabpour et al. (2007) reconstructed paleostress regimes in the High Zagros. These studies were completed by the analysis of calcite twin data (Lacombe et al., 2007) and of Anisotropy of Magnetic Susceptibility data (Aubourg et al., 2010; Bakhtari et al., 1998).

In the western Fars, NE–SW and N020° compressional trends were identified during the Neogene and have been tentatively interpreted through different competing models. In the model invoking block rotations (Bakhtari et al., 1998; Lacombe et al., 2006), the apparent change of the compressional trend from NE–SW to N020° through time is related to progressive vertical-axis clockwise rotations of cover blocks in relation to right-lateral wrench deformation accommodated by the Kazerun/Karebass/Sabz Pushan fault system. These rotations are consistent with the clockwise rotations suggested by AMS studies to explain the systematic anticlockwise obliquity between the pre-folding magnetic lineation and the fold axes (e.g., Bakhtari et al., 1998). Unfortunately, available paleomagnetic data show local inconsistent clockwise and anticlockwise rotations and are therefore currently unable to unambiguously support this model

(Aubourg et al., 2008). In this scenario, the compression/shortening direction remained more or less N020° from the middle-late Miocene to present-day in this part of the Zagros. Alternatively, a regional counterclockwise rotation of the regional stress field during the Neogene has also been invoked (Aubourg et al., 2010). AMS data from Paleocene carbonates in the Simply Folded Belt record a N047° LPS during early to middle Miocene, while the middle to late Miocene clastic deposits recorded a N038° LPS prior to and during folding. The Plio-Quaternary paleostress trends are however consistently parallel to the present-day N020° shortening direction. In the absence of any block rotation or regional stress rotation, the early (pre-folding) local paleostress trends which deviate from the N020° trend has also been tentatively related to perturbations induced by underlying basement faults, depending on the domain considered and the degree of coupling between cover and basement above basement faults through the Hormuz salt layer (Lacombe et al., 2011).

In the Lorestan where folds are relatively rectilinear show small or non vertical axis rotation as demonstrated in the Changuleh anticline to the SW of the Mountain Frontal Flexure in which the data show 7° of clockwise rotation, which is within the angular error of the mean (Homke et al., 2004). In the Amiran anticline, center of the Lorestan, the mean direction yielded 351°, with an angular error of 5.9°, which represents a small but statistically significant counterclockwise rotation of 9° (Homke et al., 2009).

Miocene-Pliocene small-scale faulting observed in the cover indicate stress patterns (and regimes) nearly similar to those derived from the inversion of basement earthquakes, especially for the late N020° compression (Lacombe et al., 2006). Both types of data can thus be considered as reflecting the internal deformation of a prefractured crust as a whole (basement + cover), despite the occurrence of the thick Hormuz salt layer at the base of the cover. Regardless local complexities likely related to basement faulting, the N020° compressional trend agrees well with the current compressional trend revealed by inversion of the focal mechanisms of basement (and of few cover) earthquakes. It is also consistent with the geodetic shortening axis (Walpersdorf et al., 2006). This implies that the regional compression was approximately constant in space (across the Zagros collision zone) and time (during the late Neogene), in agreement with the stability of the Arabia-Eurasia convergence over the last 20 Ma (McQuarrie et al., 2003).

A compressional/strike-slip stress regime prevailed in the Zagros during the late Neogene, both in the cover and the basement. This regime accounts for the kinematics of the major faults (Berberian, 1995) and for the combination of strike-slip and thrust-type focal mechanisms of earthquakes whatever their magnitudes and focal depths. To a first-order, both the stress field and the deformation pattern therefore remained unchanged in the Zagros. Long-term AMS, calcite twin and fault slip data and short-term earthquake and GPS data are consistent with the idea that in the Fars, the Arabia–Eurasia convergence has been accommodated by both across-strike shortening and strike-slip faulting throughout the cover and the basement, with a minor component of belt-parallel extension.

It is worth noting that the Hormuz décollement poorly decouples principal stress orientations in the cover and the basement, although the GPS strain rate is much higher than the seismic strain rate (Masson et al., 2004). The present comparison of the stress field above and below the décollement of the still active Zagros belt yields a potential analog for ancient, salt-based fold belts.

A nearly similar conclusion was reached by Navabpour et al. (2008) in the Kermanchah area: stress tensor inversion of the earthquake focal mechanisms highlighted the partitioning in the W-Zagros with a N–S compression parallel to the plate convergence trend along the MRF and a NE–SW compression perpendicular to the fold axes across the ZFB. The integration of the recent compressive stress axes obtained from fault slip and seismic analyses on the shortening strain axes obtained from geodetic calculations revealed different trends for the seismic compressive axis and the geodetic shortening axis, which suggests different degrees of partitioning within the basement and the sedimentary cover. Regardless the differences observed between deformation of the basement and sedimentary cover, the recent compressive stress directions seem to be similar throughout the basement and the sedimentary cover.

6.3. Mechanics of the Zagros orogenic wedge

The mechanics of accretionary wedges and fold-thrust belts can be described to first-order by the critical wedge theory (Chapple, 1978; Dahlen, 1990; Davis et al., 1983; Stockmal et al., 2007). A weak décollement will result in a thin, broad wedge, whereas as a stronger décollement will form a steeper, narrower wedge. The ZFB has been viewed, for years, as a salt-based wedge (Davis and Engelder, 1985) in which the low topographic slopes of less than 1° (Ford, 2004; Mouthereau et al., 2006; Vergés et al., 2011b) reflect the low friction décollement. This interpretation has however been challenged by models showing that alone, such weak basal layer cannot support the topography (Mouthereau et al., 2006). It has been therefore proposed that the origin of the topography of the Zagros would be related to deeper, crustal-scale deformation (Fig. 7), and not solely to thrust imbrications in the sedimentary cover, in agreement with structural observations (Fig. 2). A way to achieve the building of a crustal-scale fold-thrust belt is to assume that the whole crust is sliding over the mostly aseismic lower crust (Nissen et al., 2011), strong enough to resist gravitational forces, that result from the thickening of the Arabian crust and the adjacent Iranian plateau. Indeed, the analysis of the topography shows that the Iranian plateau is currently expanding into the ZFB, as inferred by the plateau-like region in the northern ZFB and High Zagros of the Fars arc (Fig. 7a). This domain is bounded to the south by active deep-seated basement faults, thus forming the inferred critical wedge. A critically tapered wedge approach, applied to the upper brittle crust that is detached in a viscous lower crust, has been carried out and successfully applied. Based on this work, it can be proposed that the southern Zagros resulted from the propagation and stacking of deep-reverse faults rooting at depth into the middle-lower crust. We note that the applicability of the critical wedge approach requires that the internal part of the accretionary prism is at regional failure. This is indicated by the intense microseismicity in the basement (Tatar et al., 2004) and some large earthquakes (Mw~6.7) that ruptured both the cover and the basement (Nissen et al., 2011). With respect to the cover, fewer basement earthquakes indicate that slip occurs on minor faults embedded in a stronger/elastic crust (Fig. 7). The lack of earthquakes in the lower crust, instead, likely reflects the decoupling in the aseismic ductile lower crust. This either reveals ductile shear in viscous lower crust as suggested by modeling or aseismic stable sliding in a brittle lower crust. Here, more studies and modeling are needed to decipher between the two hypotheses. Long-term ductile deformation at lower crustal levels is compatible with deformation of mylonite rocks at high pressure and temperature observed in hinterland of orogens or inferred from interseismic strain associated with major earthquakes (e.g., Bürgmann and Dresen, 2008, for the rheology of the lower crust). We estimate long-term (steady-state) effective viscosities as high as $\sim 5 \times 10^{21}$ Pa s for the viscous lower crust able to sustain the Zagros topography and a 40 km thick deformed Arabian crust.

This model may also apply to the Lorestan area, although the timing of thrusting has probably been different. In the Dezful embayment, thick-skinned deformation is restricted within a narrower domain in the North and associated with a higher topographic slope, which could indicate a stronger basement. We speculate that the orientation of inherited structures in the irregular Arabian margin, coupled with the variable degree of convergence partitioning, could explain the along-strike variations in the wedge shape.

7. Discussion: strain distribution, tectonic model of Zagros mountain building and plate driving forces

7.1. Distribution of shortening across the Zagros and accommodation of Cenozoic Arabia/Eurasia convergence

In the following, we focus on how constraints summarized above may be integrated in the overall evolution of Arabia/Eurasia convergence. A significant effort is made to place quantitative estimates of finite shortening and deformation rates.

7.1.1. Present-day slip rates and finite shortening in the Zagros since 22 Ma

GPS velocities show present-day convergence rates between Arabia and Eurasia of 19–23 mm/yr (McClusky et al., 2003). 7–10 mm/yr are absorbed in the Zagros Folded Belt (Hessami et al., 2006; Nilforoushan et al., 2003; Tatar et al., 2002; Vernant et al., 2004) most of which being accumulated at the Mountain Front Fault of the Fars arc (Oveisi et al., 2009; Walpersdorf et al., 2006).

Long-term shortening derived from balanced cross-sections across the Zagros Folded Belt and the High Zagros account for 50-70 km (Fig. 8; Blanc et al., 2003; McQuarrie, 2004; Molinaro et al., 2005a; Mouthereau et al., 2007b; Sherkati and Letouzey, 2004), which would be achieved in ~5-10 Myr to be consistent with the current shortening rates. A recent re-interpretation of the High Zagros thrust imbricates, in NW Zagros, accounting for the extreme thinning of the distal Arabian margin, led Vergés et al. (2011b) to determine a total shortening of 149 to 180 km across the ZFB since Late Cretaceous times (Fig. 2). Following field observations by Wrobel-Daveau et al. (2010), this interpretation places the true Neo-tethyan oceanic plate suture between the Bisotun block and the Gaveh-Rud forearc domain (Fig. 2). In the same issue, Mouthereau (2011) re-evaluated shortening from the High Zagros of the northern Fars region (Agard et al., 2005) by taking into account deformation related to the piling up of the Kermanshah ophiolitic units and obtained a shortening of 135 km since the early Miocene. Although quantitatively consistent, the latter interpretation places the collisional deformation within the plate suture, which was already tectonically overlying the Arabian margin above the MZT as the collision started. This occurred during suture tightening, when the Arabian crust was underthrusted below the SSZ, and decoupled from the suture domain between ~35 Ma and ~20 Ma.

In the Zagros Folded Belt, cross-sections presented in Fig. 2, show consistent shortening of 15 km (Fars) and 21 km (Lorestan). The extrapolation of the current rates of arc-normal shortening of 8 mm/yr, across the ZFB, in the Fars (e.g., Walpersdorf et al., 2006) gives an initiation of shortening at ~2 Ma. In the Lorestan, where the arc-normal component is lower than ~2 mm/yr, the same approach constrains the initiation of shortening at ~10 Ma. Such a difference along the strike of the belt is unlikely. This reflects the fact that the current kinematic complexities, related to the seismic cycle, could not be resolved with available geological constraints, therefore highlighting the need for more stratigraphic constraints.

Based on comparison between short-term geodetic data and longterm geological constraints from regions surrounding the Arabia/Eurasia collision, Allen et al. (2004) inferred that the main episode of crustal thickening in the Zagros could have started 5–7 Myr ago. Temporal constraints, summarized in the study, established instead that contraction in the Zagros Folded Belt accelerated after 15–10 Ma. However, basement thrusting starting at 5.5 Ma, at the front of the Lorestan (Emami et al., 2010), likely reveals collisional tightening, during the Pliocene.

7.1.2. Temporal distribution of collisional shortening in Arabia/Eurasia convergence: linkage between Zagros mountain building and Iranian plateau expansion

A synthesis of GPS data (ArRajehi et al., 2010), combined with reconstruction of past plate motion (McQuarrie et al., 2003), shows



Fig. 8. Distribution of long-term shortening in the Arabia/Eurasia convergence estimated from balanced cross-sections.

that, within uncertainties, the AR/EUR convergence occurred at a rate of ~20 km/Myr (Hatzfeld et al., 2003; Nilforoushan et al., 2003; Tatar et al., 2002; Vernant et al., 2004) since at least 22 Ma. A total convergence of 440 km must therefore be accommodated across the Zagros, SSZ, Central Iran, the Alborz and the Kopeh Dagh, by N–S distributed thickening, subduction/underthrusting and/or by strike-slip faulting.

By assuming conservation of mass and in-plane deformation Mouthereau (2011) used constraints on arc-normal shortening to derive the evolution of the crustal thickening and elevation since the early Miocene (Table 1). Among the 135 km to be accommodated in the central Zagros, about 15 km of shortening is accounted for by deformation in the ZFB after15-10 Ma. Before ca. 15 Ma, shortening was accumulated in the High Zagros (50 km) through deformation of the distal margin (duplexing) and a component of underthrusting (70 km). A total shortening of ~120-180 km is reconstructed over the entire length of the Iranian plateau (300-450 km). There, crustal shortening is thought to have propagated into the SSZ as attested by deformation of the Neogene rocks in the south-central Iran and throughout the Iranian continental interior since ~20 Ma, onwards. Deformation in the SSZ could therefore document a retro-arc thrust belt but more temporal constraints are, however, needed to confirm this. The onset of shortening in the Alborz Mountains occurred between 20 and 17.5 Ma, according to acceleration of accumulation rates (Ballato et al., 2008, 2011). In the Western Alborz, a rapid exhumational event is recorded at 12 Ma (Guest et al., 2006b) and was continuing until 6-4 Ma in Central Alborz (Axen et al., 2001) as indicating by low-temperature thermochronology. Shortening associated with the subduction of the south Caspian Sea at the Apsheron Sill is constrained by the depth of earthquakes of 80 km (Jackson et al., 2002). Considering uncertainties on the timing of subduction initiation a value of ~75 km satisfies both the data and the total convergence of 440 km (Table 1).

Overall, these results indicate that deformation originally localized near the plate suture (underthrusting and accretion of the Arabian crust) since ~25 Ma, then propagated after 15–10 Ma both southward in the Zagros Folded Belt (Gavillot et al., 2010; Khadivi et al., 2010, 2012) and northward in the Alborz (Guest et al., 2006b), the Kopeh-Dagh, the south Caspian domain (Hollingsworth et al., 2010; Shabanian et al., 2009a,b) and in Central Iran (Morley et al., 2009) in association with the uplift of the Iranian plateau. Rapid exhumation in the Central Alborz at ~5 Ma (Axen et al., 2001) and the coeval onset of increasing accumulation rates in the south Caspian Sea at 5.5 Ma (Allen et al., 2002) support this general trend (Fig. 8).

To account for current elevation, the mass balance model indicates that the crustal thickness of the Iranian interior (UDMA, Central Iran) was initially (prior to ~15–10 Ma) thinner than the surrounding Zagros and Alborz regions (Table 1). The originally thin crust characterizing Central Iran likely reflects the former backarc extension related to the Neotethyan slab rollback during the Eocene–Oligocene (Brunet et al., 2003; Ballato et al., 2011; Moritz et al., 2006; Morley et al., 2009; Verdel et al., 2007, 2011; Vincent et al., 2005). The Iranian lithosphere was consequently relatively weak as contraction initiated and hence shortened for low deviatoric stresses causing the inversion of extensional basins. As the crust of Central Iran progressively thickens, the forces necessary to balance the increase of potential energy associated with plateau growth also promoted deformation/

Table 1

Strain distribution in time and space in the Zagros and surrounding mountain belts of hte Arabia/Eurasia collision. Constraints are from 1), Mouthereau (2011); 2) Khadivi et al. (2010, 2012); 3) Morley et al. (2009); 4) 4 Allen et al. (2003) and Guest et al. (2006a,b); 5) Ballato et al. (2008, 2011), Guest et al. (2006a,b), Axen et al. (2001); 6) Homke et al. (2010), Khadivi et al. (2012) and this study; 7) Vergés et al. (2011b); 8) Brunet et al. (2003); 9) Jackson et al. (2002), Lyberis and Manby (1999); 10) Shabanian et al. (2009a,b); 11) Morley et al. (2009). + sign: extrapolated after shortening in central Iran. + + sign: ZFB has been distinguished from the total shortening in the Zagros estimated from all others studies.

	Zagros Folded Belt	High Zagros	Sanandaj–Sirjan	Central Iran/UDMA	Alborz	South Caspian/Kopeh Dagh
Shortening	15-21 km++	128–159 km ⁷	Unconstrained	38 km ³	30–56 km ⁴	75–80 km ⁹
Model shortening.	15 KM	(underthrusting) + 70 km	130 km +	50 km	50 KM	/5 KM
Model initial crustal thickness	40–45 km	45 to 5 km (thin distal margin)	35–40 km	32 km	>32 km	30 km ⁸
Onset of shortening	<15 Ma ²	25–22 Ma ⁶	25-22 Ma ⁶	10 Ma ¹¹	17-4 Ma ⁵	< 10-3 Ma ¹⁰
Current elevation	1–2 km	2-4 km	2 km	1.5 km	3–5 km	— 0.5 km

uplift in the Alborz and the Zagros after 12 Ma. The current elevation in Iranian Plateau can therefore be explained by the original differences in the initial thickness of the continental crust inherited from subduction-related back-arc thinning events (Mouthereau, 2011). Additional effects due to 1) small-scale convective removal of Iranian lithospheric mantle during roll-back of an originally flat slab (e.g.,Verdel et al., 2011) or 2) slab detachment (Jahangiri, 2007; Omrani et al., 2008) may have also contributed to the current regional elevation.

7.1.3. Partitioning of the Eurasia/Arabia convergence

While distributed thickening in the Arabia/Eurasia collision zone is revealed to have played a dominant role in building the regional topography, the ways in which the Cenozoic convergence has been accommodated through strike-slip faulting in the Zagros (e.g., Authemayou et al., 2009; Lacombe et al., 2006; Talebian and Jackson, 2004) and central Iran is debated (e.g., Allen et al., 2011; Meyer and Le Dortz, 2007; Walker and Jackson, 2004).

7.1.3.1. Strike-slip faulting in the Zagros. We have pointed out earlier that the kinematics of the Zagros collision is currently partitioning the N-S convergence, into a NW-SE orogen-parallel right-lateral strike-slip faulting along the MRF, and NE-SW orogen-normal shortening in the Zagros folds/thrusts (Authemayou et al., 2009; Talebian and Jackson, 2004). The kinematic role of right-lateral strike-slip faulting in the Zagros (Kazerun, Karebass, Sabz-Pushan and Sarvestan Fault) is diversely interpreted. There are viewed as faults bounding, counterclockwise rotated blocks, which accommodate an arcparallel elongation between the partitioned domain of NW Zagros and no partitioned domain of the SE Zagros (Talebian and Jackson, 2004). This stretching, observed in the GPS data, is also emphasized by a component of belt-parallel extension, as recorded by fault slip data analysis, calcite twining and active/quaternary faulting (e.g., Dasht-e-Arjan graben). Clockwise rotation between dextral strikeslip faults, as inferred from the analysis of stress reconstruction and evidence for primary fold curvature in the sedimentary cover (Bakhtari et al., 1998; Lacombe et al., 2006), however, do not support anticlockwise rotation of strike-slip faults. Alternatively, there are interpreted to reflect the distributed deformation at the termination of the MRF (Authemayou et al., 2006; Authemayou et al., 2009).

A cumulative dextral offset of ~50 km has been estimated along the MRF (Talebian and Jackson, 2002) based on the restoration of the drainage patterns and geological markers. It implies a shortening of ~50 km (or 70 km of N–S shortening), which is accounted for by the 149–180 km of shortening inferred from balanced cross-section in the NW Zagros (Vergés et al., 2011a,b). Taking into account the Quaternary slip rates calculated for the Main Recent Fault (MRF) and the Kazerun Fault (KF), Authemayou et al. (2009) concluded, like Talebian and Jackson (2002), that the motion along the MRF and KF has initiated 2–5 Myr ago. Assuming a roughly constant convergence rate of 20 mm/yr (ArRajehi et al., 2010; McQuarrie et al., 2003), it represents more than 70% of the total post-5 Ma N–S convergence to be accommodated in the Arabia/Eurasia collision. This would therefore imply that the folding in the Zagros initiated at this time, which is refuted by the constraints on the timing of folding, uplift and exhumation (Fig. 2). Because these sets of active strikeslip faults in Iran could be connected to the North Anatolian Fault in Turkey, and are likely linked to the westward extrusion of Anatolia (Authemayou et al., 2009; Talebian and Jackson, 2002), the accurate dating of these faults is of major importance for the geodynamics of the region. We suggest that an age of ~10-12 Ma for the initiation of the MRF and KF would be in better agreement with the geological constraints in the Zagros and not in contradiction with the initiation of uplift of the Anatolian plateau at 10-11 Ma due to slab breakoff (Faccenna et al., 2006; Keskin, 2003; Sengor et al., 2003). The analyses of fault slip data (Ahmadhadi et al., 2007; Navabpour et al., 2008), consistently with plate reconstructions (McQuarrie et al., 2003), indicate that the convergence was oblique since 20 Ma. It should therefore be envisaged that the convergence was partitioned between a component of arc-normal contraction and a component of dextral strike-slip movement along a proto-MRF, which could have been positioned near the plate suture or within the upper plate (e.g., Sanandaj-Sirjan Zone).

7.1.3.2. Strike-slip faulting in the Arabia/Eurasia collision zone. There are several manners for deformation associated with strike-slip faulting to accommodate the plate convergence in continental interior (see review in Allen et al., 2011). They can rotate about vertical axes to accommodate N-S shortening and arc-parallel lengthening, as proposed for the Zagros (Talebian and Jackson, 2004). Alternatively, they can accommodate relative motion between non rotating blocks such as between central and eastern Iran (Deshir and Anar faults; Meyer and Le Dortz, 2007). These N-S right-lateral strike-slip faults absorb the differential displacement between the collision domain (central Iran) and the Makran subduction domain (eastern Iran) (Regard et al., 2010). A comparison between the long-term geological offsets and short-term geodetic displacement led Walker and Jackson (2004) to propose a cumulative N-S right-lateral shear in eastern Iran of 75-105 km. Assuming that the current kinematic configuration dates back to the inferred reorganization in the collision at 5–7 Ma (Allen et al., 2004), these authors postulated that the strikeslip faults of central Iran (e.g., Deshir and Anar faults) accommodate a small amount of shortening. However, Meyer and Le Dortz (2007) pointed out that a long-term kinematic model based on extrapolation of GPS rates may not be valid. They inferred that strike-slip faults of central Iran have accommodated a cumulative right-lateral shear of 90 km (Deshir and Anar faults) over the past 20 Myr. A paleoseismic study showed that the Deshir fault has been capable of producing earthquake as big as M~7 (Nazari et al., 2009). Therefore, there is evidence that right-lateral strike-slip faulting is not confined to the edges of the Lut block (Fig. 1). Taking into account the lack of current internal deformation across central Iran (Vernant et al., 2004) it has been suggested that deformation associated with strike-slip faulting

slowed in the last few Myr and shifted progressively to the east of the collision (Meyer et al., 2006; Allen et al., 2011).

The view that long-term N–S Arabia/Eurasia plate convergence in central Iran was partitioned by a combination of right-lateral strikeslip faulting and thrusting has been emphasized by Allen et al., (2011), analogous to the situation in the Zagros (Talebian and Jackson, 2004). In this aspect, the right-lateral strike-slip faulting is thought to accommodate the NW–SE orogen-parallel component of the N–S convergence. Thrusting that accommodates the NE–SW orogen-normal shortening was studied independently by Mouthereau (2011) to model the distribution of crustal thickening across the whole collision. These two models combined together provide a kinematic understanding of the way long-term N–S convergence is taken up in central Iran.

As noted earlier and consistently with Allen et al. (2004, 2011), deformation (strike-slip faulting and thrusting) seems to have slowed in central Iran. This was possibly related to a change in boundary conditions in the east, associated with the onset of the Afghan–India collision at ~5–2 Ma that stopped the possibility for lateral extrusion/ escape. Here, in accord with the partitioning model of Allen et al. (2011), in which orogen-parallel lengthening is limited, we propose that the transition was progressive since 15–10 Ma and related to arc-normal thickening, which led to the uplift of the Iranian plateau and to the cessation of active deformation in central Iran. The progressive thickening in the Iranian plateau (e.g., SSZ) possibly promoted the decline of activity along NNW–SSE strike-slip faults like the Deshir or Anar faults. The progressive arc-normal shortening was contemporaneous with a late stage of westward lateral extrusion

that started after 10–11 Ma along the NAF in eastern Anatolia (e.g., Armijo et al., 1999) and in the Caspian Sea (Hollingsworth et al., 2006, 2010a).

We conclude that the overall long-term distribution of deformation, a combination of partitioned strike-slip faulting and thrusting, in the Zagros collision region (we omit the yet subducting domain of eastern Iran) may be understood in the context of the N–S indentation of Arabia continent into Eurasia.

7.2. Stepwise tectonic model of the Zagros collision orogeny since 55 Ma

In the following, a stepwise tectonic model of the Zagros collision is proposed that emphasizes the role of the initial along-strike geometry of the Arabian continental margin. These differences are distinguished based on two possible scenarios that could possibly correspond to the NW Zagros and central Zagros.

7.2.1. Eocene stage (55–36 Ma): magmatic flare-up and initial Tethyan slab geometry

The subduction of the Neotethys beneath the Eurasian plate was characterized by Triassic–Jurassic Andean-like arc magmatism in the SSZ and has therefore been active at least 150 Myr prior to collision. In the Eocene, between 55 and 36 Ma a magmatic flare-up occurred in the UDMA and the Alborz region (Fig. 9; Agard et al., 2011; Berberian and Berberian, 1981; Brunet et al., 2003; McQuarrie et al., 2003; Verdel et al., 2011; Vincent et al., 2005). A constant plate velocity of 3 cm/yr is reported between 55 and 36 Ma (McQuarrie et al., 2007).



Fig. 9. Lithospheric-scale cross-sections of NW Zagros and central Zagros at 55–36 Ma (subduction stage). Subduction of the Neo-Tethys and slab retreat trigger extension and magmatic flare-up in the Iranian plate. The differential along-strike stretching of the distal Arabian margin shows inherited buoyancy contrasts that had major impact on the subsequent accretion/subduction dynamics. Abbreviations: SSZ (Sanandaj–Sirjan Zone), UDMA (Urumieh–Dokhtar Magmatic Arc), CI (Central Iran), AB (Alborz), SCB (South Caspian Basin), KD (Kopeh Dagh), and NB (Nain–Baft basin).

2003), accounting for 570 km of convergence during this time interval.

Prior to flare-up, there is evidence that flat-slab subduction occurred in the mid-Cretaceous (Verdel et al., 2011) to account for widespread unconformity and deformation in the upper plate (Stocklin, 1968; Tillman et al., 1981) and the shift of magmatism northwards from the SSZ to the Alborz (Guest et al., 2006b). Flat subduction seems to have persisted until the Late Cretaceous/Paleocene as inferred by deformation, cooling (K-Feldspar Ar/Ar dating) and erosion in the Alborz (Guest et al., 2006a,b). The change in subduction angle, following the earlier suggestion by Berberian and Berberian (1981), likely resulted from a change in the slab density caused, for instance, by the subduction of buoyant slab segments, as argued from the Andean example (e.g., Martinod et al., 2010).

In the Zagros, the Late Cretaceous–Late Paleocene interval (65–55 Ma) is characterized by the migration of depocenters within the Amiran basin, which was fed by the erosion of ophiolitic complex (Kermanshah). This argues for a prolonged tectonic event and mountain building (Homke et al., 2009; Saura et al., 2011), a few Myr after the obduction episode.

It has been also argued that the initial flat-slab subduction has been followed by slab roll-back to explain exhumation of HP rocks in the Zagros and opening of small back-arc domain (e.g., Nain–Baft) at 90–65 Ma (Agard et al., 2006, 2011; Ghazi et al., 2011; Moghadam et al., 2010; Stampfli and Borel, 2002) in agreement with the slowdown of convergence at this time (e.g., Rosenbaum et al., 2002). Slab steepening (breakoff?; Agard et al., 2011) may have continued until the Paleocene–Eocene below SSZ to account for short-term and localized (Kermanshah) magmatism at 60–55 Ma.

In any case, tectonic reconstructions must account for the magmatic flare-up throughout central Iran that began at 55 Ma and lasted until 36 Ma. As noticed by Verdel et al. (2007)), this is analogous to the initial flat-slab subduction during the mid-Tertiary magmatic flare-up in western US (Humphreys, 1995). Arc-like magmatism and extension characterized this period, which has been interpreted to reflect the onset of back-arc regime due to slab retreat (Ballato et al., 2011; Moritz et al., 2006; Morley et al., 2009; Verdel et al., 2007; Vincent et al., 2005). Alternatively, it has been suggested that back-arc extension and magmatism was accomplished by the "ablative" subduction without slab retreat, producing small-scale convective windows and partial delamination in the upper plate and melting (Agard et al., 2011) as proposed by Pope and Willett (1998) for the Andean plateau.

This period is associated with a remarkable stratigraphic hiatus in the Zagros that could possibly results from a moderate uplift of the Arabian continental margin, following the deposition of Kashkan red beds ca. 45 Ma and before the marine transgression at ~35 Ma (Fig. 3). At this time, the plate boundary was still located several 100 km to the north of the Arabian margin. A combined change in plate coupling due to increasing trench retreat and faster plate convergence with respect to late Cretaceous/Paleocene times, as inferred from Mesozoic plate reconstructions (Rosenbaum et al., 2002) could have led to compression in the lower plate, although this point needs more investigation.

As illustrated in Fig. 9, the distal Arabian margin at the end of the 55–36 Ma period, which is yet to collide with Eurasia, highlights along-strike differences in its initial geometry. While a buoyant continental block (Bisotun block) is present in the NW Zagros, it is absent in the central Zagros. Its buoyancy likely enhances slab retreat and magmatism in the SSZ of NW Zagros, while flat subduction enhances shortening of the Nain–Baft basin in central Zagros (Fig. 13).

7.2.2. Oligocene stage (36–25 Ma): underthrusting of the Arabian margin

Back-arc extension continued in the early Oligocene (Fig. 10), but typical arc magmatism was terminated by ~36 Ma as indicated by geochemical analysis of the volcanoclastic Karaj Formation in the Alborz (Ballato et al., 2011; Verdel et al., 2011). The petrological and geochemical composition of Early Oligocene basalts (33 Ma) points to an asthenospheric source, indicating the replacement (partial delamination) of the Iranian lithosphere by the asthenosphere. Convergence rates reduced from 3.1 to 2.4 cm/yr (McQuarrie et al., 2003). Assuming a convergence rate of 3 cm/yr, ~300 km has to be accommodated either by accretion or underthrusting between 35 Ma and 25 Ma.

The onset of underthrusting of the continental lithosphere of the distal Arabian margin beneath SSZ (e.g., Ballato et al., 2011) provides an explanation for both the convergence slowdown and increasing Tethyan slab retreat that promoted extension and asthenospheric upwelling below the upper plate. The driving mechanims of under-thrusting was probably the negative buoyancy of the distal Arabian continental margin. This is supported, for instance, by the extreme stretching of the distal Arabian margin, as inferred from the Kerman-shah region (Wrobel-Daveau et al., 2010), which led to the removal of the buoyant continental crust and replacement by denser sub-continental mantle. As the continental lithosphere becomes denser than the underlying mantle underthrusting (subduction) of the continental lithosphere is promoted (e.g., Cloos, 1993). This is well-reproduced in analog experiments, showing that continental under-thrusting is driven by slab-pull forces (Regard et al., 2003).

Underthrusting was probably dominant in early stage of the collision and plate convergence has to be accommodated at the plate suture. The main evidence for this relies on the timing of emplacement of forearc Gaveh-Rud domain (upper plate, southern SSZ) that yielded Rb-Sr age of ~34 Ma (Braud, 1987; Leterrier, 1985). This domain was thrusted and folded together with older Lutetian-Bartonian flyschs (48-37 Ma) above the MZT, before deposition of the ~20-18 Ma Asmari Formation. Low-temperature apatite fission-track and (U-Th)/He thermochronological data, however, reveal rapid cooling only after ~25 Ma. The lack of evidence for exhumation in the Late Eocene likely indicates slow exhumation associated with the emplacement of thrust sheets in a marine Eocene accretionary prism. More generally, the onset of underthrusting of the Arabian continental margin implies a stronger plate coupling and the possibility of transferring stress in the upper plate. In Central Iran, this is indicated by the inversion of back-arc extensional basins (Fig. 13; Ballato et al., 2011; Morley et al., 2009; Verdel et al., 2007).

The deposition of Shahbazan carbonates at ~34 Ma (Homke et al., 2009) outline the onset of subsidence in the NW Zagros basin in relation to the premise of plate flexure. This may illustrate the onset of accretion of the buoyant Bisotun block onto the Arabian margin coevally with the emplacement of the forearc units. The accretion promoted the reduction in subduction velocity, thus increasing the Tethyan slab retreat in NW Zagros (Fig. 10). By contrast, the absence of the Bisotun rifted block in the central Zagros indicates more negative buoyancy that resulted in ongoing flat subduction.

7.2.3. Early Miocene stage (25–15 Ma): thickening of Arabian margin and initiation of mountain building in the Zagros orogen

The early Miocene marks a significant change in the plate boundary conditions coeval with the onset of continental rifting of the Red Sea at ~24 Ma (Arrajehi et al., 2010; Chu and Gordon, 1998; McQuarrie et al., 2003) and propagation of Gulf of Aden opening westward since 18 Ma (Leroy et al., 2004). This induces a change in the direction of Arabia plate motion from NE to N at 25 Ma (McQuarrie et al., 2003). Among the 440 km of convergence to be accommodated since 22 Ma (assuming constant convergence of 2.2 cm/yr), about 70 km of collisional convergence were absorbed in less than 3 Myr in the central Zagros by ongoing underthrusting. In NW Zagros, roughly the same amount was taken up by the ongoing accretion of the Bisotun unit (Vergés et al., 2011a,b). After ca. 20 Ma (Figs. 11 and 13), both NW and central Zagros were shortened by accretion and thickening of the buoyant, normal thickness Arabian margin. This resulted in the reduction of subduction



Fig. 10. Lithospheric-scale cross-sections of NW Zagros and central Zagros at 36–25 Ma (onset of continental underthrusting). The negative buoyancy of the Arabian margin in central Zagros promotes underthrusting whereas accretion accelerates slab retreat in the NW Zagros. Accretion of Bisotun block is responsible for increasing foreland basin in the northern Zagros. Abbreviations: SSZ (Sanandaj–Sirjan Zone), UDMA (Urumieh–Dokhtar Magmatic Arc), CI (Central Iran), AB (Alborz), SCB (South Caspian Basin), KD (Kopeh Dagh), HZ (High Zagros), and NB (Nain–Baft basin).

(underthrusting) velocity below SSZ of central Zagros, thus increasing the roll-back of the flat slab.

The cessation of subduction-related magmatism in the UDMA occurred in the Oligocene–Miocene (~27 Ma) in NW Iran and was possibly delayed towards the southeast (from 16 Ma in Esfahan to 7 Ma near Kerman), as suggested from recent datings (see ages by Chung et al., 2010 presented in Agard et al., 2011) and in agreement with delayed slab retreat southwards.

Deposition of shallow-marine Asmari carbonates at ~20 Ma, unconformably overlying the older Shahbazan or Jahrom Formation to the north (Homke et al., 2009) and onlapping southwards the precollisional margin sediments (James and Wynd, 1965; Mouthereau et al., 2007b), outlines the initiation and migration of the plate deflection in the foreland. Uplift and exhumation occurred above the MZT, as confirmed by in-situ and detrital apatite fission-track thermochronologic analyses in the Lorestan and Fars regions (Homke et al., 2010; Khadivi et al., 2012). Magnetostratigraphic dating of sedimentary rocks hosting AFT grains cooled at 25 Ma, more accurately define that SSZ units came into contact with the Arabian margin at about 19.7 Ma (Khadivi et al., 2012).

Crustal shortening propagated northward from the SSZ throughout Central Iran after ~20 Ma (e.g., Morley et al., 2009). As pointed out earlier, this implies that a N-vergent retro-arc thrust belt developed in the SSZ in response to an increase in plate coupling. Together with the imbricate thrust stacking of the distal Arabian margin, they form a double-sided orogenic wedge, typical of intracontinental like e.g the Pyrenees (e.g., Beaumont et al., 2000). Shortening, uplift and exhumation reached the Alborz mountains at 20–17.5 Ma according to acceleration of accumulation rates (Ballato et al., 2008, 2011) and cooling ages of 17–15 Ma obtained from zircon helium data (Ballato et al., personal communication). Transition from marine to continental deposition in central Iran is outlined by the deposition of up to 7 km of clastic-dominated upper Red Formation dated at ~17 Ma (Ballato et al., 2008). Marine sedimentation dominated until ca. 15 Ma in the northern Zagros (Khadivi et al., 2010).

Stress build-up in the Arabian crust was responsible for the reactivation of inherited normal faults in the Precambrian basement and inversion of intramarginal basins. On the Iranian plate, subsidence occurred during the deposition of marine Qom Formation, accompanied by minor extension (28–18 Ma, Morley et al., 2009). This is interpreted to reflect thermal subsidence induced by cooling of the lithosphere, following the asthenospheric ascent and slab retreat. Alternatively, part of this subsidence may have originated from the plate flexure associated with tectonic loading produced by opposite vergence Alborz mountain belt and SSZ retro-arc thrust belt.

7.2.4. Middle-Late Miocene (15–5 Ma): uplift of the Zagros folding and broadening of the Zagros orogen/Iranian plateau region

The oldest growth strata in the Zagros Folded Belt indicates that Zagros folding started at 15 Ma, coevally with the deposition of Bakhyari conglomerates (Khadivi et al., 2010) and propagated southward after 12 Ma (Emami, 2008; Khadivi et al., 2012; Mouthereau, 2011). This is in agreement with other magnetostratigraphic constraints in the northern Zagros (Izeh Zone) that support an 11 Ma age for folding (Emami, 2008). Moreover, apatite (U–Th)/He ages across the Lajin and the Dinar thrusts confirm that thrusting occurred between 19–15 Ma and 12–8 Ma in the High Zagros (Gavillot et al., 2010). This is also supported by thermochronometric dating with lower closure-temperature systems (apatite helium dating) that indicate ongoing (increasing?) exhumation at 12 Ma in the Zagros, tentatively correlated with deep-seated imbricate thrusting (underplating) (Wrobel-Daveau et al., 2011).

As suggested by the age constraints in the Zagros, basement thrusting and cover folding developed across the Zagros belt, and reached the current thrust front, leading to possible fold amplification at ~5 Ma (e.g., Mountain Front Fault) (Emami et al., 2010; Mouthereau et al., 2007b; Wrobel-Daveau et al., 2011). Crustal short-ening and exhumation also migrated to the north, after 10 Ma in Central Iran (Morley et al., 2009), between 12 and 6–4 Ma in the Alborz (Axen et al., 2001; Guest et al., 2006b) as inferred from increasing accumulation rates in the south Caspian Sea at 5.5 Ma (Allen et al., 2002). The subduction of the south Caspian Sea at the Apsheron Sill was probably active since the latest Miocene based on comparison between geodetic constraints (Masson et al., 2007) and the depth of subduction slab (Jackson et al., 2002). Overall, these data show that shortening migrated toward low-elevated, undeformed foreland areas. Interestingly, these regions include the originally thin crust of

Central Iran in which first continental deposition is attested after 17 Ma.

Taken together, these constraints show that uplift and exhumation began in the Arabia/Eurasia collision at 15-12 Ma (Figs. 11 and 12). The crustal shortening/thickening appears to be one of the main causes for the uplift of the Zagros/Iranian plateau region. Alternatively, breakoff of the Arabian slab after 10 Ma inferred from adakitic volcanism (Jahangiri, 2007) and gravity/thermal modeling in the central Zagros (Molinaro et al., 2005a,b) has been proposed to be the main cause of plate coupling and shortening in the region (Omrani et al., 2008). However, neither kinematic reconstruction nor tomographic data confirm this possibility in the central Zagros. Indeed, as shown in Fig. 4, improved tomographic images display a shallow and flat subduction of the Arabian margin in this region over a distance up to 500 km below the Iranian plateau (Paul et al., 2010; Simmons et al., 2011). Underthrusting of the Arabian margin is, therefore, ongoing since at least the early Miocene. The lack of evidence for abrupt changes in slab geometry is consistent with a rather stable plate convergence (ArRajehi et al., 2010; Reilinger and McClusky, 2011). Furthermore, this is in line with the previous Eocene stage of flat-slab subduction inferred from the analysis of magmatism in the UDMA (Verdel et al., 2011). All together these observations rule out the hypothesis of a slab detachment after 10 Ma in the central Zagros (Figs. 12 and 13). We speculate that the southward migration of asthenospheric upwelling toward the plate suture, as proposed by Verdel et al. (2007), as the flat-slab region retreated, is perhaps responsible for the post-late Miocene adakitic



Fig. 11. Lithospheric-scale cross-sections of NW Zagros and central Zagros at 25–15 Ma (onset of crustal thickening). The continuous convergence gradually compressed and thickened the Arabian crust during this stage. Tectonic inversion of backarc basins starts and crustal thickening in the Zagros create plate flexure and the development of a foreland basin filled by clastic deposits eroded from the plate suture and SSZ. Abbreviations: SSZ (Sanandaj-Sirjan Zone), UDMA (Urumieh–Dokhtar Magmatic Arc), CI (Central Iran), AB (Alborz), SCB (South Caspian Basin), KD (Kopeh Dagh), HZ (High Zagros), NB (Nain–Baft basin), and MZT (Main Zagros Thrust).



Fig. 12. Lithospheric-scale cross-sections of NW Zagros and central Zagros at 15–5 Ma (uplift and expension of the Zagros and Iranian plateau). The Iranian plateau has been thickened and tectonic progressively declines in this region. Topography and deformation expands towards low-elevated area of the Zagros, Alborz and Kopeh Dagh forelands. Subduction of the South Caspian basin starts at this time. Deformation in the Zagros through folding and basement shortening is more pronounced. The MRF initiates in response to the slab detachment in the eastern Anatolia, slab steepening in NW Zagros. Adakitic magmatism resumes in the central Zagros due to renewed Arabian slab retreat and e.g., mantle-derived melts at lower crustal levels. Abbreviations: SSZ (Sanandaj–Sirjan Zone), UDMA (Urumieh–Dokhtar Magmatic Arc), CI (Central Iran), AB (Alborz), SCB (South Caspian Basin), KD (Kopeh Dagh), HZ (High Zagros), NB (Nain–Baft basin), MZT (Main Zagros Thrust), and MRF (Main Recent Fault).

volcanism in the UDMA. Post-collision magmatism as young as ~2 Ma in the Kopeh Dagh (Shabanian et al., 2009a,b) may highlight a possible slab steepening/retreat at the nose of the underthrusting domain. This supports the hypothesis that adakites resulted from melting of a mafic Iranian lower crust (inherited from the previous magmatic flare-up stage) analogous to Miocene adakitic and K-rich magmas emplaced in the Tibetan crust (e.g., Guo et al., 2006; Guo et al., 2007). Tomography data support, however, slab detachment in NW Zagros in agreement with slab steepening and breakoff inferred in Anatolia (Keskin, 2003) and the propagation of the North Anatolian Fault (Authemayou et al., 2006; Faccenna et al., 2006; Regard et al., 2005) at ~10-11 Ma when the uplift of the Kars-Erzurum plateau initiated. Likewise Authemayou et al. (2009) and Talebian and Jackson (2002), we anticipate that the active right-lateral shear along the MRF may have been initiated in response to breakoff to the north and westward tectonic extrusion of Anatolia.

A post Miocene tectonic reorganization at 3–5 Ma has been suggested by many authors (e.g., Allen et al., 2004; Authemayou et al., 2006; Axen et al., 2001; Shabanian et al., 2009b) and has been inferred from the drastic changes in the regional tectonic regime during Quaternary (e.g., Abbassi and Farbod, 2009; Javidfakhr et al., 2011; Regard et al., 2005; Ritz et al., 2006; Shabanian et al., 2010).

In the Zagros, a phase of fold tightening may have occurred at 5 Ma, as suggested by the unconformity of the most recent Bakhtyari Formation and amplification of basement thrust at the front, but there is no definitive observation to infer a rapid kinematic change at 5 Ma in the Zagros. In the Alborz, exhumation is seen to have amplified

recently as evidenced by two marked events at ~12 Ma and later at 6–4 Ma. In the Kopeh Dagh region, north of the Lut block (subduction related domain) deformation seems to have started after 10–5 Ma (Hollingsworth et al., 2006, 2010). This may provide evidence for the progressive transfer of collisional deformation northward into the continental interior, helped by underthrusting in central Zagros (or slab steepening/breakoff in NW Zagros) and associated plate coupling. As shown in this study, available time constraints indicate a progressive arc-normal thickening, uplift and westward extrusion beginning at 15–12 Ma (Fig. 11), which does requires a kinematic change at ~5 Ma for the entire Arabia/Eurasia collision.

We conclude that uplift and shortening in the Zagros–Iranian plateau may have resulted from increasing plate coupling through a combination of slab detachment in NW Zagros (Lorestan, west of 51°E) and continuous underthrusting in central Zagros (Fars, east of 52°E). Recent plate reconstructions have pointed out that the convergence may have reduced by 30% after 12 Ma (Austermann et al., in review). If correct, it is possible to envisage that the topographic load of the Zagros and Iranian plateau region has been the primary cause for the reduction of plate motion, in a way similar to prediction from the Andes (laffaldano et al., 2006).

7.3. Plate kinematics and the driving forces of plate convergence

After the initiation of continental underthrusting in the Zagros at \sim 35 Ma, the Arabia's plate velocity decreased by \sim 30%, from \sim 3.1 cm/yr to \sim 2.4 cm/yr (McQuarrie et al., 2003). The onset of



Fig. 13. Key tectonic events and plate kinematics illustrated on schematic paleotectonic reconstructions for the Middle East region, modified after Barrier and Vrielynck (2008). The increase of emerged lands illustrates the progressive uplift of the Zagros and Iranian plateau in relation with crustal thickening. A major change occurred after 20 Ma, most likely at 15–12 Ma, as shortening induced slab steepening breakoff at 10–11 Ma and a regional kinematic reorganization. Abbreviations are : SSZ (Sanandaj–Sirjan Zone), UDMA (Urumieh–Dokhtar Magmatic Arc), CI (Central Iran), AB (Alborz), SCB (South Caspian Basin), KD (Kopeh Dagh), HZ (High Zagros), NB (Nain–Baft basin), MZT (Main Zagros Thrust), MRF (Main Recent Fault), ZFB (Zagros Folded Belt), and ZDF(Zagros Deformation Front).

underthrusting of the continental lithosphere driven by the negative buoyancy of the distal Arabian margin provides an explanation for both the convergence slowdown and increasing Tethyan slab retreat (Fig. 9). After 25–20 Ma, the motion of the Arabian plate, as inferred from Euler poles and geological reconstructions remained roughly stable (ArRajehi et al., 2010; McQuarrie et al., 2003; Reilinger and McClusky, 2011). It has been therefore inferred that slab pull forces acting on the Arabian and Neo-tethyan oceanic slab were the controlling parameters of the kinematics of the Arabian plate (Bellahsen et al., 2003; McQuarrie et al., 2003).

The slab pull effect in the Zagros was probably enhanced by the negative buoyancy of the distal Arabian margin that resulted from the removal of the buoyant continental crust inherited from its Mesozoic stretching. This allows sustaining the stable Arabian plate motion against Eurasia and permitted ongoing underthrusting (subduction) of the continental lithosphere, analogous to the Himalaya (Capitanio et al., 2010). This mechanism has been mostly effective from 35 to 20 Ma and especially in central Zagros, as the convergence involved the thinnest part the Arabian margin (Fig. 10).

A number of successive tectonic events led to the detachment of the Arabian plate: at ~24 Ma, continental rifting initiated in the Red Sea (Arrajehi et al., 2010; Chu and Gordon, 1998; McQuarrie et al., 2003), during the Miocene at ~18 Ma when the Gulf of Aden opened (Leroy et al., 2004) and finally at ~11 Ma when full ocean spreading occurred (Reilinger and McClusky, 2011). Together with the development of the Afar plume and East African rifting at 20–15 Ma (Pik et al., 2008), these constraints suggest the increasing gravitational potential energy along the Red Sea and the Gulf of Aden. The ridge push effect, even limited could have contributed, with slab pull, to the northward indentation of Arabia against Eurasia (Becker and Faccenna, 2011; Bellahsen et al., 2003).

Constraints presented in this study support tectonic models in which the topography of the Zagros belt and uplift of the adjacent Iranian plateau were driven by progressive tightening of the collision, closure of back-arc basins in central Iran and widespread crustal thickening in the Iranian plateau after 15-12 Ma. An increase in shortening rates in the overriding plate has promoted a reduction of Arabian subduction velocity. About ~70% of the Arabian plate velocity was consumed by crustal thickening and strike-slip faulting in the overriding plate since ~20 Ma (Table 1 and Mouthereau, 2011). Thus, the long-term subduction velocity of the Arabian plate relative to overriding plate reduced from ~2 cm/yr after 35 Ma to ~1.3 cm/yr after 20 Ma. Slab steepening/breakoff as imaged by tomography in NW Zagros (Fig. 4; Chang et al., 2010; Simmons et al., 2011) has perhaps been promoted by such a decrease in subduction velocity. In the central Zagros, however, underthrusting of the Arabian plate seems to have continued during the whole collision. This may be explained by faster convergence velocity in the southeast and a shorter oceanic slab, due to collision obliquity, and anticlockwise movement of the Arabia plate relative to Eurasia.

Evidence for slab breakoff in NW Zagros effective active since ~11 Ma implies a reduction in the slab pull effect. Assuming a stable plate convergence over this period, it has been proposed that the main force driving plate motion is the mantle drag below the Arabian continent sustained by the sinking of the detached Tethyan slab in the lower mantle (e.g., Alvarez, 2010; Conrad and Lithgow-Bertelloni, 2004).

Recent improved plate reconstructions have pointed out that the convergence may have reduced by 30% after 12 Ma (Austermann et al., in review). This could have resulted from slab detachment in NW Zagros at this time or/and the increase of resistance at plate boundary caused by the increase in the regional topography. The present study indeed supports uplift, exhumation and shortening in the Zagros and Iranian plateau development starting at 15–12 Ma, coevally with slab detachment in eastern Turkey and the NW Zagros.

The opening of the Gulf of Aden at ~11 Ma contemporaneous with the increase in gravitational forces arising from the Zagros collision, which possibly reduced plate convergence, and slab breakoff at ~10–11 Ma, suggest that the role of the slab pull force in driving the Arabian plate motion was considerably reduced. We therefore speculate that heterogeneity in mantle density, as seen from mantle upwelling at the Afar plume and large-scale mantle flow is the main driver of the Arabia plate motion in agreement with recent findings based on models of global mantle circulations (Becker and Faccenna, 2011).

8. Conclusions

8.1. Timing of collision, onset of uplift/exhumation and mechanism of the Zagros mountain building

The Zagros collision sensu lato initiated at 35 Ma when the distal continental margin, driven by its negative buoyancy, was underthrusted beneath the upper Iranian plate. The onset of crustal thickening and collision sensu stricto, started at ~25 Ma, as recorded by the coeval exhumational and foreland clastic deposition. However, uplift, deformation and exhumation across the Zagros, and throughout the Arabia/Eurasia collision zone, started later at 15-12 Ma. In the upper plate, the progressive shortening/thickening of the initially weak Iranian crust increased the topographic elevation and potential energy, leading to the cessation of contraction in the plateau region. Ongoing plate convergence promoted the expansion of the Iranian plateau towards low-elevated, undeformed areas, therefore focusing active shortening in forelands of the Arabia/Eurasian collision. Most of the current shortening is being accumulated at the Mountain Front Fault. Not excluding the contribution of slab breakoff in NW Zagros, evidence of distributed long-term crustal shortening over the all Arabia/Eurasia collision indicates that crustal thickening is one of the main causes for the uplift of the Zagros/Iranian plateau region.

8.2. Underthrusting/accretion and the role of margin inheritance in collisional shortening

The 55–35 Ma magmatic flare-up throughout central Iran resulted from the active flat-slab subduction. The onset of OIB-like magmatism in central Iran, at 35 Ma, reveals the upwelling of asthenospheric mantle, likely promoted by slab retreat and the reduction of plate convergence. From the recent tomography analyses of the Middle East, it is established that slab steepening or slab breakoff is ongoing in NW Zagros. In the south, however, improved resolutions of tomographic models favor a model of underthrusting of the Arabian plate beneath central Iran. The along-strike changes in subduction dynamics may emphasize the original difference in the buoyancy of the distal margin. In the NW Zagros, the onset of flexural subsidence suggests that the accretion of the rifted Bisotun continental block occurred between 35 and 25 Ma. This likely decreased the subduction velocity and promoted slab sinking. In the central Zagros, the lack of such a buoyant continental block enabled the continuous underthrusting of the Arabian plate. More structural and temporal constraints at the plate suture are however needed to confirm the proposed scenario.

8.3. Structure of the ZFB, topography and rheology of the Arabian crust

The structure of the Zagros fold belt is characterized by superimposed cover folding that is cut by deep-seated basement thrusts. Not to exclude other contributions, basement shortening is one of the main causes of the regional Zagros topography, as inferred from balanced cross-sections and mechanical models. The basement is, however, currently less seismogenic that the sedimentary cover, although few large earthquakes (Mw~6.7) can rupture both the cover and the basement. Low geothermal gradient in the region is compatible with the presence of earthquakes in the lower crust, down to depths of 30 km, triggered by active faulting in the upper crust. Do these deformation patterns reflect a strong or a weak basement? Critical wedge approach applied to the Zagros favors the hypothesis of strong brittle crust detached above a weaker ductile lower crust. It is nevertheless likely that ductile thickening played a significant role, especially below the SSZ, where the crustal root reaches the depth of 70 km. In contrast, the sedimentary cover formed by a thick layered succession with multiple embedded detachment levels deformed by buckling.

8.4. Collision kinematics and plate driving forces

After the initiation of continental underthrusting in the Zagros at ~35 Ma, the Arabia's plate velocity decreased by ~30% at 25–20 Ma and remained constant since then. Slab breakoff in NW Zagros was probably effective at ~11 Ma and implies a reduction in the slab pull effect. Moreover, recent plate reconstructions seem to indicate a reduction of plate convergence after 12 Ma. The opening of Gulf of Aden at ~11 Ma, contemporaneous with the increase in gravitational forces in the Zagros collision, and slab breakoff at ~10–11 Ma suggest that the role of the slab pull force in driving the Arabian plate motion was considerably reduced. We speculate that the mantle upwelling at the Afar plume and induced large-scale mantle flow is the main driver of the Arabia plate motion.

8.5. Kinematic reorganization of the Arabia/Eurasia collision at 15–12 Ma?

Temporal constraints on deformation outline the regional mountain and plateau uplift after 15–12 Ma. At the same time ~10–11 Ma, breakoff beneath eastern Anatolia led to the uplift of the Kars–Erzurum plateau. This occurs coevally with the initiation of westward tectonic extrusion along the North Anatolian Fault and resutled in right-lateral shear along the MRF in the Zagros. Before that date the obliquity of the convergence was accommodated by the partitioning of arc-normal shortening and arc-parallel strike-slip faulting. We speculate that the main kinematic change in the Zagros region occurred at 15–12 Ma, as the Zagros uplifted, therefore slightly before the Arabian slab detached beneath eastern Anatolia and NW Zagros. This change possibly induced a decrease in the plate convergence rate.

Acknowledgments

We would like to thank Editor Fabrizio Storti for his invitation to submit this review paper and Timothy Horscroft for his support during the publication process. We are grateful to Olivier Bellier, Esmaeil Shabanian and an anonymous reviewer for their comments that significantly improved the quality of the paper. We are thankful to N.A. Simmons and S.J. Chang for discussions and for the original figures of their tomography studies they kindly provided.

References

- Abbassi, M.R., Farbod, Y., 2009. Faulting and folding in quaternary deposits of Tehran's piedmont (Iran). Journal of Asian Earth Sciences 34 (4), 522–531. doi:10.1016/ j.jseaes.2008.08.001.
- Abdollahie, F.I., Braathen, A., Mokhtari, M., Alavi, S.A., 2006. Interaction of the Zagros Fold-Thrust Belt and the Arabian-type, deep-seated folds in the Abadan Plain and the Dezful Embayment, SW Iran. Petroleum Geoscience 12 (4), 347–362.
- Agard, P., Omrani, J., Jolivet, L., Mouthereau, F., 2005. Convergence history across Zagros (Iran): constraints from collisional and earlier deformation. International Journal of Earth Sciences 94 (3), 401–419. doi:10.1007/s00531-005-0481-4.
- Agard, P., Monié, P., Gerber, W., Omrani, J., Molinaro, M., Meyer, B., Labrousse, L., Vrielynck, B., Jolivet, L., Yamato, P., 2006. Transient, synobduction exhumation of Zagros blueschists inferred from P–T, deformation, time, and kinematic constraints: implications

for Neotethyan wedge dynamics. Journal of Geophysical Research 111, B11401. doi:10.1029/2005JB004103.

- Agard, P., Omrani, J., Jolivet, L., Whitechurch, H., Vrielynck, B., Spakman, W., Monié, P., Meyer, B., Wortel, R., 2011. Zagros orogeny: a subduction-dominated process. In: Lacombe, O., Grasemann, B., Simpson, G. (Eds.), Geodynamic Evolution of the Zagros. Geological Magazine, pp. 692–725.
- Aghazadeh, M., Castro, A., Badrzadeh, Z., Vogt, K., 2011. Post-collisional polycyclic plutonism from the Zagros hinterland: the Shaivar Dagh plutonic complex, Alborz belt, Iran. Geological Magazine 148 (5–6), 980–1008. doi:10.1017/s0016756811000380.
- Ahmadhadi, F., Lacombe, O., Daniel, J.-M., 2007. Early reactivation of basement faults in Central Zagros (SW Iran): evidence from pre-folding fracture populations in Asmari Formation and Lower Tertiary paleogeography. In: Lacombe, O., Lavé, J., Verges, J., Roure, F. (Eds.), Thrust belts and Foreland Basins: From Fold Kinematics to Hydrocarbon Systems. Springer-Verlag, pp. 205–228.
- Ahmadhadi, F., Daniel, J.-M., Azzizadeh, M., Lacombe, O., 2008. Evidence for pre-folding vein development in the Oligo-Miocene Asmari Formation in the Central Zagros Fold Belt, Iran. Tectonics 27, TC1016. doi:10.1029/2006TC001978.
- Alavi, M., 2004. Regional stratigraphy of the Zagros fold-thrust belt of Iran and its proforeland evolution. American Journal of Science 304 January, 1–20.
- Alavi, M., 2007. Structures of the Zagros fold-thrust belt in Iran. American Journal of Science 307 (9), 1064–1095.
- Allen, M.B., Armstrong, H.A., 2008. Arabia–Eurasia collision and the forcing of mid-Cenozoic global cooling. Palaeogeography, Palaeoclimatology, Palaeoecology 265, 52–58.
- Allen, M.B., Talebian, M., 2011. Structural variation along the Zagros and the nature of the Dezful Embayment. Geological Magazine 148 (5–6), 911–924. doi:10.1017/ s0016756811000318.
- Allen, M.B., Kheirkhah, M., Emami, M.H., Jones, S.J., 2011. Right-lateral shear across Iran and kinematic change in the Arabia–Eurasia collision zone. Geophys. J. Int.. doi:10.1111/j.1365-246X.2010.04874.x
- Allen, M.B., Jones, S., Ismail-Zadeh, A., Simmons, M., Anderson, L., 2002. Onset of subduction as the cause of rapid Pliocene-Quaternary subsidence in the South Caspian basin. Geology 30 (9), 775–778.
- Allen, M., Ghassemi, M.R., Shahrabi, M., Qorashi, M., 2003. Accommodation of late Cenozoic oblique shortening in the Alborz range, northern Iran. Journal of Structural Geology 25, 659–672.
- Allen, M., Jackson, J.A., Walker, R., 2004. Late Cenozoic reorganization of the Arabia– Eurasia collision and the comparison of short-term and long-term deformation rates. Tectonics 23. doi:10.1029/2003TC001530.
- Alvarez, W., 2010. Protracted continental collisions argue for continental plates driven by basal traction. Earth and Planetary Science Letters 3–4, 434–442. doi:10.1016/ j.epsl.2010.05.030.
- Anastasio, D.J., Fisher, D.M., Messina, T.A., Holl, J.E., 1997. Kinematics of decollement folding in the Lost River Range, Idaho. Journal of Structural Geology 19, 355–368.
- Arfania, R., Shahriari, S., 2009. Role of southeastern Sanandaj–Sirjan Zone in the tectonic evolution of Zagros Orogenic Belt, Iran. Island Arc 18 (4), 555–576. doi:10.1111/ j.1440-1738.2009.00680.x.
- Armijo, R., Meyer, B., Hubert, A., Barka, A., 1999. Westward propagation of the North Anatolian fault into the northern Aegean: timing and kinematics. Geology 27 (3), 267–270. doi:10.1130/0091-7613(1999) 027<0267:wpotna>2.3.co;2.
- ArRajehi, A., McClusky, S., Reilinger, R., Daoud, M., Alchalbi, A., Ergintav, S., Gomez, F., Sholan, J., Bou-Rabee, F., Ogubazghi, G., Haileab, B., Fisseha, S., Asfaw, L., Mahmoud, S., Rayan, A., Bendik, R., Kogan, L., 2010. Geodetic constraints on present-day motion of the Arabian Plate: implications for Red Sea and Gulf of Aden rifting. Tectonics 29, TC3011.
- Arvin, M., 1982. Petrology and Geochemistry of Ophiolites and Associated Rocks from the Zagros Suture, Neyriz. London University, London, Iran.
- Aubourg, C., Smith, B., Bakhtari, H.R., Guya, N., Eshraghi, A., 2008. Tertiary block rotations in the Fars Arc (Zagros, Iran). Geophysical Journal International 173 (2), 659–673. doi:10.1111/j.1365-246X.2008.03732.x.
- Aubourg, C., Smith, B., Eshraghi, A., Lacombe, O., Authemayou, C., Amrouch, K., Bellier, O., Mouthereau, F., 2010. New magnetic fabric data and their comparison with paleostress markers in the Western Fars Arc (Zagros, Iran): tectonic implications. In: Robin, C., Leturmy, P. (Eds.), Tectonic and Stratigrapic Evolution of Zagros and Makran during the Mesozoic–Cenozoic. Geological Society of London, London, pp. 97–120.
- Austermann, J., Iaffaldano, G. Bunge, H.-P., in review. The competing roles of Zagros orogeny and Tethys slab-break-off in slowing down Arabia/Eurasia convergence since ~12 Ma.
- Authemayou, C., Bellier, O., Chardon, D., Malekzade, Z., Abbassi, M., 2005. Role of Kazerun fault system in active deformation of the Zagros fold-and-thrust belt (Iran). Comptes Rendus de l' Academie des Sciences 337 (5), 539–545.
- Authemayou, C., Chardon, D., Bellier, O., Malekzadeh, Z., Shabanian, E., Abbassi, M.R., 2006. Late Cenozoic partitioning of oblique plate convergence in the Zagros foldand-thrust belt (Iran). Tectonics 25, TC3002. doi:10.1029/2005TC001860.
- Authemayou, C., Bellier, O., Chardon, D., Benedetti, L., Malekzade, Z., Claude, C., Angeletti, B., Shabanian, E., Abassi, M.R., 2009. Quaternary slip-rates of the Kazerun and the Main Recent Faults: active strike-slip partitioning in the Zagros fold-and-thrust belt. Geophysical Journal International 178, 524–540. doi:10.1111/j.1365-246X.2009.04191.x.
- Axen, G., Lam, P.S., Grove, M., Stockli, D.F., Hassanzadeh, J., 2001. Exhumation of the westcentral Alborz Mountains, Iran, Caspian subsidence, and collision-related tectonics. Geology 29 (6), 559–562.
- Babaei, A., Babaie, H.A., Arvin, M., 2005. Tectonic evolution of the Neyriz ophiolite, Iran: an accretionary prism model. Ofioliti 30 (2), 65–74.
- Babaie, H.A., Ghazi, A.M., Babaei, A., La Tour, T.E., Hassanipak, A.A., 2001. Geochemistry of arc volcanic rocks of the Zagros Crush Zone, Neyriz, Iran. Journal of Asian Earth Sciences 19, 61–76.
- Babaie, H.A., Babaei, A., Ghazi, M.A., Arvin, M., 2006. Geochemical, ⁴⁰Ar/³⁹Ar age, and isotopic data for crustal rocks of the Neyriz ophiolite, Iran. Canadian Journal of Earth Sciences 43, 57–70. doi:10.1139/E05-111.

- Bahroudi, A., Koyi, H.A., 2003. Effect of spatial distribution of Hormuz salt on deformation style in the Zagros fold and thrust belt: an analogue modelling approach. Journal of the Geological Society of London 160, 1–15.
- Bahroudi, A., Talbot, C.J., 2003. The configuration of the basement beneath the Zagros basin. Journal of Petroleum Geology 26, 257–282.
- Bakhtari, H.R., Frizon de Lamotte, D., Aubourg, C., Hassanzaddeh, J., 1998. Magnetic fabrics of Tertiary sandstones from the Arc of Fars (Eastern Zagros, Iran). Tectonophysics 28, 299–316.
- Ballato, P., Nowaczyk, N.R., Landgraf, A., Strecker, M.R., Friedrich, A., Tabatabaei, S.H., 2008. Tectonic control on sedimentary facies pattern and sediment accumulation rates in the Miocene foreland basin of the southern Alborz mountains, northern Iran, Tectonics 27, TC6001. doi:10.1029/2008TC002278.
- Ballato, P., Uba, C.E., Landgraf, A., Strecker, M.R., Sudo, M., Stockli, D., Friedrich, A., Tabatabaei, S.H., 2011. Arabia–Eurasia continental collision: insights from late Tertiary forelandbasin evolution in the Alborz Mountains, northern Iran. Geological Society of America Bulletin 123 (1/2), 106–131. doi:10.1130/B30091.1.
- Barrier, E., Vrielynck, B., 2008. Palaeotectonic maps of the Middle East: Tectonono-Sedimentary-Palinspastic maps from Late Norian to Pliocene. In: CCGM (Ed.), Atlas of 14 maps at 1/18 500 000, Paris, France.
- Beaumont, C., Muñoz, J.A., Hamilton, J., Fullsack, P., 2000. Factors controlling the Alpine evolution of the Central Pyrenees inferred from a comparison of observations and geodynamical models. Journal of Geophysical Research 105 (4), 8121–8145.
- Becker, T.W., Faccenna, C., 2011. Mantle conveyor beneath the Tethyan collisional belt. Earth and Planetary Science Letters 310 (3–4), 453–461. doi:10.1016/j.epsl.2011.08.021.
- Bellahsen, N., Faccenna, C., Funiciello, R., Daniel, J.-M., Jolivet, L., 2003. Why did Arabia separate from Africa? Insights from 3-D laboratory experiments. Earth and Planetary Science Letters 216 (3), 365–381.
- Bellahsen, N., Fiore, P., Pollard, D.D., 2006. The role of fractures in the structural interpretation of Sheep Mountain Anticline, Wyoming. Journal of Structural Geology 28, 850–867.
- Berberian, M., 1995. Master "blind" thrust faults hidden under the Zagros folds: active basement tectonics and surface tectonics surface morphotectonics. Tectonophysics 241, 193–224.
- Berberian, F., Berberian, M., 1981. Tectono-plutonic episodes in Iran. In: Gupta, H.K., Delany, F.M. (Eds.), Zagros–Hindu Kush–Himalaya Geodynamic Evolution. American Geophysical Union, Washington, D.C., pp. 5–32.
- Berberian, M., King, G.C.P., 1981. Towards a paleogeography and tectonic evolution of Iran. Journal Canadien des Sciences de la Terre (Canadian Journal of Earth Sciences) 18.
- Berberian, F., Muir, I.D., Pankhurst, R.J., Berberian, M., 1982. Late Cretaceous and early Miocene Andean-type plutonic activity in northern Makran and Central Iran. Journal of the Geological Society of London 139, 605–614.
- Bergbauer, S., Pollard, D.D., 2004. A new conceptual fold-fracture model including prefolding joints, based on the Emigrant Gap Anticline, Wyoming. Geological Society of America Bulletin 116, 294–307.
- Bernard, D., Caillat, C., Dehlavi, P., Martel-Jentin, B., Vivier, G., 1979. Premières données géochronométriques sur les roches intrusives de la région de Saveh, Iran, 7ème Réunion des Sciences de la Terre. Société Géologique de France, Lyon, p. 314.
- Berthier, F., 1974. Etude stratigraphique pétrologique et structurale de la région de Khorramabad. Université de Grenoble, p. 281.
- Beydoun, Z.R., Clarke, M.W.H., Stoneley, R., 1992. Petroleum in the Zagros Basin; a late Tertiary foreland basin overprinted onto the outer edge of a vast hydrocarbon-rich Paleozoic–Mesozoic passive-margin shelf. In: Macqueen, R.W., Leckie, D.A. (Eds.), Foreland Basins and Fold Belts, pp. 309–339.
- Bina, M.M., Bucur, I., Prevot, M., Meyerfeld, Y., Daly, L., Cantagrel, J.M., Mergoil, J., 1986. Palaeomagnetism, petrology and geochronology of tertiary magmatic and sedimentary units from Iran. Tectonophysics 121, 303–329.
- Blanc, E.J.-P., Allen, M.B., Inger, S., Hassani, H., 2003. Structural styles in the Zagros Simple Folded Zone, Iran. Journal of the Geological Society 160 (3), 401–412. doi:10.1144/ 0016-764902-110.
- Bordenave, M.L., Hegre, J.A., 2010. Current distribution of oil and gas fields in the Zagros Fold Belt of Iran and contiguous offshore as the result of the petroleum systems. In: Leturmy, P., Robin, C. (Eds.), Tectonic and Stratigraphic Evolution of Zagros and Makran during the Mesozoic–Cenozoic Geological Society of London, London, pp. 291–353.
- Braud, J., 1970. Les formations du Zagros dans la région de Kermanshah (Iran) et leur rapports structuraux. Comptes Rendus de l'Académie des Sciences 271, 1241–1244.
- Braud, J., 1987. La suture du Zagros au niveau de Kermanshah (Kurdistan Iranien): reconstitution paléogéographique, évolution géodynamique, magmatique et structurale. Ph.D. Thesis, Paris-Sud, Orsay, p. 488.
 Brunet, M.F., Korotaev, M.V., Ershov, A.V., Nikishin, A.M., 2003. The South Caspian
- Brunet, M.F., Korotaev, M.V., Ershov, A.V., Nikishin, A.M., 2003. The South Caspian Basin: a review of its evolution from subsidence modelling. Sedimentary Geology 156 (1–4), 119–148. doi:10.1016/s0037-0738(02)00285-3.
- Bürgmann, R., Dresen, G., 2008. Rheology of the lower crust and upper mantle: evidence from rock mechanics, geodesy, and field observations. Annual Review of Earth and Planetary Sciences. Annual Reviews, Palo Alto, pp. 531–567.
- Capitanio, F.A., Morra, G., Goes, S., Weinberg, R.F., Moresi, L., 2010. India–Asia convergence driven by the subduction of the Greater Indian continent. Nature Geoscience 3 (2), 136–139. doi:10.1038/ngeo725.
- Carruba, S., Perotti, C.R., Buonaguro, R., Calabrò, R., Carpi, R., Naini, M., 2006. Structural pattern of the Zagros fold-and-thrust belt in the Dezful Embayment (SW Iran). Geological Society of America Special Papers 414, 11–32. doi:10.1130/2006.2414(02).
- Casciello, E., Vergés, J., Saura, E., Casini, G., Fernandez, N., Blanc, E., Homke, S., Hunt, D.W., 2009. Fold patterns and multilayer rheology of the Lurestan Province, Zagros Simply Folded Belt (Iran). Journal of the Geological Society 166, 947–959. doi:10.1144/0016-76492008-138.

- Casini, G., Gillespie, P.A., Vergés, J., Romaire, I., Fernández, N., Casciello, E., Saura, E., Mehl, C., Homke, S., Embry, J.-C., Aghajari, L., Hunt, D.W., 2011. Sub-seismic fractures in foreland fold and thrust belts: insight from the Lurestan Province, Zagros Mountains, Iran. Petroleum Geoscience 17 (3), 263–282. doi:10.1144/1354-079310-043.
- Chang, S.J., van der Lee, S., Flanagan, M.P., Bedle, H., Marone, F., Matzel, E.M., Pasyanos, M.E., Rodgers, A.J., Romanowicz, B., Schmid, C., 2010. Joint inversion for threedimensional S velocity mantle structure along the Tethyan margin. Journal of Geophysical Research, Solid Earth 115, B08309. doi:10.1029/2009jb007204.
- Chapple, W.M., 1978. Mechanics of thin-skinned fold-and-thrust belts. Geological Society of America Bulletin 89, 1189–1198.
- Chu, D., Gordon, R.G., 1998. Current plate motions across the Red Sea. Geophys. J. Int. 135 (2), 313–328.
- Chung, S.L., Zarrinkoub, M.H., Karakhanyan, A.S., Javakhishvili, Z., Lo, C.-H., 2010. A comparative study if the Tibet/Himalaya and Caucasus/Iran orogenic belts: magmatic perspectives, tectonic crossroads: evolving orogens of Eurasia–Africa–Arabia. Geological Society of America, Ankara, Turkey.
- Cloos, M., 1993. Lithospheric buoyancy and collisional orogenesis subduction of oceanic plateaus, continental margins, island arcs, spreading ridges, and seamounts. Geological Society of America Bulletin 105 (6), 715–737. doi:10.1130/0016-7606(1993) 105<0715:lbacos>2.3.co;2.
- Colman-Sadd, S., 1978. Fold development in Zagros simply folded belt, Southwest Iran. AAPG Bulletin 62, 984–1003.
- Conrad, C.P., Lithgow-Bertelloni, C., 2004. The temporal evolution of plate driving forces: importance of "slab suction" versus "slab pull" during the Cenozoic. Journal of Geophysical Research, Solid Earth 109 (B10), B10407. doi:10.1029/2004jb002991.
- Couzens, B.A., Dunne, W.M., 1994. Displacement transfer at thrust terminations: the Saltville Thrust and Sinking Creek Anticline, Virginia, U.S.A. Journal of Structural Geology 16, 781–793.
- Dahlen, F.A., 1990. Critical taper model of fold-and-thrust belts and accretionary wedges. Annual Review of Earth and Planetary Sciences 18, 55–99.
- Davis, D.M., Engelder, T., 1985. Role of salt in fold-and-thrust belts. Tectonophysics 119, 67–88.
- Davis, D., Suppe, J., Dahlen, F.A., 1983. Mechanics of fold-and-thrust belts and accretionary wedges. Journal of Geophysical Research 88 (B2), 1153–1172.
- Delaloye, M., Desmons, J., 1980. Ophiolites and melange terranes in Iran: a geochronological study and its paleotectonic implications. Tectonophysics 68, 83–111.
- Dercourt, J., Zonenshain, L.P., Ricou, L.E., Kazmin, V.G., Lepichon, X., Knipper, A.L., Grandjacquet, C., Sbortshikov, I.M., Geyssant, J., Lepvrier, C., Pechersky, D.H., Boulin, J., Sibuet, J.C., Savostin, L.A., Sorokhtin, O., Westphal, M., Bazhenov, M.L., Lauer, J.P., Bijuduval, B., 1986. Geological evolution of the Tethys belt from the Atlantic to the Pamirs since the Lias. Tectonophysics 123 (1–4), 241–315. doi:10.1016/0040-1951(86)90199-x.
- Dewey, J.F., Pitman, W.C., Ryan, W.B.F., Bonnin, J., 1973. Plate tectonics and evolution of alpine system. Geological Society of America Bulletin 84 (10), 3137–3180. doi:10.1130/0016-7606(1973)84<3137:ptateo>2.0.co;2.
- Edgell, H.S., 1996. Salt tectonism in the Persian Gulf Basin. In: Alsop, G.I., Blundell, D.J., Davison, I. (Eds.), Salt Tectonics, London, pp. 129–151.
- Ehrenberg, S.N., Pickard, N.A.H., Laursen, G.V., Monibi, S., Mossadegh, Z.K., Svånå, T.A., Aqrawi, A.A.M., McArthur, J.M., Thirlwall, M.F., 2007. Strontium isotope stratigraphy of the Asmari Formation (Oligocene–Lower Miocene), SW Iran. Journal of Petroleum Geology 30 (2), 107–128.
- Emami, H., 2008. Foreland propagation of folding and structure of the Mountain Front Flexure in the Pusht-e Kuh arc (NW Zagros, Iran). PhD Thesis University of Barcelona, 1–181.
- Emami, H., Vergés, J., Nalpas, T., Gillespie, P., Sharp, I., Karpuz, R., Blanc, E.P., Goodarzi, M.G.H., 2010. Structure of the Mountain Front Flexure along the Anaran anticline in the Pusht-e Kuh Arc (NW Zagros, Iran): insights from sand box models. In: Leturmy, P., Robin, C. (Eds.), Tectonic and Stratigraphic Evolution of Zagros and Makran during the Mesozoic–Cenozoic. Geological Society, London, London, pp. 155–178.
- Erslev, E.A., Mayborn, K.R., 1997. Multiple geometries and modes of fault-propagation folding in the Canadian thrust belt. Journal of Structural Geology 19, 321–335.
- Faccenna, C., Bellier, O., Martinod, J., Piromallo, C., Regard, V., 2006. Slab detachment beneath eastern Anatolia: a possible cause for the formation of the North Anatolian fault. Earth and Planetary Science Letters 242 (1–2), 85–97.
- Fakhari, M., Evers, H.J., Verrall, P., 1977. Geological map of Surmeh area, North Fars province, 1:50,000, Exploration Division, Oil Service Company of Iran.
- Fakhari, M.D., Axen, G.J., Horton, B.K., Hassanzadeh, J., Amini, A., 2008. Revised age of proximal deposits in the Zagros foreland basin and implications for Cenozoic evolution of the High Zagros. Tectonophysics 451 (1–4), 170–185. doi:10.1016/ j.tecto.2007.11.064.
- Falcon, N.L., 1961. Major earth-flexuring in the Zagros Mountains of south-west Iran. Quarterly Journal of the Geological Society of London 177, 367–376.
- Falcon, N., 1974a. Zagros mountains. In: Spencer, A. (Ed.), Mesozoic–Cenozoic Orogenic Belts, pp. 199–211.
- Falcon, N.L. 1974b. Southern Iran: Zagros Mountains. Geological Society, London, Special Publications 4 (1) 199-21110.1144/GSLSP.2005.004.01.11.
- Farzipour-Saein, A., Yassaghi, A., Sherkati, S., Koyi, H., 2009. Mechanical stratigraphy and folding style of the Lurestan region in the Zagros Fold-Thrust Belt, Iran. Journal of the Geological Society 166 (6), 1101–1115. doi:10.1144/0016-76492008-162.
- Fischer, M.P., Woodward, N.B., Mitchell, M.M., 1992. The kinematics of break-thrust folds. Journal of Structural Geology 14, 451–460.
- Ford, M., 2004. Depositional wedge tops: interaction between low basal friction external orogenic wedges and flexural foreland basins. Basin Research 16 (3), 361–375. doi:10.1111/j.1365-2117.2004.00236.x.

- Gavillot, Y., Axen, G.J., Stockli, D.F., Horton, B.K., Fakhari, M.D., 2010. Timing of thrust activity in the High Zagros fold-thrust belt, Iran, from (U–Th)/He thermochronometry. Tectonics 29 (TC4025). doi:10.1029/2009TC002484.
- Ghazi, J.M., Moazzen, M., Rahghoshay, M., Moghadam, H.S., 2011. The geodynamic setting of the nain ophiolites, central iran: evidence from chromian spinels in the chromitites and associated rocks. Ofioliti 36 (1), 59–76.
- Gholipour, A.M., 1998. Patterns and structural positions of productive fractures in the Asmari reservoirs, Southwest Iran. Journal of Canadian Petroleum Technology 37 (1), 44–50.
- Gidon, M., Berthier, F., Billiautt, J.-P., Halbronn, B., Maurizot, P., 1974. Sur quelques caractères de la tectonique Néocrétacée dans la région de Borudjerd (Zagros Oriental, Iran). Comptes Rendus de l'Académie des Sciences 278, 577–580.
- Gök, R., Mahdi, H., Al-Shukri, H., Rodgers, A.J., 2008. Crustal structure of Iraq from receiver functions and surface wave dispersion: implications for understanding the deformation history of the Arabian–Eurasian collision. Geophysical Journal International 172, 1179–1187.
- Golonka, J., 2004. Plate tectonic evolution of the southern margin of Eurasia in the Mesozoic and Cenozoic. Tectonophysics 381, 235–273.
- Guest, B., Axen, G.J., Lam, P.S., Hassanzadeh, J., 2006a. Late Cenozoic shortening in the west-central Alborz Mountains, northern Iran, by combined conjugate strike-slip and thin-skinned deformation. Geosphere 2 (1), 35–52. doi:10.1130/GES00019.1.
- Guest, B., Stockli, D.F., Grove, M., Axen, G.J., Lam, P., Hassanzadeh, J., 2006b. Thermal histories from the central Alborz Mountains, northern Iran: implications for the spatial and temporal distribution of deformation in northern Iran. Geological Society of America Bulletin 118 (11/12), 1507–1521. doi:10.1130/B25819.1.
- Guest, B., Horton, B.K., Axen, G.J., Hassanzadeh, J., McIntosh, W.C., 2007. Middle to late Cenozoic basin evolution in the western Alborz Mountains: implications for the onset of collisional deformation in northern Iran. Tectonics 26 (TC6011). doi:10.1029/2006TC002091.
- Guo, Z.F., Wilson, M., Liu, J.Q., Mao, Q., 2006. Post-collisional, potassic and ultrapotassic magmatism of the northern Tibetan Plateau: constraints on characteristics of the mantle source, geodynamic setting and uplift mechanisms. Journal of Petrology 47 (6), 1177–1220. doi:10.1093/petrology/eg1007.
- Guo, Z.F., Wilson, M., Liu, J.Q., 2007. Post-collisional adakites in south Tibet: products of partial melting of subduction-modified lower crust. Lithos 96 (1–2), 205–224. doi:10.1016/j.lithos.2006.09.011.
- Hafkenscheid, E., Wortel, M.J.R., Spakman, W., 2006. Subduction history of the Tethyan region derived from seismic tomography and tectonic reconstructions. Journal of Geophysical Research 111, B08401. doi:10.1029/2005JB003791.
- Hallam, A., 1976. Geology and plate tectonics interpretation of the sediments of the Mesozoic radiolarite-ophiolite complex in the Neyriz region, southern Iran. Geological Society of America Bulletin 87, 47–52.
- Harzhauser, M., Kroh, A., Mandic, O., Piller, E.W., Gohlich, U., Reuter, M., Berning, B., 2007. Biogeographic responses to geodynamics: a key study all around the Oligo-Miocene Tethyan Seaway. Zoologischer Anzeiger 246, 241–256.
- Hatzfeld, D., Molnar, P., 2010. Comparisons of the kinematics and deep structures of the Zagros and Himalaya and of the Iranian and Tibetan plateaus and geodynamic implication. Reviews of Geophysics 48, RG2005. doi:10.1029/2009RG000304.
- Hatzfeld, D., Tatar, M., Priestley, K., Ghafori-Ashtiany, M., 2003. Seismological constraints on the crustal structure beneath the Zagros Mountain Belt (Iran). Geophysical Journal International 155, 403–410.
- Haynes, S.J., McQuillan, H., 1974. Evolution of Zagros suture zone, southern Iran. Geol. Soc. Am. Bull. 85 (5), 739–744. doi:10.1130/0016-7606(1974)85<739: eotzsz>2.0.co;2.
- Haynes, S.J., Reynolds, P.H., 1980. Early development of Tethys and Jurassic ophiolite displacement. Nature 283, 561–563.
- Hessami, K., Koyi, H.A., Talbot, C.J., Tabasi, H., Shabanian, E., 2001. Progressive unconformities within an evolving foreland fold-thrust belt, Zagros Mountains. Journal of the Geological Society 158, 969–981.
- Hessami, K., Nilforoushan, F., Talbot, C.J., 2006. Active deformation within the Zagros Mountains deduced from GPS measurements. Journal of the Geological Society 163 (1), 143–148. doi:10.1144/0016-764905-031.
- Hollingsworth, J., Jackson, J., Walker, R., Gheitanchi, M.R., Bolourchi, M.J., 2006. Strikeslip faulting, rotation, and along-strike elongation in the Kopeh Dagh mountains, NE Iran. Geophysical Journal International 166 (3), 1161–1177. doi:10.1111/ j.1365-246X.2006.02983.x.
- Hollingsworth, J., Fattahi, M., Walker, R., Talebian, M., Bahroudi, A., Bolourchi, M.J., Jackson, J., Copley, A., 2010. Oroclinal bending, distributed thrust and strike-slip faulting, and the accommodation of Arabia–Eurasia convergence in NE Iran since the Oligocene. Geophysical Journal International 181 (3), 1214–1246. doi:10.1111/j.1365-246X.2010.04591.x.
- Homke, S., Vergés, J., Garcés, M., Emami, H., Karpuz, R., 2004. Magnetostratigraphy of Miocene–Pliocene Zagros foreland deposits in the front of the Push-e Kush Arc (Lurestan Province, Iran). Earth and Planetary Science Letters 225, 397–410.
- Homke, S., Vergés, J., Serra-Kiel, J., Bernaola, G., Sharp, I., Garcés, M., Montero-Verdú, I., Karpuz, R., Goodarzi, M.H., 2009. Late Cretaceous–Paleocene formation of the proto-Zagros foreland basin, Lorestan Province, SW Iran. Geological Society of America Bulletin 121 (7–8), 963–978.
- Homke, S., Vergés, J., van der Beek, P.A., Fernàndez, M., Saura, E., Barbero, L., Badics, B., Labrin, E., 2010. Insights in the exhumation history of the NW Zagros from bedrock and detrital apatite fission-track analysis: evidence for a long-lived orogeny. Basin Research 22 (5), 659–680. doi:10.1111/j.1365-2117.2009.00431.x.
- Horton, B.K., Hassanzadeh, J., Stockli, D.F., Axen, G.J., Gillis, R.J., Guest, B., Amini, A., Fakhari, M., Zamanzadeh, S.M., Grove, M., 2008. Detrital zircon provenance of Neoproterozoic to Cenozoic deposits in Iran: implications for chronostratigraphy and collisional tectonics. Tectonophysics 451 (1–4), 97–122. doi:10.1016/j.tecto.2007.11.063.

- Houshmand Zadeh, A., Ohanian, A.T., Sahandi, N., Taraz, B.H., Aghanabati, A., Soheili, C.M., Azarm, F., Hamdi, B., 1990. Geological map of Eqlid. Geological Survey of Iran. p. Quadrangle G10.
- Humphreys, E.D., 1995. Post-Laramide removal of the Farallon slab, western United States. Geology 23 (11), 987–990. doi:10.1130/0091-7613(1995) 023<0987: plrotf>2.3.co;2.
- Iaffaldano, G., Bunge, H.P., Dixon, T.H., 2006. Feedback between mountain belt growth and plate convergence. Geology 34 (10), 893–896. doi:10.1130/g22661.1.
- Jackson, J.A., 1980. Reactivation of basement faults and crustal shortening in orogenic belts. Nature 283, 343–346.
- Jackson, J., Priestley, K., Allen, M., Berberian, M., 2002. Active tectonics of the South Caspian Basin. Geophysical Journal International 148 (2), 214–245.
- Jahangiri, A., 2007. Post-collisional Miocene adakitic volcanism in NW Iran: geochemical and geodynamic implications. Journal of Asian Earth Sciences 30 (3–4), 433–447. doi:10.1016/j.jseaes.2006.11.008.
- Jahani, S., Callot, J.-P., Letouzey, J., Frizon de Lamotte, D., 2009. The eastern termination of the Zagros Fold-and-Thrust Belt, Iran: structures, evolution, and relationships between salt plugs, folding, and faulting. Tectonics 28, TC6004. doi:10.1029/ 2008TC002418.
- James, G.A., Wynd, J.G., 1965. Stratigraphic nomenclature of Iranian oil consortium agreement area. AAPG Bulletin 49, 2162–2245.
- Javidfakhr, B., Bellier, O., Shabanian, E., Ahmadian, S., Saidi, A., 2011. Plio-Quaternary tectonic regime changes in the transition zone between Alborz and Kopeh Dagh mountain ranges (NE Iran). Tectonophysics 506 (1–4), 86–108. doi:10.1016/ i.tecto.2011.04.013.
- Jolivet, L., Facenna, C., 2000. Mediterranean extension and the Africa–Eurasia collision. Tectonics 19 (6), 1095–1106.
- Kaviani, A., Paul, A., Bourova, E., Hatzfeld, D., Pedersen, H., Mokhtari, M., 2007. A strong seismic velocity contrast in the shallow mantle across the collision zone (Iran). Geophysical Journal International 171, 399–410. doi:10.1111/ j.1365-246X.2007.03535.x.
- Kaviani, A., Hatzfeld, D., Paul, A., Tatar, M., Priestley, K., 2009. Shear-wave splitting, lithospheric anisotropy, and mantle deformation beneath the Arabia–Eurasia collision zone in Iran. Earth and Planetary Science Letters 286 (3–4), 371–378. doi:10.1016/ j.epsl.2009.07.003.
- Kazmin, V.G., Sbortshikov, I.M., Ricou, L.E., Zonenshain, L.P., Boulin, J., Knipper, A.L., 1986. Volcanic belts as markers of the Mesozoic–Cenozoic active margin of Eurasia. Tectonophysics 123 (1–4), 123–152. doi:10.1016/0040-1951(86) 90195-2.
- Keshvari, F., Shomali, Z.H., Tatar, M., Kaviani, A., 2011. Upper-mantle S-velocity structure across the Zagros collision zone resolved by nonlinear teleseismic tomography. Journal of Seismology 15 (2), 329–339. doi:10.1007/s10950-011-9226-y.
- Keskin, M., 2003. Magma generation by slab steepening and breakoff beneath a subduction–accretion complex: an alternative model for collision-related volcanism in Eastern Anatolia, Turkey. Geophysical Research Letters 30 (24), 1–4. doi:10.1029/2003gl018019 8046.
- Khadivi, S., Mouthereau, F., Larrasoaña, J.C., Vergés, J., Lacombe, O., Khademi, E., Beamud, E., Melinte-Dobrinescu, M., Suc, J.-P., 2010. Magnetochronology of synorogenic Miocene foreland sediments in the Fars arc of the Zagros Folded Belt (SW Iran). Basin Research 22 (6), 918–932.
- Khadivi, S., Mouthereau, F., Barbarand, J., Adatte, T., Lacombe, O., 2012. Constraints on paleodrainage evolution induced by uplift and exhumation on the southern flank of the Zagros-Iranian Plateau. Journal of the Geological Society 169 (1). doi:10.1144/0016-76492011-031.
- Kocsis, L., Vennemann, T.W., Hegner, E., Fontignie, D., Tütken, T., 2009. Constraints on Miocene oceanography and climate in the Western and Central Paratethys: O-, Sr-, and Nd-isotope compositions of marine fish and mammal remains. Palaeogeography, Palaeoclimatology, Palaeoecology 271, 117–129.
- Koop, W., Stoneley, R., 1982. Subsidence history of the middle East Zagros basin, Permian to Recent. Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society of London 305, 149–168.
- Lacombe, O., Mouthereau, F., Kargar, S., Meyer, B., 2006. Late Cenozoic and modern stress fields in the western Fars (Iran): implications for the tectonic and kinematic evolution of central Zagros. Tectonics 25, TC1003. doi:10.1029/2005TC001831.
- Lacombe, O., Amrouch, K., Mouthereau, F., Dissez, L., 2007. Calcite twinning constraints on late Neogene stress patterns and deformation mechanisms in the active Zagros collision belt. Geology 35 (3), 263–266.
- Lacombe, O., Bellahsen, N., Mouthereau, F., 2011. Fracture patterns in the Zagros Simply Folded Belt (Fars, Iran): constraints on early collisional tectonic history and role of basement faults. In: Lacombe, O., Grasemann, B., Simpson, G. (Eds.), Geological Magazine.
- Lanphere, M.A., Pamic, T., 1983. ⁴⁰Ar/³⁹Ar ages and tectonic setting of ophiolites from Neyriz area, south-east Zagros range, Iran. Tectonophysics 96, 245–256.
- Leroy, S., Gente, P., Fournier, M., d'Acremont, E., Patriat, P., Beslier, M.O., Bellahsen, N., Maia, M., Blais, A., Perrot, J., Al-Kathiri, A., Merkouriev, S., Fleury, J.M., Ruellan, P.Y., Lepvrier, C., Huchon, P., 2004. From rifting to spreading in the eastern Gulf of Aden: a geophysical survey of a young oceanic basin from margin to margin. Terra Nova 16 (4), 185–192. doi:10.1111/j.1365-3121.2004.00550.x.
- Leterrier, J., 1985. Mineralogical geochemical and isotopic evolution of two Miocene mafic intrusions from the Zagros (Iran). Lithos 18, 311–329.
- Leturmy, P., Molinaro, M., de Lamotte, D.F., 2010. Structure, timing and morphological signature of hidden reverse basement faults in the Fars Arc of the Zagros (Iran). Geological Society, London, Special Publications 330 (no. 1), 121–138. doi:10.1144/SP330.7 (June).
- Lyberis, N., Manby, G., 1999. Oblique to orthogonal convergence across the Turan block in the post-Miocene. American Association of Petroleum Geologists Bulletin 83 (no. 7), 1135–1160.

- Maggi, A., Priestley, K., 2005. Surface waveform tomography of the Turkish–Iranian Plateau. Geophysical Journal International 160, 1068–1080.
- Martel-Jentin, B., Caillat, C., Dehlavi, P., Vivier, G., 1979. Géochimie du volcanisme et du plutonisme paléogènes de la région de Saveh (Iran). Origine des tendances alcalines et calco-alcalines du Paléogène de la zone de l'Iran Central, 7ème Réunion des Sciences de la Terre. Société Géologique de France, Lyon.
- Martinod, J., Husson, L., Roperch, P., Guillaume, B., Espurt, N., 2010. Horizontal subduction zones, convergence velocity and the building of the Andes. Earth and Planetary Science Letters 299 (3–4), 299–309. doi:10.1016/j.epsl.2010.09.010.
- Masoudi, F., 1997. Contact Metamorphism and Pegmatite Development in the SW of Arak. University of Leeds, Iran, p. 231.
- Masoudi, F., Yardle, B.W.D., Cliff, R.A., 2002. Rb/Sr geochronology of pegmatites, plutonic rocks and hornfels in the region southwest of Arak, Iran. Iranian Journal of Sciences 13, 249–254.
- Masson, F., Chéry, J., Hatzfeld, D., Martinod, J., Vernant, P., Tavakoli, F., Ghafory-Ashtiani, M., 2004. Seismic versus aseismic deformation in Iran inferred from earthquakes and geodetic data. Geophysical Journal International 1–10.
- Masson, F., Anvari, M., Djamour, Y., Walsperdorf, A., Tavakoli, F., Daignières, M., Nankali, H., Van Gorp, S., 2007. Large-scale velocity field and strain tensor in Iran inferred from GPS measurements: new insight for the present-day deformation pattern within NE Iran. Geophys. J. Int. 170, 436–440.
- Mazhari, S.A., Bea, F., Amini, S., Ghalamghash, J., Molina, J.F., Montero, P., Scarrow, J.H., Williams, I.S., 2009. The Eocene bimodal Piranshahr massif of the Sanandaj–Sirjan Zone, NW Iran: a marker of the end of the collision in the Zagros orogen. Journal of the Geological Society of London 166, 53–69. doi:10.1144/0016-76492008-022.
- McClusky, S., Reilinger, R., Mahmoud, S., Ben Sari, D., Tealeb, A., 2003. GPS constraints on Africa (Nubia) and Arabia plate motions. Geophysical Journal International 155, 126–138.
- McQuarrie, N., 2004. Crustal scale geometry of the Zagros fold-thrust belt, Iran. Journal of Structural Geology 26, 519–535.
- McQuarrie, N., Stock, J.M., Verdel, C., Wernicke, B.P., 2003. Cenozoic evolution of Neotethys and implications for the causes of plate motions. Geophysical Research Letters 30, 20. doi:10.1029/2003GL017992.
- McQuillan, H., 1973. Small-scale fracture density in Asmari Formation of southwest Iran and its relation to bed thickness and structural setting. AAPG Bulletin 57 (12), 2367–2385.
- McQuillan, H., 1974. Fracture patterns on Kuh-e Asmari anticline, southwest Iran. AAPG Bulletin 58 (2), 236–246.
- Meyer, B., Le Dortz, K., 2007. Strike-slip kinematics in Central and Eastern Iran: estimating fault slip-rates averaged over the Holocene. Tectonics 26 (5), Tc5009. doi:10.1029/2006tc002073.
- Meyer, B., Mouthereau, F., Lacombe, O., Agard, P., 2006. Evidence of Quaternary activity along the Deshir Fault: implication for the Tertiary tectonics of Central Iran. Geophysical Journal International 164, 192–201.
- Mitra, S., 2003. A unified kinematic model for the evolution of detachment folds. Journal of Structural Geology 25, 1659–1673.
- Mobasher, K., Babaie, H., 2008. Kinematic significance of fold- and fault-related fracture systems in the Zagros mountains, southern Iran. Tectonophysics 451, 156–169.
- Moghadam, H.S., Stern, R.J., 2011. Geodynamic evolution of Upper Cretaceous Zagros ophiolites: formation of oceanic lithosphere above a nascent subduction zone. Geological Magazine 148 (5–6), 762–801. doi:10.1017/s0016756811000410.
- Moghadam, H.S., Stern, R.J., Rahgoshay, M., 2010. The Dehshir ophiolite (central Iran): geochemical constraints on the origin and evolution of the Inner Zagros ophiolite belt. Geological Society of America Bulletin 122 (9–10), 1516–1547. doi:10.1130/ b30066.1.
- Mohajjel, M., Fergusson, C.L., 2000. Dextral transpression in Late Cretaceous continental collision, Sanandaj–Sirjan Zone, western Iran. Journal of Structural Geology 22, 1125–1139.
- Molinaro, M., Guezou, J.C., Leturmy, P., Eshraghi, S.A., Frizon de Lamotte, D., 2004. The origin of changes in structural style across the Bandar Abbas syntaxis, SE Zagros (Iran). Marine and Petroleum Geology 21, 735–752.
- Molinaro, M., Leturmy, P., Guezou, J.-C., Frizon de Lamotte, D., Eshraghi, S.A., 2005a. The structure and kinematics of the south-eastern Zagros fold-thrust belt; Iran: from thin-skinned to thick-skinned tectonics. Tectonics 24, TC3007. doi:10.1029/ 2004TC001633.
- Molinaro, M., Zeyen, H., Laurencin, X., 2005b. Lithospheric structure underneath the SE Zagros Mountains, Iran: recent slab break-off? Terra Nova 25 (1), 1–6.
- Moritz, R., Ghazban, F., Singer, B., 2006. Eocene gold ore formation at Muteh, Sanandaj– Sirjan tectonic zone, western Iran: a result of late-stage extension and exhumation of metamorphic basement rocks within the Zagros orogen. Economic Geology 101, 1497–1524.
- Morley, C.K., Kongwung, B., Julapour, A.A., Abdolghafourian, M., Hajian, M., Waples, D., Warren, J., Otterdoom, H., Srisuriyon, K., Kazemi, H., 2009. Structural development of a major late Cenozoic basin and transpressional belt in central Iran: the Central Basin in the Qom–Saveh area. Geosphere 5 (4), 325–362. doi:10.1130/ges00223.1.
- Mouthereau, F., 2011. Timing of uplift in the Zagros belt/Iranian plateau and accommodation of late Cenozoic Arabia/Eurasia convergence. In: Lacombe, O., Grasemann, B., Simpson, G. (Eds.), Geodynamic Evolution of the Zagros. Geological Magazine, pp. 726–738.
- Mouthereau, F., Lacombe, O., Meyer, B., 2006. The Zagros Folded Belt (Fars, Iran): constraints from topography and critical wedge modelling. Geophysical Journal International 165, 336–356.
- Mouthereau, F., Lacombe, O., Tensi, J., Bellahsen, N., Kargar, S., Amrouch, K., 2007a. Mechanical constraints on the development of the Zagros Folded Belt (Fars). In: Lacombe, O., Lavé, J., Roure, F., Vergés, J. (Eds.), Thrust belts and foreland basins: from fold kinematics to hydrocarbon systems. Springer-Verlag, pp. 245–264.

- Mouthereau, F., Tensi, J., Bellahsen, N., Lacombe, O., De Boisgrollier, T., Kargar, S., 2007b. Tertiary sequence of deformation in a thin-skinned/thick-skinned collision belt: the Zagros Folded Belt (Fars, Iran). Tectonics 26, TC5006. doi:10.1029/ 2007TC002098.
- Myers, S.C., Johannesson, G., Simmons, N.A., 2011. Global-scale P wave tomography optimized for prediction of teleseismic and regional travel times for Middle East events: 1. Data set development. Journal of Geophysical Research, Solid Earth 116, B04304. doi:10.1029/2010jb007967.
- Navabpour, P., Angelier, J., Barrier, E., 2007. Cenozoic post-collisional brittle tectonic history and stress reorientation in the High Zagros Belt (Iran, Fars Province). Tectonophysics 432, 101–131.
- Navabpour, P., Angelier, J., Barrier, E., 2008. Stress state reconstruction of oblique collision and evolution of deformation partitioning in W-Zagros (Iran, Kermanshah). Geophysical Journal International 175, 755–782. doi:10.1111/ i.1365-246X.2008.03916.x.
- Nazari, H., Fattahi, M., Meyer, B., Sebrier, M., Talebian, M., Foroutan, M., Le Dortz, K., Bateman, M.D., Ghorashi, M., 2009. First evidence for large earthquakes on the Deshir Fault, Central Iran Plateau. Terra Nova 21 (6), 417–426. doi:10.1111/ j.1365-3121.2009.00892.x.
- Ni, J., Barazangi, M., 1986. Seismotectonics of the Zagros continental collision zone and a comparison with the Himilayas. Journal of Geophysical Research 91 (B8), 8205–8218.
- Nilforoushan, F., Masson, F., Vernant, P., Vigny, C., Martinod, J., Abbassi, M., Nankali, H., Hatzfeld, D., Bayer, R., Tavakoli, F., Ashtiani, A., Doerflinger, E., Daignières, M., Collard, P., Chéry, J., 2003. GPS network monitors the Arabia–Eurasia collision deformation in Iran. Journal of Geodesy 77, 411–422.
- Nissen, E., Yamini-Fard, F., Tatar, M., Gholamzadeh, A., Bergman, E., Elliott, J.R., Jackson, J.A., Parsons, B., 2010. The vertical separation of mainshock rupture and microseismicity at Qeshm island in the Zagros fold-and-thrust belt, Iran. Earth and Planetary Science Letters 296, 181–194.
- Nissen, E., Tatar, M., Jackson, J.A., Allen, M.B., 2011. New views on earthquake faulting in the Zagros fold-and-thrust belt of Iran. Geophysical Journal International 186 (3), 928–944. doi:10.1111/j.1365-246X.2011.051.
- Oberlander, T., 1985. Origin of drainage transverse to structures in orogens. In: Hack, J., Morisawa, M. (Eds.), Tectonic Geomorphology. Allen and Unwin, Boston, pp. 155–182.
- O'Brien, C.A.E., 1957. Salt diapirism in South Persia. Geologie en Mijnbouw, pp. 337–376. Okay, A.I., Zattin, M., Cavazza, W., 2010. Apatite fission-track data for the Miocene Arabia–
- Eurasia collision. Geology 38 (1), 35–38. doi:10.1130/G30234.1.
 Omrani, J., Agard, P., Whitechurch, H., Benoit, M., Prouteau, G., Jolivet, L., 2008. Arc-magmatism and subduction history beneath the Zagros Mountains, Iran: a new re-
- port of adakites and geodynamic consequences. Lithos 106, 380–398. doi:10.1016/ j.lithos.2008.09.008. Oveisi, B., Lavé, J., Van der Beek, P., Carcaillet, J., Benedetti, L., Aubourg, C., 2009. Thick-
- and thin-skinned deformation rates in the central Zagros simple folded zone (Iran) indicated by displacement of geomorphic surfaces. Geophysical Journal International 176, 627–654. doi:10.1111/j.1365-246X.2008.04002.x.
- Paul, A., Kaviani, A., Hatzfeld, D., Vergne, J., Mokhtari, M., 2006. Seismological evidence for crustal-scale thrusting in the Zagros mountain belt (Iran). Geophysical Journal International 166, 227–237.
- Paul, A., Hatzfeld, D., Kaviani, A., Tatar, M., Pequegnat, C., 2010. Seismic imaging of the lithospheric structure of the Zagros mountain belt (Iran). In: Leturmy, P., Robin, C. (Eds.), Tectonic and Stratigraphic Evolution of the Zagros and Makran during the Meso-Cenozoic, London, pp. 5–18.
- Pik, R., Marty, B., Carignan, J., Yirgu, G., Ayalew, T., 2008. Timing of East African Rift development in southern Ethiopia: implication for mantle plume activity and evolution of topography. Geology 36 (2), 167–170.
- Pope, D.C., Willett, S.D., 1998. Thermal-mechanical model for crustal thickening in the central Andes driven by ablative subduction. Geology 26 (6), 511–514.
- Rachidnejad-Omran, N., Emami, M.H., Sabzehei, M., Rastad, E., Bellon, H., Piqué, A., 2002. Lithostratigraphie et histoire paléozoïque à paléocène des complexes métamorphiques de la région de Muteh, zone de Sanandaj-Sirjan (Iran méridional). Comptes Rendus de l'Academie des Sciences 334, 1185–1191.
- Ramsey, L.A., Walker, R.T., Jackson, J., 2008. Fold evolution and drainage development in the Zagros mountains of Fars province, SE Iran. Basin Research 20, 23–48. doi:10.1111/j.1365-2117.2007.00342.x.
- Regard, V., Facenna, C., Martinod, J., Bellier, O., Thomas, J.-C., 2003. From subduction to collision: control of deep processes on the evolution of convergent plate boundary. Journal of Geophysical Research 108 (B4), 2208. doi:10.1029/2002]B001943.
- Regard, V., Bellier, O., Thomas, J.-C., Abbassi, M., Mercier, J., Shabanian, E., Feghhi, K., Soleymani, S., 2004. Accommodation of Arabia–Eurasia convergence in the Zagros–Makran transfer zone, SE Iran: a transition between collision and subduction through a young deforming system. Tectonics 23, TC4007. doi:10.1029/ 2003TC001599.
- Regard, V., Faccenna, C., Martinod, J., Bellier, O., 2005. Slab pull and indentation tectonics: insights from 3D laboratory experiments. Physics of the Earth and Planetary Interiors 149, 99–113.
- Regard, V., Hatzfeld, D., Molinaro, M., Aubourg, C., Bayer, R., Bellier, O., Yamini-Fard, F., Peyret, M., Abbassi, M., 2010. The transition between Makran subduction and the Zagros collision: recent advances in its structure and active deformation. In: Leturmy, P., Robin, C. (Eds.), Tectonic and Stratigraphic Evolution of Zagros and Makran during the Mesozoic–Cenozoic. Geological Soc Publishing House, Bath, pp. 43–64.
- Reilinger, R., McClusky, S., 2011. Nubia–Arabia–Eurasia plate motions and the dynamics of Mediterranean and Middle East tectonics. Geophysical Journal International 186 (3), 971–979. doi:10.1111/j.1365-246X.2011.05133.x.

- Reuter, M., Piller, W.E., Harzhauser, M., Mandic, O., Berning, B., Rogl, F., Kroh, A., Aubry, M.-P., Wielandt-Schuster, U., Hamedani, A., 2009. The Oligo-/Miocene Qom Formation (Iran): evidence for an early Burdigalian restriction of the Tethyan Seaway and closure of its Iranian gateways. International Journal of Earth Sciences 98 (3), 627–650. doi:10.1007/s00531-007-0269-9.
- Ricou, L.E., 1976. Evolution structurale de Zagrides. La region clef de Neyriz (Zagros iranien). Memoire Société Géologique de France 126 (11), 1–140.
- Ritz, J.F., Nazari, H., Ghassemi, A., Salamati, R., Shafei, A., Solaymani, S., Vernant, P., 2006. Active transtension inside central Alborz: a new insight into northern Iran–southern Caspian geodynamics. Geology 34 (6), 477–480. doi:10.1130/g22319.1.
- Robin, C., Gorican, S., Guillocheau, F., Razin, P., Dromart, G., Mosaffa, H., 2010. Mesozoic deep-water carbonate deposits from the southern Tethyan passive margin in Iran (Pichakun nappes, Neyriz area): biostratigraphy, facies sedimentology and sequence stratigraphy. In: Leturmy, P., Robin, C. (Eds.), Tectonic and Stratigraphic Evolution of Zagros and Makran during the Mesozoic–Cenozoic. Geological Society of London, London, pp. 179–210.
- Rosenbaum, G., Lister, G.S., Duboz, C., 2002. Relative motions of Africa, Iberia and Europe during Alpine orogeny. Tectonophysics 359 (1–2), 117–129. doi:10.1016/ S0040-1951(02)00442-0.
- Roustaei, M., Nissen, E., Abassi, M., Gholamzadeh, A., Ghorashi, M., Tatar, M., Yamini-Fard, F., Bergman, E., Jackson, J., Parsons, B., 2010. The 2006 March 25 Fin earthquakes (Iran)—insights into the vertical extents of faulting in the Zagros Simply Folded Belt. Geophysical Journal International 181 (3), 1275–1291. doi:10.1111/ j.1365-246X.2010.04601.x.
- Sanderson, D.J., 1982. Models of strain variation in nappes and thrust sheets: a review. Tectonophysics 88, 201–233.
- Sarkarinejad, K., Alizadeh, A., 2009. Dynamic model for the exhumation of the Tutak gneiss dome within a bivergent wedge in the Zagros Thrust System of Iran. Journal of Geodynamics 47, 201–209.
- Sarkarinejad, K., Azizi, A., 2008. Slip partitioning and inclined dextral transpression along the Zagros Thrust System, Iran. Journal of Structural Geology 30 (1), 116–136. doi:10.1016/j.jsg.2007.10.001.
- Sarkarinejad, K., Godin, L., Faghih, A., 2009. Kinematic vorticity flow analysis and ⁴⁰Ar/³⁹Ar geochronology related to inclined extrusion of the HP–LT metamorphic rocks along the Zagros accretionary prism, Iran. Journal of Structural Geology 1 (7), 691–706.
- Sattarzadeh, Y., Cosgrove, J.W., Vita-Finzi, C., 2000. The interplay of faulting and folding during the evolution of the Zagros deformation belt. In: Cosgrove, J.W., Ameen, M.S. (Eds.), Forced Folds and Fractures: Geol. Soc. London, Spec. Publ., London, pp. 187–196.
- Saura, E., Vergés, J., Homke, S., Blanc, E., Serra-Kiel, J., Bernaola, G., Casciello, E., Fernández, M., Romaire, I., Casini, G., Embry, J.C., Sharp, I., Hunt, D.W., 2011. Basin architecture and growth folding of the NW Zagros early foreland basin during the Late Cretaceous and early Tertiary. Journal of the Geological Society 168, 235–250. doi:10.1144/0016-76492010-092.
- Schmalholz, S.M., Podladchikov, Y., Burg, J.P., 2002. Control of folding by gravity and matrix thickness: implications for large-scale folding. J. Geophys. Res. 107 (B1). doi:10.1029/2001JB000355.
- Schuster, F., Wielandt, U., 1999. Oligocene and Early Miocene coral faunas from Iran: palaeoecology and palaeobiogeography. International Journal of Earth Sciences 88, 571–581.
- Sella, G.F., Dixon, T.H., Mao, A., 2002. REVEL: a model for recent plate velocities from space geodesy. Journal of Geophysical Research 107 (B4), 2081. doi:10.1029/ 2000[B000033.
- Sengor, A.M.C., Ozeren, S., Genc, T., Zor, E., 2003. East Anatolian high plateau as a mantle-supported, north–south shortened domal structure. Geophysical Research Letters 30 (24), 8045. doi:10.1029/2003gl017858.
- Sepehr, M., Cogrove, J.W., 2004. Structural framework of the Zagros Fold-Thrust Belt, Iran. Marine and Petroleum Geology 21, 829–843.
- Shabanian, E., Bellier, O., Siame, L., Arnaud, N., Abbassi, M.R., Cocheme, J.J., 2009a. New tectonic configuration in NE Iran: active strike-slip faulting between the Kopeh Dagh and Binalud mountains. Tectonics 28, TC5002. doi:10.1029/2008tc002444.
- Shabanian, E., Siame, L., Bellier, O., Benedetti, L., Abbassi, M.R., 2009b. Quaternary slip rates along the northeastern boundary of the Arabia–Eurasia collision zone (Kopeh Dagh Mountains, Northeast Iran). Geophysical Journal International 178 (2), 1055–1077. doi:10.1111/j.1365-246X.2009.04183.x.
- Shabanian, E., Bellier, O., Abbassi, M.R., Siame, L., Farbod, Y., 2010. Plio-Quaternary stress states in NE Iran: Kopeh Dagh and Allah Dagh-Binalud mountain ranges. Tectonophysics 480 (1-4), 280-304. doi:10.1016/j.tecto.2009.10.022.
- Sheikholeslami, M.R., Pique, A., Mobayen, P., Sabzehei, M., Bellon, H., Hashem Emami, M., 2008. Tectono-metamorphic evolution of the Neyriz metamorphic complex, Quri-Kor-e-Sefid area (Sanandaj–Sirjan Zone, SW Iran). Journal of Asian Earth Sciences 31, 504–521.
- Sherkati, S., Letouzey, J., 2004. Variation of structural style and basin evolution in the central Zagros (Izeh zone and Dezful Embayment), Iran. Marine and Petroleum Geology 21 (5), 535–554.
- Sherkati, S., Molinaro, M., Frizon de Lamotte, D., Letouzey, J., 2005. Detachment folding in the Central and Eastern Zagros fold-belt (Iran): salt mobility, multiple detachments and late basement control. Journal of Structural Geology 27 (9), 1680–1696.
- Sherkati, S., Letouzey, J., Frizon de Lamotte, D., 2006. Central Zagros fold-thrust belt (Iran): new insights from seismic data, field observation, and sandbox modeling. Tectonics 25, TC4007. doi:10.1029/2004TC001766.
- Shomali, Z.H., Keshvari, F., Hassanzadeh, J., Mirzaei, N., 2011. Lithospheric structure beneath the Zagros collision zone resolved by non-linear teleseismic tomography. Geophysical Journal International 187 (1), 394–406. doi:10.1111/j.1365-246X.2011.05150.x.
- Simmons, N.A., Myers, S.C., Johannesson, G., 2011. Global-scale P wave tomography optimized for prediction of teleseismic and regional travel times for Middle East

events: 2. Tomographic inversion. Journal of Geophysical Research, Solid Earth 116 (B04305). doi:10.1029/2010jb007969.

- Simpson, G.D.H., 2009. Mechanical modelling of folding versus faulting in brittle–ductile wedges. Journal of Structural Geology 31 (4), 369–381. doi:10.1016/j.jsg.2009.01.011.
- Sobel, E.R., Hilley, G.E., Stecker, M.R., 2003. Formation of internally drained contractional basins by aridity-limited bedrock incision. Journal of Geophysical Research 108 (B7), 2344. doi:10.1029/2002[B001883.
- Srivastava, D.C., Engelder, T., 1990. Crack-propagation sequence and pore-fluid conditions during fault-bend folding in the Appalachian Valley and Ridge, central Pennsylvania. Geological Society of America Bulletin 102, 116–128.
- Stampfli, G.M., Borel, G.D., 2002. A plate tectonic model for the Paleozoic and Mesozoic constrained by dynamic plate boundaries and restored synthetic oceanic isochrons. Earth and Planetary Science Letters 196 (1–2), 17–33. doi:10.1016/ s0012-821x(01)00588-x.
- Stephenson, B.J., Koopman, A., Hillgartner, H., McQuillan, H., Bourne, S., Noad, J.J., Rawnsley, K., 2007. Structural and stratigraphic controls on fold-related fracturing in the Zagros Mountains, Iran: implications for reservoir development. Fractured Reservoirs. Geological Society, London, Special Publications, London, pp. 1–21.
- Stocklin, J., 1968. Structural history and tectonics of Iran; a review. AAPG Bulletin 52 (7), 1229–1258.
- Stocklin, J., 1974. Possible ancient continental margins in Iran. In: Burk, C., Drake, C. (Eds.), Geology of Continental Margins, New York, pp. 873–877.
- Stockmal, G.S., Beaumont, C., Nguyen, M., Lee, B., 2007. Mechanics of thin-skinned foldand-thrust belts: insights from numerical models. In: Sears, J.W., Harms, T.A., Evenchick, C.A. (Eds.), Whence the Mountains? Inquiries into the Evolution of Orogenic Systems: A Volume in Honor of Raymond A Volume in Honor of Raymond A. Price. The Geological Society of Americ, pp. 63–98.
- Stoneley, R., 1981. The geology of the Kuh-e Dalneshin area of southern Iran, and its bearing on the evolution of southern Tethys. Journal of the Geological Society of London 138, 509–526.
- Storti, F., Salvini, F., 2001. The evolution of a model trap in the Central Apennines, Italy; fracture patterns, fault reactivation and development of cataclastic rocks in carbonates at the Narni Anticline. Journal of Petroleum Geology 24, 171–190.
- Talbot, C.J., Alavi, M., 1996. The past of a future syntaxis across the Zagros, in Alsop. In: Alsop, G.I., Blundell, D.J., Davison, I. (Eds.), Salt Tectonics. Geological Society, London, Special Publications, 100, pp. 89–109. doi:10.1144/GSLSP.1996.100.01.08. 1.
- Talebian, M., Jackson, J., 2002. Offset on the Main Recent Fault of the NW Iran and implications for the late Cenozoic tectonics of the Arabia–Eurasia collision zone. Geophysical Journal International 150, 422–439.
- Talebian, M., Jackson, J.A., 2004. A reappraisal of earthquake focal mechanisms and active shortening in the Zagros mountains of Iran. Geophysical Journal International 156, 506–526.
- Tatar, M., Hatzfeld, D., Martinod, J., Walperdorf, A., Ghafori-Ashtiany, M., Chéry, J., 2002. The present-day deformation of the central Zagros from GPS measurements. Geophysical Research Letters 29, 19. doi:10.1029/2002GL015427.
- Tatar, M., Hatzfeld, D., Ghafori-Ashtiany, M., 2004. Tectonics of the Central Zagros (Iran) deduced from microearthquakes seismicity. Geophysical Journal International 156, 255–266.
- Tavani, S., Storti, F., Fernandez, O., Munoz, J.A., Salvini, F., 2006. 3-D deformation pattern analysis and evolution of the Anisclo anticline, southern Pyrenees. Journal of Structural Geology 28, 695–712.
- Tillman, J.E., Poosti, A., Rossello, S., Eckert, A., 1981. Structural evolution of Sanandaj– Sirjan Ranges near Esfahan, Iran. AAPG Bulletin 65, 674–687.
- Tucker, G.E., Slingerland, R., 1996. Predicting sediment flux from fold and thrust belts. Basin Research 8, 329–349.
- Valizadeh, M.V., Cantagrel, J.M., 1975. K–Ar and Rb–Sr radiometric data on micas from Mt-Alvand granitic complex near Hamadan (Western Iran). Comptes Rendus de l'Académie des Sciences 281, 1083–1086.
- Van Buchem, F.S.P., Allan, T.L., Laursen, G.V., Lotfpour, M., Moallemi, A., Monibi, S., Motiei, H., Pickard, N.A.H., Tahmasbi, A.R., Vedrenne, V., Vincent, B., 2010. Regional stratigraphic architecture and reservoir types of the Oligo-Miocene deposits in the Dezful Embayment (Asmari and Pabdeh Formations) SW Iran. In: Van Buchem, F.S.P., Gerdes, K.D., Esteban, M. (Eds.), Mesozoic and Cenozoic Carbonate Systems of the Mediterranean and the Middle East: Stratigraphic and Diagenetic Reference Models: Geological Society, London, Special Publications, London, pp. 219–263.
- van Hunen, J., Allen, M.B., 2011. Continental collision and slab break-off: a comparison of 3-D numerical models with observations. Earth Planet. Sci. Lett 302 (1–2), 27–37. doi:10.1016/j.epsl.2010.11.035.
- Verdel, C., Wernicke, B.P., Ramezani, J., Hassanzadeh, J., Renne, P.R., Spell, T.L., 2007. Geology and thermochronology of Tertiary Cordilleran-style metamorphic core complexes in the Saghand region of central Iran. Geological Society of America Bulletin 119 (7/8), 961–977.
- Verdel, C., Wernicke, B.P., Hassanzadeh, J., Guest, B., 2011. A Paleogene extensional arc flare-up in Iran. Tectonics 30, Tc3008. doi:10.1029/2010tc002809.
- Vergés, J., 2007. Drainage responses to oblique and lateral thrust ramps: a review. In: Nichols, G., Paola, C., Williams, E. (Eds.), Sedimentary Processes, Environments and Basins: A Tribute to Peter Friend. : IAS Spec. Publ., vol. 38. Blackwell Publishing, pp. 29–47. Chapter 3.
- Vergés, J., Goodarzi, M.H., Emami, H., Karpuz, R., Efstatiou, J., Gillespie, P., 2011a. Multiple detachment folding in Pusht-e Kuh Arc, Zagros. Role of mechanical stratigraphy. In: McClay, K., Shaw, J., Suppe, J. (Eds.), Thrust Fault Related Folding: AAPG Memoir, 94, pp. 69–94. Chapter 4.
- Vergés, J., Saura, E., Casciello, E., Fernàndez, M., Villaseñor, A., Jiménez-Munt, I., García-Castellanos, D., 2011b. Crustal-scale cross-section across the NW Zagros Belt: implications for the Arabian Margin reconstruction. In: Lacombe, O., Grasemann, B.,

Simpson, G. (Eds.), Geodynamic Evolution of the Zagros: Geological Magazine, 148, pp. 739–761 (5–6).

- Vernant, P., Nilforoushan, F., Hatzfeld, D., Abbassi, M.R., Vigny, C., Masson, F., Nankali, H., Martinod, J., Ashtiani, A., Bayer, R., Tavakoli, F., Chéry, J., 2004. Present-day crustal deformation and plate kinematics in the Middle East constrained by GPS measurements in Iran and northern Oman. Geophysical Journal International 157, 381–398.
- Vincent, S.J., Allen, M.B., Ismail-Zadeh, A.D., Flecker, R., Foland, K.A., Simmons, M.D., 2005. Insights from the Talysh of Azerbaijan into the Paleogene evolution of the South Caspian region. Geological Society of America Bulletin 117 (11/12), 1513–1533. doi:10.1130/B25690.1.
- Vincent, S.J., Morton, A.C., Carter, A., Gibbs, S., Barabadze, T.G., 2007. Oligocene uplift of the Western Greater Caucasus: an effect of initial Arabia–Eurasia collision. Terra Nova 19 (2), 160–166. doi:10.1111/j.1365-3121.2007.00731.x.
- Walker, R., Jackson, J., 2004. Active tectonics and late Cenozoic strain distribution in central and eastern Iran. Tectonics 23 (5), Tc5010. doi:10.1029/2003tc001529.
 Walker, R.T., Ramsey, L.A., Jackson, J., 2011. Geomorphic evidence for ancestral drain-
- Walker, R.T., Ramsey, L.A., Jackson, J., 2011. Geomorphic evidence for ancestral drainage patterns in the Zagros Simple Folded Zone and growth of the Iranian plateau. Geological Magazine 148 (5–6), 901–910. doi:10.1017/s0016756811000185.
- Walpersdorf, A., Hatzfeld, D., Nankali, H., Tavakoli, F., Nilforoushan, F., Tatar, M., Vernant, P., Chery, J., Masson, F., 2006. Difference in the GPS deformation pattern of

North and Central Zagros (Iran). Geophysical Journal International 167 (3), 1077–1088.

- Wennberg, O.P., Svånå, T., Azizzadeh, M., Aqrawi, A.M.M., Brockbank, P., Lyslo, K.B., Ogilvie, S., 2007. Fracture intensity vs. mechanical stratigraphy in platform topcarbonates: the Aquitanian of the Asmari Formation, Khaviz Anticline, Zagros, SW Iran. Petroleum Geoscience 12, 235–245.
- Willett, S.D., Brandon, M.T., 2002. On steady states in mountain belts. Geology 30, 175-178.
- Wrobel-Daveau, J.-C., Ringenbach, J.-C., Tavakoli, S., Ruiz, G.M.H., Masse, P., Frizon de Lamotte, D., 2010. Evidence for mantle exhumation along the Arabian margin in the Zagros (Kermanshah area, Iran). Arabian Journal of Geosciences 3 (4), 499–513.
- Wrobel-Daveau, J.-C., Ringenbach, J.-C., Ruiz, G.M.H., Stuart, F.M., Frizon de Lamotte, D., 2011. Vertical movements and Cenozoic propagation of the deformation in the Zagros belt: insights from sections balancing and detrital low temperature thermochronology (AHe and ZHe). EGU General Assembly 2011, Vienna.
- Yamato, P., Kaus, B.J.P., Mouthereau, F., Castelltort, S., 2011. Dynamic constraints on the crustal-scale rheology of the Zagros fold belt, Iran. Geology 39 (9), 815–818. doi:10.1130/G32136.1.